

University of Reading

Department of Mathematics and Statistics

ASYMPTOTIC STUDY OF TOEPLITZ DETERMINANTS WITH FISHER-HARTWIG SYMBOLS AND THEIR DOUBLE-SCALING LIMITS

Reham Alahmadi

Supervisors: Jani Virtanen and Santeri Miihkinen

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2024

Abstract

This thesis aims to study the asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants $D_n(f_t(z))$ by using the Riemann-Hilbert analysis. We consider the double scaling limits of Toeplitz determinants with respect to symbol $f_t(z)$. This symbol possess m Fisher-Hartwig singularities when t > 0, and m + 1 if $t \to 0$. We obtain the uniform asymptotics for $D_n(f_t(z))$ as $n \to \infty$ which is valid for all sufficiently small t in terms of Painlevé V function. This study is divided into two parts: We first consider the case when the seminorm $|||\beta^{(t)}||| < 1$ for $t \ge 0$ and then the case of the Basor-Tracy asymptotics when $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$ for some t. The latter case is further divided to the cases, $|||\beta^{(t)}||| < 1$ for t > 0 and $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$ for t > 0.

In the last chapter we present the computation of the magnetization of the 2D Ising model in the high temperature regime $T > T_c$ (i.e., t < 0) including all the details by using the Riemann-Hilbert approach and the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants.

Declaration

I confirm that this is my original work and that all outside material has been properly cited and acknowledged.

Reham Alahmadi

Acknowledgment

Praise be to God, and prayers and peace be upon the Messenger of Allah, may God bless him and grant him peace, who commanded us to thank everyone who offered us a helping hand and assistance, as He said He who does not thank people does not thank God. I especially appreciate and thank His Excellency Jani Virtanen, the supervisor of my doctoral dissertation, who assisted me in completing this thesis. He was with me step-by-step throughout all stages of the dissertation, and I cannot adequately express my gratitude. As well as Santeri Mihkinen, who was instrumental in guiding me through the majority of the thesis's stages. Roozbeh Gharakhloo is thanked for his help with the fourth chapter of the thesis. The Department of Mathematics and Physics at Reading University is also thanked. Additionally, I would like to express my appreciation and gratitude to the Cultural Attaché for all the facilities they provided me throughout the duration of my scholarship. I am especially grateful to the King Khalid University administration for giving me the confidence to complete my Ph.D. And many thanks to my dear mother, who used to pray day and night for me. I thank my children and my entire family. And al thanks and appreciation to my cherished husband, who was the true supporter of my scientific career, who shared my fears and exhaustion, and who was an inspiration to me throughout my entire life. In addition, I appreciate my friends.

List of Symbols

Roman Symbol	Description	References
a(z,t)		Equation 2.7.1
$A_k, A_{e^{\pm t}}$		Equation (3.4.159 - 3.4.161)
A(z)		Equation 3.5.6
b_{\pm}	Wiener-Hopf factorisation	Equation 2.4.13
C(lpha,eta)		Equation 2.7.5
(Cf)(z)	The cauchy integral type	Equation 2.6.1
$D_n(f)$	The Toeplitz determinants	Equation 2.2.4
D(z)	The Szegő function	Equation 3.4.11
E[f]		Equation 2.3.2
$E(\sigma)$	Total interaction energy	Equation 4.2.1
$f(z; n_0, n_1, \dots, n_m)$	Fisher and Hartwig representation	
f_n	The Fourier coefficients of the function f	Equation 2.1.1
f(z,t)	Toeplitz matrix symbol	Equation 3.2.1
$ f _p$	The norm in the p measurable space	Definition 2.1.1
F_{j}		Equation 3.4.42
F_n		Equation 3.6.5
g_{z_j,eta_j}	The jump function	Equation 2.4.2
$g_t(z)$		Equation 3.5.31
G(z)		Equation 3.4.91
G[f]		Equation 2.3.2
$G_{\alpha_j+\beta_j,\alpha_j-\beta_j}$		Equation 2.4.12
H^p	The hardy space	Definition 2.1.2
h_{lpha_j}		Equation 3.4.19
K(x)		Equation 3.4.129

Roman Symbol	Description	References
L^p	The p measurable space,	Definition 2.1.1
l^p	The spaces of all sequences	Definition 2.1.1
L^{∞}	The measurable space of essentially bounded functions	Definition 2.1.1
M	The spontaneous magnetization	Equation 4.2.7
M_{ϕ}	The multiplication operator	Definition 2.2.2
$M(ilde{\lambda})$	The solution of Riemann Hilbert problem for ${\cal M}$	
N(z)	The solution of the Riemann Hilbert problem for ${\cal N}(z)$	
O_{eta}	Orbit of β	Equation 2.4.17
\mathcal{O}, o	Big and Small 'o' notation	Definition 2.3.1
Р	The Orthogonal projection	Equation 2.2.1
P_{z_j}	Local paramtreices at z_j	Equation 3.4.40
P_{z_0}	Local paramtreices at $z_0 = 1$	Equation 3.4.97
R(z)	Small norm Riemann Hilbert problem	
$ ilde{R}(ilde{\lambda})$	The solution of the Riemann Hilbert problem for $\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda})$.	
$\hat{R}(z)$	The solution of the Riemann Hilbert problem for $\hat{R}(z)$	
$R_n(t)$		Equation 3.5.29
S(z)	The solution of the Riemann Hilbert problem for ${\cal S}(\boldsymbol{z})$	
T_{f}	Toeplitz operator	Equation 2.2.2
T(f)	The infinite Toeplitz matrix	Definition 2.2.4
$T_n(f)$	The finite Toeplitz matrix	Definition 2.2.5
\mathbb{T}	The unit circle	
T(z)	The solution of the Riemann Hilbert problem for $T(z)$.	
U_{z_j}	small neighborhood around z_j	Equation 3.4.10
V(z)		Equation 2.4.13
v(x)		Equation 3.5.22
v_j		Equation 3.6.32
$V_T(z)$	the jump function of RH-T2	Equation 3.4.7
W(z)		Equation 3.4.98
w(x)		Equation 3.5.18
X(z)	The solution for X Riemann Hilbert problem	
Y(z)	The solution of the Riemann Hilbert problem for $Y(\boldsymbol{z})$	Equation 3.3.1
Z(T)	The partition function	Equation 4.2.2

Greek Symbol	Description	References
$\delta_j(z)$	The asymptotic sequences	Definition 2.3.2
eta_j	jump type singularities	Equation 2.4.1
eta(z)	Szegő function with respect to Szegő smbol	Equation 4.2.27
$lpha_j$	Root type singularity	Equation 2.4.1
ϕ_{z_j,eta_j}		Equation 2.4.4
$ \beta $	β seminorm	Equation 2.4.10
$\eta(z;t)$		Equation 4.1.1
$\hat{\eta}(z;t)$		Equation 4.2.14
$\phi_n(z), \hat{\phi}_n(z^{-1})$	The orthogonal polynomials	Equation 2.5.1
$\phi_{ons}(e^{i\theta}$	Onsager function	Equation 4.2.9
$\Gamma(z)$	The Euler's $\Gamma-$ function	
χ_n	The leading coefficients	Equation 2.5.6
$\Omega(2nt)$		Equation 2.7.3
$\tilde{\Omega}(2nt)$		Equation 3.1.3
$\sigma(x)$	Painlevé V equation	Equation 2.7.4
$\Gamma(z)$	The Euler's $\Gamma-$ function	
$\Sigma_1(t)$		Equation 3.1.5
ξ		Equation 3.4.41
Ψ_j	The solution of Riemann Hilbert problem for Ψ_j	
Ψ	The solution of Riemann Hilbert problem for Ψ	
$ ilde{\Psi}$	The solution of Riemann Hilbert problem for $ ilde{\Psi}$	
$\Phi(z)$		Equation 3.4.90
$\hat{\Phi}(\xi)$		Equation 3.4.113
$\lambda(z)$		Equation 3.4.95
σ_1 , σ_3	Pauli matrices	
η_j		Equation 3.4.66
Δ_1	The first correction term	Equation 3.4.73
ω		Equation 3.4.148

Contents

A	Abstract			
D	Declaration			
A	Acknowledgment			
Li	List of Symbols in			
1	1 Introduction			
2	2 Preliminaries			
	2.1	Hardy spaces and L^p spaces	3	
	2.2	Toeplitz Determinants	4	
	2.3	Asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants	6	
		2.3.1 Szegő symbols	7	
	2.4	Fisher-Hartwig symbols and their conjecture	8	
		2.4.1 Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics	9	
		2.4.2 Basor-Tracy conjecture.	12	
		2.4.3 Fisher-Hartwig representation.	12	
	2.5	The relation between Toeplitz determinants and orthogonal polynomials \ldots		
	2.6	Riemann-Hilbert problems		
	2.7	Double-scaling limits		
		2.7.1 Transition from Szegő to one Fisher-Hartwig singularity	17	
		2.7.2 Transition between one Fisher-Hartwig singularity and two Fisher-Hartwig		
		singularities	18	

CONTENTS

3	Trar	nsition asymptotics 20		
	3.1	The sy	vmbol	20
	3.2	Summary of results		23
	3.3	The Riemann-Hilbert problem formulation of orthogonal polynomials		25
	3.4	The N	onlinear steepest descent method	30
		3.4.1	First transformation $T(z)$ (normalization)	31
		3.4.2	Second transformation $S(z)$	32
		3.4.3	Global parametrix $N(z)$	34
		3.4.4	Construction of the local parametrices at fixed singularities \ldots .	42
		3.4.5	Local parametrix at emerging singularity	51
		3.4.6	The small norm Riemann-Hilbert problem	63
	3.5	The ca	ase of the Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics	70
		3.5.1	Differential identity	70
		3.5.2	Emerging singularity at any point on the unit circle	79
	3.6	The case of Basor-Tracy conjecture		81
		3.6.1	The first case	81
		3.6.2	The second case	91
	3.7	Open	problems	92
4	lsing	g correlations g		93
	4.1	Introduction		93
		4.1.1	Riemann-Hilbert problem for OPUC with Szegő type-symbols	94
		4.1.2	Solution for Riemann-Hilbert problem $Y(z)$	94
		4.1.3	Global parametrix $N(z)$	96
		4.1.4	Small Riemann-Hilbert problem	98
	4.2	Ising models and Toeplitz determinants		99
		4.2.1	The horizontal correlation functions $< \sigma_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1+n} > \ldots \ldots$	101
		4.2.2	The diagonal correlation function $<\sigma_{0,0}\sigma_{n,n}>$	103
	4.3	Open	problem	112

ix

Chapter 1

Introduction

The aim of this thesis is to examine the asymptotic behaviour of Toeplitz determinants $D_n(f_t)$ by using the Riemann-Hilbert approach, which has been used for solving many asymptotic problems. The spontaneous magnetization problem for the 2D Ising model is a popular example of the application of these types of problems in the field of statistical mechanics.

The second chapter presents a comprehensive examination of the related mathematical principles derived from functional analysis, alongside a historical context and established methodologies employed in addressing the problem discussed in subsequent chapters.

In Chapter 3, double-scaling limits of Toeplitz determinants, defined by the Painlevé V function $\sigma(x)$, are studied. Claeys, Its, and Krasovsky in [13] discussed the role of the function $\sigma(x)$ in the asymptotic expansions. When t > 0, the symbol f_t possesses m Fisher-Hartwig singularities with parameters $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\beta_j \in \mathbb{C}$, j = 1, ..., m, and when $t \to 0$, the symbol possesses m + 1 Fisher-Hartwig singularities as a new singularity emerges at z = 1. For sufficiently small t, we obtain uniform asymptotic of $D_n(f_t)$ as $n \to \infty$. The focus of our work involves the relation between orthogonal polynomials and Riemann-Hilbert problems that are linked to our symbol. The Riemann-Hilbert problem and Toeplitz determinants will then be related through the use of a differential identity. We look into two possibilities because our symbol has at least m jump singularities when $t \to 0$. Applying concepts from [18] and [34], we analyze the seminorm $|||\beta|^{(t)}|| < 1$ in the first part of this chapter. The expression we have here defines the Toeplitz determinant with m Fisher-Hartwig singularities for $t \to 0$. Ehrhardt provides the

identical solution for both of these asymptotic regimes, but with different parameters and, hence, different asymptotics, as seen in [22]. In addition, we consider the seminorm where $|||eta^{(t)}|||=1$, in which case, we have different possible subcases. In the first case we have $||||eta^{(t)}|||$ < 1 if t > 0, and when t o 0, we have $|||eta^{(t)}|||$ = 1. This case describes the transition between the asymptotic regime for Toeplitz determinants whose symbol has msingularities and does not contain Fisher-Hartwig representations and the asymptotic regime for Toeplitz determinants with Fisher-Hartwig representations. Thus by assuming this, the asymptotic behaviour of Toeplitz determinants can be expressed as a linear combination of the results obtained by Ehrhardt. We have two types of Fisher-Hartwig representations, the nontrivial Fisher-Hartwig representation if $\Re\beta_0 < \Re\beta_1 \le \ldots \le \Re\beta_{m-1} < \Re\beta_m$, and the trivial Fisher-Hartwig representation if there is an $l \ge 1$, such that $\Re \beta_0 < \Re \beta_1 \le ... \le \Re \beta_{m-l} < ...$ $\Reeta_{m-l+1}=...=\Reeta_m$. In the second subcase, we have the transition from the asymptotic regime of a determinant with a symbol containing Fisher-Hartwig representations with msingularities to the asymptotic regime of a determinant with Fisher-Hartwig representations with m+1 singularities in the symbol. In the last section we discuss the remaining cases related to the double-scaling limits involving the Basor-Tracy conjecture and also matrix-valued symbols.

In Chapter 4, we compute the magnetization of the 2D Ising model in the high temperature regime $T > T_c$ using the Riemann-Hilbert approach and the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants $D_n(f_t)$ with one generate Fisher-Hartwig singularity at z = 1, $\alpha = 0$ and $\beta = -1$ in more details. Previously, in [49] and [41], this result was obtained using physical arguments and in [17], the authors describe the analysis in words and claim the result. However, here we provide more details of the first order term using the Riemann-Hilbert analysis. The last section of this chapter contains open problems related to the transition from the high temperature regime $T > T_c$ to the critical temperate $T = T_c$.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we present the necessary mathematical foundations that will be used in the rest of the thesis. We will focus primarily on the analyticity of functions. Simply, the function f(z) is called analytic at z if it is differentiable in a neighborhood of z, and called analytic in the region U if it is analytic at every point $z \in U$. The analytic function in the neighborhood of z can be expressed as a Taylor series at every point $z \in U$.

2.1 Hardy spaces and L^p spaces

Definition 2.1.1. Let $1 \le p < \infty$. We denote by $L^p(\mathbb{T})$ the space of all complex-valued measurable functions on the unit circle $\mathbb{T} = \{|w| = 1\}$ with the norm:

$$||f||_p = \left\{ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(e^{i\theta})|^p d\theta \right\}^{1/p}.$$

The following are examples of particular L^p spaces:

1. $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ is the space of all measurable and essentially bounded complex-valued functions, with the norm:

$$||f||_{\infty} = \inf\{C > 0: |f| \le C \text{ almost everywhere}\} < \infty$$

2. $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ space is a Hilbert space of sequre-integrable function $f:\mathbb{T} o\mathbb{C}$ with inner

product $(f,g)=\frac{1}{2\pi}\int_0^{2\pi}f(e^{i\theta}\overline{g(e^{i\theta}|)}\,d\theta$, and the norm given by

$$||f||_2^2 = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(e^{i\theta})|^2 d\theta.$$

3. For $0 , <math>l^p$ is the space of all sequences $x = (x_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ with the norm:

$$||x|| = \left(\sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} |x_i|^p\right)^{1/p} < \infty.$$

We define the Fourier coefficients f_n of a function $f \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ by

$$f_n = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(e^{i\theta}) e^{-in\theta} d\theta.$$
 (2.1.1)

Definition 2.1.2. For $1 \le p \le \infty$, the Hardy space H^p is defined by

$$H^p(\mathbb{T}) = \{ f \in L^p(\mathbb{T}) : f_n = 0 \text{ for all } n < 0 \}.$$

For more information on the Hardy spaces and L^p , we refer to [3], [36], and [39].

2.2 Toeplitz Determinants

A vast array of mathematical and physical problems can be formulated using Toeplitz matrices and Toeplitz determinants. For specifics on the theory and applications of Toeplitz determinants, see [11], and the more recent survey paper [17]. We start by providing brief definitions of Toeplitz operators and multiplication operators.

Observe first that $H^2(\mathbb{T})$ is a closed subspace of $L^2(\mathbb{T})$. The orthogonal projection P of $L^2(\mathbb{T})$ onto the space $H^2(\mathbb{T})$ can be expressed as follows:

$$P\left(\sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} f_n e^{in\theta}\right) \to \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n e^{in\theta}.$$
 (2.2.1)

The orthogonal projection P is referred to as the Riesz projection.

Definition 2.2.1. For $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$, the multiplication operator $M_{\phi} : L^{p}(\mathbb{T}) \to \mathbb{C}$

 $L^p(\mathbb{T})$ is defined as

 $M_{\phi}f = \phi f.$

Definition 2.2.2. For $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ and $1 , the Toeplitz operator <math>T_f$ is defined on $H^p(\mathbb{T})$ by

$$T_f = PM_f. \tag{2.2.2}$$

Let $1 . Since P is bounded from <math>L^p(\mathbb{T})$ to $H^p(\mathbb{T})$, it follows that T_f is bounded on $H^p(\mathbb{T})$.

Definition 2.2.3. The Toeplitz matrix corresponding to the symbol $f \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ with respect to the basis $\{e^{in\theta}\}$ is given by:

$$T(f) = (f_{j-k})_{j,k\geq 0} = \begin{pmatrix} f_0 & f_{-1} & f_{-2} & f_{-3} \cdots \\ f_1 & f_0 & f_{-1} & f_{-2} \cdots \\ f_2 & f_1 & f_0 & f_{-1} \cdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \end{pmatrix},$$
 (2.2.3)

where f_n is the *n*th Fourier coefficient of f.

Remark 2.2.4. A bounded operator on l^2 is generated by the Toeplitz matrix (2.2.3) if and only if $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$. The Toeplitz operator T_f on the sequence space $l^2(\mathbb{Z}_+)$ is represented by these matrices with respect to the standard basis $\{e_n = e^{in\theta} : n \ge 0\}$. One way to observe this is to let $f \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T})$, and then notice that

$$T_f e_k = P \sum_{n = -\infty}^{\infty} f_n e^{in\theta} e^{ik\theta} = \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{r-k} e^{ir\theta} \quad , r = n+k$$

or by using the inner product in L^2 as follows:

$$(T_f e_k, e_n) = (PM_f e_k, e_n) = (fe_k, P^* e_n) = (fe_k, e_n)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(e^{i\theta}) e^{ik\theta} e^{-in\theta} d\theta = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(e^{i\theta}) e^{(k-n)i\theta} d\theta$$
$$= f_{n-k}$$

Definition 2.2.5. The $n \times n$ finite Toeplitz matrix $T_n(f)$ is given by,

$$T_{n}(f) = (f_{j-k})_{0 \le j,k \le n-1} = \begin{pmatrix} f_{0} & f_{-1} & f_{-2} & \cdots & f_{-(n-1)} \\ f_{1} & f_{0} & f_{-1} & \cdots & f_{-(n-2)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \\ f_{n-1} & f_{n-2} & f_{n-3} & \cdots & f_{0} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.2.4)

Moreover, $D_n(f) = \det T_n(f)$ denotes the Toeplitz determinant.

Infinite Toeplitz matrices T(f) play an important role in operator theory and functional analysis, whereas truncated Toeplitz matrices $T_n(f)$ have made considerable contributions to several areas of mathematics physics, engineering, and linear algebra. Our goal is to study what happens to Toeplitz matrices as their size tends to infinity.

2.3 Asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants

Since we aim to study the asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants $D_n(f)$ as the size of the matrix increases to infinity. It is important to introduce the following concepts that will be utilized throughout.

- **Definition 2.3.1.** 1. The notation f(z) = O(g(z)) as $z \to z_0$ (i.e., f(z) is of order g(z)) means there exists a finite constant K > 0 such that $|f(z)| \le K|g(z)|$ for all z in a neighborhood of z_0 .
 - 2. Asymptotically smaller: the notation

$$f(z) = o(g(z))$$
 as $z \to z_0$,

means that

$$\lim_{z \to z_0} \left| \frac{f(z)}{g(z)} \right| = 0$$

3. Asymptotically equal: The notation $I(z) \sim g(z)$ as $z \rightarrow z_0$, means

$$\lim_{z \to z_0} \left| \frac{I(z)}{g(z)} \right| = 1.$$

In what follows, we will consider two types of symbols, beginning with Szegő, a symbol f(z) that satisfies a certain smoothness condition, has no winding around the origin, nozeroes on the unit circle \mathbb{T} , and has an analytic continuation in the annulus of \mathbb{T} . This will be followed by the introduction of the Fisher-Hartwig symbols which, instead of being continuous or analytic functions, could have zeros, integrable singularities, and a non-zero winding number.

2.3.1 Szegő symbols

The story of studying the asymptotics of Toepitz determinants with the Szegő symbols starts in 1915 when Szegő proved the following theorem, which George Polya had conjectured.

Theorem 2.3.2 (First Szegő Limit theorem [47]). Let f > 0 be a positive function, continuous on the unit circle \mathbb{T} . Then

$$\frac{1}{n}\log D_n(f) = (\log f)_0,$$
(2.3.1)

which can written as

$$D_n(f) = \exp\{n(\log f)_0 + o(n)\}.$$
(2.3.2)

In the 1940s, Onsager and Bruria Kaufman inspired him to revisit his calculations from nearly four decades prior. The following is a well-known result that is still useful today and has been generalized many times by a large number of mathematicians. Numerous mathematical proofs from various fields can be found in Barry Simon's OPUC book [46], (also see [10] and [11]).

Theorem 2.3.3. (Szegő Strong Limit Theorem (SSLT) [25]). If $\ln f(z)$ is sufficiently smooth on the unit circle \mathbb{T} (specifically, f(z) is the szegő symbol), then $\ln f(z) \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$ and the subsequent sum converges.

$$\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |k| |(\ln f)_k|^2, \quad (\ln f)_k = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \ln f(e^{i\theta}) e^{-ik\theta} d\theta.$$
(2.3.3)

Then the following expression for the Toeplitz determinants:

$$\ln D_n(f) = \frac{n}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \ln f(e^{i\theta}) d\theta + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k(\ln f)_k (\ln f)_{-k} + o(1).$$
 (2.3.4)

2.4 Fisher-Hartwig symbols and their conjecture

In the 1960s, a variety of problems in statistical mechanics led to the consideration of symbols for Toeplitz matrices with a higher level of complexity. These new symbols had zeros, integrable singularities, and non-zero winding numbers in place of continuous or analytic functions. Michael Fisher and Robert Hartwig had found an efficient technique for factorizing these singularities; see [23]. These symbols are called Fisher-Hartwig symbols and defined as follows:

$$f(z) = e^{V(z)} z^{\sum_{j=0}^{m} \beta_j} \prod_{j=0}^{m} |z - z_j|^{2\alpha_j} g_{z_j,\beta_j}(z) z_j^{-\beta_j}, \quad \theta \in [0, 2\pi)$$
(2.4.1)

for some $m\geq 0$, $z_j=e^{i heta_j},\quad heta_j\in (0,2\pi), \beta_j\in\mathbb{C}$, $\Re lpha_j>-rac{1}{2}$, and

$$g_{z_j,\beta_j(z)} = \begin{cases} e^{i\pi\beta_j} &, \text{ if } \theta \in [0,\theta_j) \\ e^{-i\pi\beta_j} &, \text{ if } \theta \in [\theta_j, 2\pi) \end{cases}$$
(2.4.2)

where V(z) is analytic in a neighborhood of the unit circle \mathbb{T} . The symbol has m + 1singularities at $z_j = e^{i\theta_j}, j = 0, ..., m, \theta_j \in [0, 2\pi)$ and the condition $\Re \alpha_j > -1/2$ for integrability. If $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}$ is not zero, the root type exists, and if $\beta_j \neq 0$ for $\beta_j \in \mathbb{C}$ the jump type singularities are defined. In this thesis, it will be assumed that V(z) is analytic in the neighborhood of the unit circle. However, a result has been demonstrated in [16] for the more general V(z), where the function is less smooth.

Remark 2.4.1. The Fisher-Hartwig symbols can also be written in other ways. The Riemann-Hilbert analysis use the symbols in the form (2.4.1), while the operator-theoretic methods use the following form:

$$f(z) = b(z) \prod_{j=1}^{m} |z - z_j|^{2\alpha j} \phi_{z_j,\beta_j}(z) \quad (z \in \mathbb{T}),$$
(2.4.3)

where $\beta \in \mathbb{C}$, $z_j \in \mathbb{T}$, and ϕ_{z_j,β_j} are defined as

$$\phi_{z_j,\beta_j} = \exp\left\{i\beta_j \arg(-\frac{z}{z_j})\right\} \quad \text{with} \quad \arg z \in (-\pi,\pi).$$
(2.4.4)

It is easy to show the equivalence between the two definitions. The authors using Riemann-Hilbert approach have modified $\arg z$, which has a significant impact on the function f(z), and eliminated some of its components. The $z_j^{-\beta_j}$ factors have been removed so that the work can be more easily compared to others in the literature, and the $z^{\sum_{j=0}^{\infty}\beta_j}$ factors are removed so that the work can be more accurately characterized by the Tracy-Basor conjecture in [16]. For example, in (2.4.3), the function b(z) and the function $e^{V(z)}$ in (2.4.1) are similar.

2.4.1 Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics

The asymptotic analysis of Toeplitz determinants with Fisher-Hartwig symbols has been improved by multiple studies. To learn more about history see, [17]. In [37] and [38], Lenard provided the full asymptotics for symbols exhibiting zeros on the unit circle with $\beta_j = 0$ and $\alpha_j > -1/2$. Fisher-Hartwig in [23] proposed a conjecture on the asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants, specifically in relation to symbols described in equation (2.4.3). This conjecture was inspired by the research done by Wu [49] and potentially influenced by Lenard's calculations. In [48], Widom confirmed Lenard's conjecture for $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}$, with $\Re \alpha_j > -1/2$, $\beta_j = 0$ and V(z) is smooth, also he found an explicit description for the constant E(z). Estelle Basor and J. William Helton evaluated pure Fisher-Hartwig singularities using repeated approaches [6]. Böttcher and Silbermann derived in [9], a specific equation for the determinant that contains these pure Fisher-Hartwig symbols. In his 1997 doctoral dissertation, Ehrhardt [22] computed explicitly the asymptotics of the leading term of the Toeplitz determinants with Fisher-Hartwig symbols in (2.4.1).

The pure Fisher-Hartwig symbol

This function does not contain a nice function $e^{V(z)}$, and has the following form

$$w_{\alpha,z_j}(z)\phi_{\beta,z_j}(z) = (1 - \frac{z_j}{z})^{\alpha-\beta}(1 - \frac{z}{z_j})^{\alpha+\beta},$$
(2.4.5)

where ϕ_{β,z_j} is defined in (2.4.4), and $w_{\alpha,z_j} = |e^{i\theta} - e^{i\theta_j}|^{2\alpha} = 2^{2\alpha} |\sin \frac{\theta - \theta_j}{2}|^{2\alpha}$.

$$D_n(f) = \frac{G(1+\alpha+\beta)G(1+\alpha-\beta)}{G(1+2\alpha)} \frac{G(n)G(n+2\alpha)}{G(n+\alpha+\beta)G(n+\alpha-\beta)}.$$
(2.4.6)

If $\alpha \pm \beta \in \mathbb{Z}_{-}$, then $D_{n}(f)$ equals zero. The Barnes G-function is defined by

$$G(z+1) = (2\pi)^{z/2} e^{-z(z+1)/2 - Cz^2/2} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\{ \left(1 + \frac{z}{n}\right)^n e^{-z + z^2/(2n)}, \right\}$$
(2.4.7)

where C = 0.577... is the Euler's constant. $G(z+1) = \Gamma(z)G(z)$ is an identity that illustrates the similarity between the Barnes G(z) and $\Gamma(z)$ functions. From (2.4.7), we can also derive the following asymptotic behavior as $n \to \infty$:

$$\frac{G(n)G(n+\gamma+\delta)}{G(n+\gamma)G(n+\delta)} \sim n^{\gamma\delta}, \quad \delta, \gamma \in \mathbb{C}.$$
(2.4.8)

Thus the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants with pure Fisher-Hartwig singularities in (2.4.6) can be written as follows,

$$D_n(f) \sim \frac{G(1+\alpha+\beta)G(1+\alpha-\beta)}{G(1+2\alpha)} n^{\alpha^2-\beta^2}.$$
 (2.4.9)

The result on Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics was proved first by Ehrhardt when $|||\beta||| < 1$ using operator theory (see, [22]), and subsequently, it was proved in full generality in [16] using the Riemann-Hilbert method. Before stating Ehrhardt's result, the seminorm is defined by:

$$|||\beta||| = \max_{1 \le j,k \le m} |\Re\beta_j - \Re\beta_k|,$$
(2.4.10)

where $\alpha_0 = \beta_0 = 0$, and $|||\beta||| = 0$ if we have only one singularity, i.e., m = 0.

Theorem 2.4.2. Let f be defined as in (2.4.1) with $V \in C^{\infty}$, $|||\beta||| < 1$ and $\alpha_j \pm \beta_j \notin \mathbb{Z}_-$

for j = 0, ..., m. Then as $n \to \infty$

$$D_{n}(f) = \exp\left\{nV_{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} kV_{k}V_{-k}\right\} \prod_{j=0}^{m} b_{+}(z_{j})^{-(\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})}b_{-}(z_{j})^{-(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})}$$

$$\times n^{\sum_{j=0}^{m} (\alpha_{j}^{2}-\beta_{j}^{2})} \prod_{0 \le j < k \le m} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2(\beta_{j}\beta_{k}-\alpha_{j}\alpha_{k})} (\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}e^{i\pi}})^{(\alpha_{j}\beta_{k}-\alpha_{k}\beta_{j})}$$

$$\times \prod_{j=0}^{m} G_{\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j},\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j}}(1+o(1)),$$
(2.4.11)

and

$$G_{\alpha_j + \beta_j, \alpha_j - \beta_j} = \frac{G(1 + \alpha_j + \beta_j)G(1 + \alpha_j - \beta_j)}{G(1 + 2\alpha_j)}.$$
 (2.4.12)

Here the Fourier expansion of the function V(z) on the unit circle is denoted by

$$V(z) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} V_k z^k, \quad \text{where} \quad V_k = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} V(e^{i\theta}) e^{-ik\theta} d\theta, \tag{2.4.13}$$

and the Wiener-Hopf factorisation of the function $e^{V\left(z\right)}$ is defined by

$$e^{V}(z) = b_{+}(z)e^{V_{0}}b_{-}(z), \quad b_{+} = \exp\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}V_{k}z^{k}, \quad b_{-} = \exp\sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1}V_{k}z^{k}.$$
 (2.4.14)

In [16] and [18], the authors re-prove Theorem 2.4.2 using the Riemann-Hilbert problem. In addition, they make it work for functions V(z) with less smoothness that satisfies the following conditions:

$$\sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} |k|^s |V_k| < \infty,$$

for some \boldsymbol{s} such that

$$s > \frac{1 + \sum_{k=0}^{m} [(\Im \alpha_k)^2 + (\Re \beta_k)^2]}{1 - |||\beta|||}.$$

2.4.2 Basor-Tracy conjecture.

The symbol $f(e^{i\theta})$ with two jump singularities, at $z_0 = 1$, and $z_1 = -1$, were examined by Basor and Tracy in [7], who considered the symbol

$$f(e^{i\theta}) = g_{1,1/2}(z)g_{-1,-1/2}(z)e^{i\pi/2},$$

with $\beta_0 = 1/2$ and $\beta_1 = -1/2$, which means we have $|||\beta||| = 1$. By performing direct calculations, they determined that as n approaches infinity,

$$D_n(f) = \frac{1 + (-1)^n}{2} \sqrt{2/n} G(1/2)^2 G(3/2)^2 (1 + \mathcal{O}(1)).$$

The asymptotics for $D_n f(z)$ were not of the general standard Fisher-Hartwig form. They noticed that there is another Fisher-Hartwig representation for $f(e^{i\theta})$, where $\beta_0 = -1/2$ and $\beta_1 = 1/2$. Thus, they determined that the asymptotics they obtained were actually given by a combination of two Fisher-Hartwig asymptotic forms (2.4.11), one asymptotic form corresponded to the symbol as $|||\beta||| < 1$, while the other was the Fisher-Hartwig singularity for the symbol with $z_0 = 1$ and $z_1 = -1$ but with $\beta_0 = -1/2$ and $\beta_1 = 1/2$. The only difference between the second and original symbol was a constant. This holds true for every Fisher-Hartwig symbol.

2.4.3 Fisher-Hartwig representation.

Assume that we have a Fisher-Hartwig symbol f(z) in (2.4.1) with $\beta_j \neq 0$ or $\alpha_j \neq 0$ or both. Then by replacing β_j with $\beta_j + n_j = \hat{\beta}_j$, where $\sum_{j=0}^m n_j = 0$ and let $\{n_0, n_1, ..., n_m\} \in \mathbb{Z}$, we obtain the function $f(z; n_0, ..., n_m)$ which is called a Fisher-Hartwig representation of f(z). Noting that the multiplicative constants are the only distinction between all Fisher-Hartwig representations of f(z),

$$f(z) = \prod_{j=0}^{m} z_j^{n_j} \times f(z; n_0, ..., n_m).$$
(2.4.15)

We are interested in Fisher-Hartwig representations where

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} (\Re \beta_j + n_j)^2, \qquad (2.4.16)$$

is minimal. There exists a finite number of such representations. There is a particular way to find them, which was described in [16]. The group of all forms in (2.4.16) is denoted by M. The representation of the Fisher-Hartwig is said to be degenerate if $\alpha_j \pm (\beta_j + n_j) \in \mathbb{Z}_-$ for some j. Let us use the following to describe the Orbit of $\beta = (\beta_0, ..., \beta_m)$

$$O_{\beta} = \left\{ \hat{\beta} : \hat{\beta}_{j} = \beta_{j} + n_{j}, \sum_{j=0}^{m} n_{j} = 0 \right\}.$$
 (2.4.17)

The following is a way to describe the set M.

Lemma 2.4.3 (Lemma1.12 [16]). Only the following two alternatives are possible:

- 1. There is $\hat{\beta} \in O_{\beta}$ such that $|||\hat{\beta}||| < 1$. Then $\hat{\beta}$ is unique, and it is the unique element of $M = \{\hat{\beta}\}$.
- 2. There is $\hat{\beta} \in O_{\beta}$ such that $|||\hat{\beta}||| = 1$. Then there are at least two of these $\hat{\beta}$'s, and they all come from each other by applying the following rule repeated by adding 1 to a $\hat{\beta}_j$ with the smallest real part and subtract 1 from a $\hat{\beta}_j$ with the biggest real part. In addition, $M = \{\hat{\beta} \in O_{\beta} : |||\hat{\beta}||| = 1\}$.

Deift, Its, and Krasovsky in [16] proved the Basor-Tracy conjecture, which is the following theorem,

Theorem 2.4.4. (Basor-Tracy conjecture) Consider the function f(z) defined by (2.4.1), where $\Re \alpha_j > \frac{-1}{2}, \beta_j \in \mathbb{C}, j = 0, ..., m$, and suppose M is not degenerate. Then

$$D_n(f(z)) = \sum \left(\prod_{j=0}^m z_j^{n_j}\right)^n R(f(z; n_0, ..., n_m))(1 + o(1)), \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty,$$
(2.4.18)

where the sum represents all Fisher-Hartwig representations in M. Excluding the error term , every $R(f(z; n_0, ..., n_m))$ represents the right side of the formula (2.4.11).

2.5 The relation between Toeplitz determinants and orthogonal polynomials

Let f(z) be a complex-valued function on the unit circle \mathbb{T} . In this section, we will describe the connection between Toeplitz determinants $D_n(f)$ and the system of orthogonal polynomials (OPs) with weight f(z). The orthogonal polynomials $\phi_n(z) = \chi_n z^n + ...$, and $\hat{\phi}_n(z) = \chi_n z^n + ...$ of degree n provide an important role in the asymptotic study of the Toeplitz determinants. Assume that $D_n(f) \neq 0$, for $n = n_0, n_0 + 1, ...$ for some sufficiently large n_0 . Then by this condition, the polynomials $\phi_n(z) = \chi_n z^n + ...$, and $\hat{\phi}_n(z) = \chi_n z^n + ...$ of degree n exist and satisfy the orthogonality conditions

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \phi_n(z) z^{-j} f(z) \frac{dz}{2\pi i z} = \chi_n^{-1} \delta_{jn} \quad \int_{\mathbb{T}} \hat{\phi}_n(z^{-1}) z^j f(z) \frac{dz}{2\pi i z} = \chi_n^{-1} \delta_{jn},$$
(2.5.1)

which alternatively can be written as

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} \phi_n(z) \hat{\phi}_n(z^{-1}) f(z) \frac{dz}{2\pi i z} = \delta_{jn} \quad j = 0, 1, ..., n.$$
(2.5.2)

The polynomials can also be written as follows:

$$\phi_n(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{D_n D_{n+1}}} \begin{vmatrix} f_{0,0} & f_{0,1} & \dots & f_{0,n} \\ f_{1,0} & f_{1,1} & \dots & f_{1,n} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ f_{n-1,0} & f_{n-1,1} & \dots & f_{n-1,n} \\ 1 & z & \dots & z^n \end{vmatrix},$$
(2.5.3)

and

$$\hat{\phi}_{n}(z^{-1}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{D_{n}D_{n+1}}} \begin{vmatrix} f_{0,0} & f_{0,1} & \dots & f_{0,n-1} & 1 \\ f_{1,0} & f_{1,1} & \dots & f_{1,n-1} & z^{-1} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ f_{n,0} & f_{n,1} & \dots & f_{n,n-1} & z^{-n} \end{vmatrix}.$$
(2.5.4)

Where f_{ij} are the Fourier coefficients given by

$$f_{ij} = f_{i-j} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} f(z) z^{-(i-j)} \frac{dz}{2\pi i z}.$$
(2.5.5)

The leading coefficient is given by

$$\chi_n = \sqrt{\frac{D_n}{D_{n+1}}}.$$
(2.5.6)

Remark 2.5.1. If $f(z) \in L^1(\mathbb{T})$, then the orthogonal polynomials that satisfy (2.5.1) and (2.5.2) exist if and only if they are given by (2.5.3) and (2.5.4), as shown in Proposition 1.6.1, of [33].

2.6 Riemann-Hilbert problems

Hilbert introduced the Riemann-Hilbert problem in his list of 23 problems around the 1900s for the purpose of proving the existence of certain linear differential equations.

The Riemann-Hilbert problem is a mathematical problem that aims to simplify the analytical factorization of a specific matrix-valued function called V(z) that is defined on an oriented contour in the complex plane. Particularly, the Riemann-Hilbert problem is a boundary value problem for analytic functions with scalar or matrix values.

A typical Riemann-Hilbert problem (Σ, V) is given by an oriented contour Σ in the complex plane and a function (jump matrix) $V : \Sigma = \mathbb{T} \to GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ which consists of finding the unique matrix function Y(z) that solves the following conditions:

RH-Y1 Y(z) is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \Sigma$

RH-Y2 $Y_+(z) = Y_-(z)V(z), z \in \Sigma$

RH-Y3 $Y(z) \rightarrow I$, as $z \rightarrow \infty$

where, $Y_{\pm}(z)$ are the boundary values of Y(z) defined by

 $Y_+(z) = \lim_{s \to z} f(s), \qquad \qquad \text{where s is on the $+$ side}$

$$Y_{-}(z) = \lim_{s \to z} f(s),$$
 where s is on the – side

In particular, we say that the + side (respectively the - side) lies to the left (respectively right) of the contour when on traverses it in the direction of the orientation. The problem above for Y(z) is normalized because it is close to the identity as $z \to \infty$. The solution can be given by representing orthogonal polynomials as the solution of the Riemann-Hilbert problem, which will be the focus of the upcoming chapter. This fact was noticed firstly in [24], and then in [2] extended to the unit circle \mathbb{T} .

Definition 2.6.1. Let γ denote a smooth curve, which may be either an arc or a closed contour. The Cauchy integral operator $C: L^p(\gamma) \to L^p(\gamma)$ can be expressed as follows:

$$(Cf)(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} \frac{f(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau$$
(2.6.1)

for $z \in \gamma$.

The Plemelj-Sokhotskii equations, which we will present in the following statement, play an essential part in the Riemann-Hilbert theory as they define the boundary values of Cauchytype integrals.

Lemma 2.6.2 (Plemelj Formulas, [1]). Let γ be a smooth contour. For every $f \in L^p(\gamma)$ with 1 , the Cauchy type integral has the following limit values:

$$f_{\pm}(t) = \pm \frac{1}{2}f(t) + \frac{1}{2\pi i}v.p \int_{\gamma} \frac{f(\mu)}{\mu - t} d\mu, \qquad (2.6.2)$$

where f_{\pm} denotes the limit as z approach γ along a contour entirely in the \pm region respectively, and the integral $v.p \int_{\gamma} \frac{f(\mu)}{\mu - t} d\mu$ exists in the Cauchy principal value sense, that is the following limit exists,

$$\int_{\gamma} \frac{f(\mu)}{\mu - t} d\mu = v \cdot p \int_{\gamma} \frac{f(\mu)}{\mu - t} d\mu = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_{\gamma \setminus B_{t,\epsilon}} \frac{f(\mu)}{\mu - t} d\mu,$$
(2.6.3)

where $B_{t,\epsilon} = \{z : |z - t| < \epsilon\}.$

Corollary 2.6.3 (Corollary 1, [29]). If we have contour Σ and a function (jump matrix)

 $V: \Sigma = \mathbb{T} \to GL(k, \mathbb{C})$, the additive Riemann-Hilbert problem is given by,

 $\begin{array}{ll} \textit{RH-Y1} & Y(z) \text{ is analytic in } \mathbb{C} \setminus \Sigma \\\\ \textit{RH-Y2} & Y_+(z) = Y_-(z) + V(z), z \in \Sigma \\\\ \textit{RH-Y3} & Y(z) \to 0, \text{ as } z \to \infty \end{array}$

provides a solution that can be expressed explicitly in terms of the Cauchy integral

$$Y(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Sigma} \frac{V(z)}{z - s} dz.$$
 (2.6.4)

2.7 Double-scaling limits

The double-scaling limits of Toeplitz determinants $D_n(f_t)$, with $0 \le t < t_0$ are defined as uniform asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants which holds for $0 \le t < t_0$ for some small t_0 , as $n \to \infty$ at the same time. In both mathematics and physics, double-scaling limits are of great interest because they may explain universal behavior (see, e.g., [15]).

2.7.1 Transition from Szegő to one Fisher-Hartwig singularity

Let us have the following symbol:

$$a(z,t) = e^{V(z)} (z - e^t)^{(\alpha+\beta)} (z - e^{-t})^{(\alpha-\beta)} (z)^{(-\alpha+\beta)} e^{-i\pi(\alpha+\beta)},$$
(2.7.1)

where $\alpha \pm \beta$ is non-degenerate, and V(z) is analytic in a neighborhood of the unit circle. For t positive, the asymptotics of $D_n(f_t)$ are given by Szegő (see, Theorem 2.3.3), while, Theorem 2.4.2 can be used for t = 0, when the symbol has a Fisher-Hartwig singularity. The following asymptotic behavior of $D_n(f_t)$ is valid uniformly for $n \to \infty$ and with small $0 \le t < t_0$.

Theorem 2.7.1 ([13]). Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, with $\alpha > -\frac{1}{2}$, $\beta \in i\mathbb{R}$. The following asymptotic expansion holds uniformly for $D_n(f_t(z))$ with respect to the symbol $f_t(z)$ in (2.7.1) with the

error term o(1) as $n \to \infty$, and $0 \le t \le t_0$, where t_0 is sufficiently small,

$$D_{n}(t) = \exp\left\{nV_{0} + nt(\alpha + \beta)\right\} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k\left[V_{-k} - (\alpha - \beta)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\left[V_{k} - (\alpha + \beta)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\right\} \times G_{\alpha+\beta,\alpha-\beta}\Omega(2nt)\left(1 + o(1)\right),$$
(2.7.2)

where $G_{\alpha_j+\beta_j,\alpha_j-\beta_j}$ is the product of Barnes G-functions, and

$$\Omega(2nt) = \exp\bigg\{\int_0^{2nt} \frac{\sigma(x) - \alpha^2 + \beta^2}{x} dx + (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\log 2nt\bigg\}.$$
 (2.7.3)

The function $\sigma(x)$ is real analytic on $(0,\infty)$ and exhibits the following asymptotic behavior for x > 0:

$$\sigma(x) = \begin{cases} \alpha^2 - \beta^2 + \frac{\alpha^2 - \beta^2}{2\alpha} \{x - x^{1+2\alpha} C(\alpha, \beta)\} (1 + \mathcal{O}(x)), & x \to 0, \quad 2\alpha \notin \mathbb{Z} \\ \alpha^2 - \beta^2 + \mathcal{O}(x) + \mathcal{O}(x^{1+2\alpha}) + \mathcal{O}(x^{1+2\alpha} \log x), & x \to 0, \quad 2\alpha \in \mathbb{Z} \\ x^{1+2\alpha} e^{-x} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha - \beta)\Gamma(\alpha + \beta)} (1 + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{x})), & x \to \infty \end{cases}$$

with

$$C(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(1+\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(1-2\alpha)}{\Gamma(1-\alpha+\beta)\Gamma(1-\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(1+2\alpha)^2} \frac{1}{1+2\alpha},$$
(2.7.5)

and $\Gamma(z)$ is the Euler's Γ -function.

2.7.2 Transition between one Fisher-Hartwig singularity and two Fisher-Hartwig singularities

In [34], it was studied the double scaling limit for f_t which is a symbol with one fixed Fisher-Hartwig singularity on the unit circle \mathbb{T} away from 1 with parameters α_1, β_1 and one emerging Fisher-Hartwig singularity at 1 with parameters α_0, β_0 . This symbol can be expressed as follows:

$$f_t(z) = e^{V(z)} z^{\beta_1} |z - z_1| g_{z_1,\beta_1} z_1^{-\beta_1} (z - e^t)^{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} (z - e^{-t})^{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} (z)^{(-\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}.$$
(2.7.6)

They considered two cases, $|||\beta||| < 1$ and $|||\beta||| = 1$. In the first case $|||\beta||| < 1$, the following result gives the asymptotic behavior of $D_n(f_t)$ with assuming that $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, $\alpha_1 \in \mathbb{C}$, $\alpha_0, \Re \alpha_1 > -\frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_0 \in i\mathbb{R}$, $\beta_1 \in \mathbb{C}$. The following asymptotic expansion with the error term o(1) holds true as long as $n \to \infty$ and $0 \le t \le t_0$, where t_0 is sufficiently small:

$$D_{n}(t) = \exp\left\{nV_{0} + nt(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\right\} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k\left[V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\left[V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\right\}$$

$$\times n^{(\alpha_{1}^{2} - \beta_{1}^{2})} \times \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{1} - \beta_{1})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{1}^{k}\right\}$$

$$\times \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{1} + \beta_{1})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{1}^{-k}\right\} \times \prod_{j=0}^{1}G_{\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j}, \alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}}$$

$$\times \Omega(2nt)(1 + o(1)),$$
(2.7.7)

where $G_{\alpha_j+\beta_j,\alpha_j-\beta_j}$ and $\Omega(2nt)$ are defined in (2.4.12) and (2.7.3) respectively.

Chapter 3

Transition asymptotics with a finite number of fixed singularities

This thesis examines transition asymptotics for Toeplitz determinants with symbols f_t that have m Fisher-Hartwig singularities when t > 0 and m+1 Fisher-Hartwig singularities as a new singularity emerges at z = 1 when $t \to 0$. As our symbol contains at least m jump singularities, we will consider two cases. Our analysis is based on the relationship between a Riemann-Hilbert problem and the orthogonal polynomials with respect to our symbol $f_t(z)$ in (3.1.1). In this chapter, we will first investigate the case when $|||\beta^{(t)}||| < 1$, where $|||\beta^{(t)}|||$ has been defined in (2.4.10) but here with respect to the symbol $f_t(z)$ in (3.1.1). In particular, we use the differential identity to connect the Riemann-Hilbert problem and Toeplitz determinants, and also consider the case where $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$ by applying concepts from [16] and [34].

3.1 The symbol

We consider a symbol $z_j = e^{i\theta_j}$, where $\theta_j \in (0, 2\pi)$, which has m Fisher-Hartwig singularities. With the exception of $z_0 = e^{i\theta_0} = 1$, where $\theta_0 = 0$, these singularities are located on the unit circle. Moreover, an additional singularity appears at $z_0 = e^{i\theta_0} = 1$ when t approaches zero.

$$f_t(z) = f(z;t) = a_t(z) \times b(z),$$
 (3.1.1)

with

$$a_t(z) = e^{V(z)} (z - e^t)^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} (z - e^{-t})^{\alpha_0 - \beta_0} z^{-\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}$$

and

$$b(z) = z^{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j} \prod_{j=1}^{m} |z - z_j|^{2\alpha_j} g_{z_j,\beta_j}(z) z_j^{-\beta_j},$$

$$0 < \theta_1 < \theta_2 < \cdots < \theta_m < 2\pi.$$

When t > 0, $a_t(z)$ is an analytic function in the annulus $\mathbb{C} \setminus ([0, e^{-t}] \cup [e^t, \infty])$ containing the unit circle, and it has an emerging singularity with strengths α_0 and β_0 at t = 0. We need to compute the Fourier coefficients of $\log a(z; t)$ in order to derive the asymptotic behaviour, and the findings are as follows:

$$(\log a_t)_0 = V_0 + t(\alpha_0 + \beta_0). \tag{3.1.2}$$

$$(\log a_t)_k = V_k - (\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \frac{e^{-tk}}{k}.$$
(3.1.3)

$$(\log a_t)_{-k} = V_{-k} - (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \frac{e^{-tk}}{k}.$$
 (3.1.4)

We compute a(z;t) Wiener-Hopf factorization, which produces,

$$\log a_t(z) = \log a_{t,+}(z) + (\log a_t(z))_0 + \log a_{t,-}(z),$$

where

$$\log a_{t,+}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(V_k - (\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \frac{e^{-tk}}{k} \right) z^k, \quad \log a_{t,-}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(V_{-k} - (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \frac{e^{-tk}}{k} \right) z^{-k}$$

If t > 0, the following expression is produced by directly applying the Theorem 2.4.2 to the symbol $f_t(z)$ in (3.1.1):

$$D_{n}(f_{t}) = \exp\{nV_{0} + nt(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\} \times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \left[V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right] \left[V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\right\}$$
$$\times n^{\sum_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2})} \times \prod_{j=1}^{m} \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right)z_{j}^{k}\right\}$$
$$\times \prod_{j=1}^{m} \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right)z_{j}^{-k}\right\}$$
$$\times \prod_{1 \leq j < k < m} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2(\beta_{j}\beta_{k} - \alpha_{j}\alpha_{k})}(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}e^{i\pi}})^{(\alpha_{j}\beta_{k} - \alpha_{k}\beta_{j})} \times \prod_{j=1}^{m} G_{\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j}, \alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}}(1 + o(1)),$$
(3.1.5)

where the symbol f_t possesses m Fisher-Hartwig singularities with strengths α_j and β_j , j = 1, 2, ...m.

At t = 0, the symbol possesses (m + 1) singularities with α_j and β_j strengths, where j = 0, 1, ..., m. The following asymptotics are obtained by applying Theorem 2.4.2 again:

$$D_{n}(f_{t}) = \exp\left\{nV_{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} kV_{k}V_{-k}\right\} \times \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}\right\}$$
$$\times \prod_{j=1}^{m} \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \times \prod_{j=1}^{m} \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k}z_{j}^{k}\right\} \times n^{\sum_{j=0}^{m}(\alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2})}$$
$$\times \prod_{0 \le j < k < m} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2(\beta_{k}\beta_{j} - \alpha_{k}\alpha_{j})} (\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}e^{i\pi}})^{(\alpha_{k}\beta_{j} - \alpha_{j}\beta_{k})} \times \prod_{j=0}^{m} G_{\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j}, \alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}} (1 + o(1)).$$
(3.1.6)

It is obvious that (3.1.5) with t = 0 is incompatible with (3.1.6). Therefore, it is important to find the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants using the symbol (3.1.1) which is uniform for $0 \le t < t_0$. We will employ the Riemann-Hilbert problem analysis as in [13], [14], [16] ,[18], and [34].

3.2 Summary of results

Theorem 3.2.1. Let $f_t(z)$ be defined as in (3.1.1), and assume that $\alpha_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, $\alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}$, j = 1, ..., m, where $|||\beta^{(t)}||| < 1$, and with the parameters $\alpha_0, \Re \alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}$, $\beta_0 \in i\mathbb{R}$, $\beta_j \in \mathbb{C}$. The following asymptotic expansion is uniformly valid with an error term of o(1) as n approaches infinity and $0 \le t \le t_0$, with the condition that t_0 is sufficiently small:

$$D_{n}(t) = \exp\left\{nV_{0} + nt(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\right\} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k\left[V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\left[V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\right\}$$

$$\times n^{\sum_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2})} \times \prod_{j=1}^{m} \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\}$$

$$\times \prod_{j=1}^{m} \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \times \prod_{j=0}^{m} G_{\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j}, \alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}}$$

$$\times \prod_{1 \leq j < k < m} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2(\beta_{j}\beta_{k} - \alpha_{j}\alpha_{k})} \left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}e^{i\pi}}\right)^{(\alpha_{j}\beta_{k} - \alpha_{k}\beta_{j})} \tilde{\Omega}(2nt)(1 + o(1)),$$
(3.2.1)

where $G_{\alpha_j+\beta_j,\alpha_j-\beta_j}$ is the product of Barnes G-functions defined in (2.4.12),

$$\tilde{\Omega}(2nt) = \exp\Omega(2nt) = \exp\left\{\int_{0}^{2nt} \frac{\sigma(x) - \alpha_0^2 + \beta_0^2}{x} dx + (\alpha^2 - \beta_0^2)\log 2nt\right\},$$
 (3.2.2)

and the function $\sigma(x)$ for x > 0 is defined in (2.7.4).

Theorem 3.2.2. Let $\alpha_0, \alpha_j \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\Re \alpha_0, \Re \alpha_j > -1/2$ and $\beta_0, \beta_j \in \mathbb{C}$. Suppose that $|||\beta^{(t)}||| < 1$ for t > 0, $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$ at t = 0, and $\beta_{m-1} = \beta_m$ with $\Re \beta_{m-1} = \Re \beta_m = \max{\{\Re \beta_j : 1 \leq j \leq m\}}$. If t_0 is sufficiently small, then the following asymptotic expansion holds as $n \to \infty$ with a uniform error term o(1):

$$D_{n}(f_{t}(z)) = D_{n}\left(f_{t}(z;\alpha_{0},\alpha_{j},\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_{m},\tilde{\beta}_{0},\tilde{\beta}_{j},\tilde{\beta}_{m-1}+1,\tilde{\beta}_{m}+1)\right) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt)(1+o(1)) \\ + \prod_{j=m-1}^{m} z_{j}^{-n} \times D_{n}\left(f_{t}(z;\alpha_{0},\alpha_{j},\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_{m},\tilde{\beta}_{0},\tilde{\beta}_{j},\tilde{\beta}_{m-1}+1,\tilde{\beta}_{m}+1)\right) K(2nt) \\ \times \frac{n^{-2\beta_{0}-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} \times \left(\sum_{j=m-1}^{m} (z_{j}^{n}-z_{j}^{n-1})\right) \Sigma(t)\tilde{\Omega}(2nt)\left(1+o(1)\right),$$
(3.2.3)

where $ilde{eta}_j=eta_j, j=0,...,m-2$, $ilde{eta}_k=eta_k-1, k=m-1,m$, and

$$\Sigma(t) = \left(\frac{2t}{1-e^{-2t}}\right)^{\alpha_0-\beta_0} \prod_{j=m-1}^m (1-e^t z_j^{-1})^{\alpha_j+\tilde{\beta}_j} (1-e^{-t} z_j)^{-(\alpha_j-\tilde{\beta}_j)} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{-tk} V_{-k}\right\}$$
$$\times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{-tk} V_k\right\} + \left(\frac{1-e^{-2t}}{2t}\right)^{\alpha_0+\beta_0} \prod_{j=m-1}^m (1-e^t z_j)^{-(\alpha_j-\tilde{\beta}_j)} (1-e^{-t} z_j^{-1})^{\alpha_j+\tilde{\beta}_j}$$
$$\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{-tk} V_k\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{tk} V_{-k}\right\}.$$

Remark 3.2.3. In addition to the trivial Fisher-Hartwig representation, we can define the non-trivial Fisher-Hartwig representation of the symbol $f_t(z)$ at t = 0 as $\hat{\beta}_0 = \beta_0 + n_0$ and $\hat{\beta}_m = \beta_m - n_1$, where $\beta_0 = \min \Re \beta_j$ and $\beta_m = \max \Re \beta_j$. In this case, we have

$$D_n(f_t(z)) = R\left(f_t(z;\beta_0,\beta_j,\beta_m)\right) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt)(1+o(1)) + (z_m^{-n})^n \times n^{-2\hat{\beta}_j-1} \times \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_j+\hat{\beta}_j)}{\Gamma(\alpha_j-\hat{\beta}_j)}$$
$$\times V_j \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt) \times \frac{K(2nt)}{e^{nt}} \times \frac{n^{-2\beta_0-1}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha_0+\beta_0)} \times (1-e^{-2t})^{-2\beta_0-1} \Sigma'(t)$$
$$\times R\left(f_t(z;\hat{\beta}_0,\hat{\beta}_j,\hat{\beta}_m)\right) \left(1+o(1)\right),$$
(3.2.4)

where $R\left(f(z;\hat{\beta}_0,\hat{\beta}_j,\hat{\beta}_m)\right)$ corresponds to the RHS of (3.2.1) for symbol f_t with $\hat{\beta}$'s parameters and without the error term or $\tilde{\Omega}(2nt)$,

$$\Sigma'(t) = \left[\left(\frac{z_m - e^t}{z_m - e^{-t}} \right)^{\alpha_m + \hat{\beta}_m} \exp\left\{ 2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_k(\sinh(tk)) \right\} \left(\frac{2t}{1 - e^{-2t}} \right)^{\alpha_0 - \beta_0} \\ \times (1 - e^{-t} z_j)^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} - (\alpha_j - \hat{\beta}_j)} \times (1 - e^{-t} z_j^{-1})^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} - (\alpha_m + \hat{\beta}_m)} \\ + \left(\frac{z_m - e^t}{z_m - e^{-t}} \right)^{\alpha_m - \hat{\beta}_m} \exp\left\{ -2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}(\sinh(tk)) \right\} \times \left(\frac{2t}{1 - e^{-2t}} \right)^{-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}$$
(3.2.5)
$$\times (1 - e^{-t} z_m)^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} (\alpha_m - \hat{\beta}_m)} \times (1 - e^{-t} z_m^{-1})^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} (\alpha_m + \hat{\beta}_m)} \right].$$

Remark 3.2.4. Let $\alpha_0, \alpha_j > -1/2, \beta_0, \beta_j \in \mathbb{C}$, and $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$ for $t \ge 0$. Then the Toeplitz determinant $D_n(f_t)$ generated by the symbol f_t in (3.1.1) has two possible asymptotics depending on the position of $\Re \beta_0$.

- 1. If $\min\{\Re\beta_j : 1 \le j \le m\} < \Re\beta_0 < \max\{\Re\beta_j :: 1 \le j \le m\}$, then the asymptotics is given by Theorem 1.13 of [16].
- 2. If $\Re \beta_0 = \min{\{\Re \beta_j : 1 \leq j \leq m\}}$ or $\Re \beta_0 = \max{\{\Re \beta_j : 1 \leq j \leq m\}}$, then the asymptotics is given by Theorem 3.2.2.

3.3 The Riemann-Hilbert problem formulation of orthogonal polynomials

Now we show how to formulate the orthogonal polynomial problem as Riemann-Hilbert problem, building on the work of [24]. We consider the following 2×2 matrix-valued function $Y^{(n)}(z) \equiv Y(z), n \ge n_0$:

$$Y(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \chi_n^{-1} \phi_n(z) & \chi_n^{-1} \int_T \frac{\phi_n(\xi)}{\xi - z} \frac{f_t(\xi) d\xi}{2\pi i \xi^n} \\ -\chi_{n-1} z^{n-1} \hat{\phi}_{n-1}(z^{-1}) & -\chi_{n-1} \int_T \frac{\hat{\phi}_{n-1}(\xi^{-1})}{\xi - z} \frac{f_t(\xi) d\xi}{2\pi i \xi^n} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.3.1)

Notice that Y(z) is the only solution to the following Riemann-Hilbert problem (see, e.g., [16]):

RH-Y1: $Y : \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ is analytic.

RH-Y2: For $z \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} z_j$, where j = 1, ..., m, Y(z) has continuous boundary values $Y_+(z)$ and $Y_-(z)$, related by the jump condition

$$Y_{+}(z) = Y_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z^{-n} f_{t}(z) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad z \in \mathbb{T}.$$
(3.3.2)

RH-Y3: The asymptotic behaviour for Y(z) as $z \to \infty$ is given by

$$Y(z) = (I + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{z})) \begin{pmatrix} z^n & 0\\ 0 & z^{-n} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.3.3)

RH-Y4: As $z \rightarrow z_j$, we have

$$Y(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(1) + \mathcal{O}(|z - z_j|)^{2\alpha_j} \\ \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(1) + \mathcal{O}(|z - z_j|)^{2\alpha_j} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{if} \quad \alpha_j \neq 0 \quad (3.3.4)$$

and

$$Y(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(\log|z - z_j|) \\ \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(\log|z - z_j|) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{if} \quad \alpha_j = 0, \quad \beta_j \neq 0.$$
(3.3.5)

The following proposition demonstrates how the previous Riemann-Hilbert problem relates to the orthogonal polynomials (2.5.1) and (2.5.2).

Proposition 3.3.1. If the Riemann-Hilbert problem stated above is solved by Y(z) in (3.3.1), then the polynomials $\phi_n(z)$ and $\hat{\phi}_n(z)$ satisfy the orthogonal conditions (2.5.1) and (2.5.2).

Proof. The solution of the Riemann-Hilbert problem is denoted by Y(z), and each entry in the matrix is examined separately. Using the RH-Y3 condition, we can also observe the asymptotic behaviour of each entry as $z \to \infty$.

$$Y(z) = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{11}(z) & Y_{12}(z) \\ Y_{21}(z) & Y_{22}(z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} z^n + \mathcal{O}(z^{n-1}) & \mathcal{O}(z^{-n-1}) \\ \mathcal{O}(z^{n-1}) & \mathcal{O}(z^{-n}) + \mathcal{O}(z^{-n-1}) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.3.6)

Assuming $n \ge 1$, we will look at the first row of the jump condition in RH-Y2,

$$\begin{pmatrix} Y_{11}(z) & Y_{12}(z) \end{pmatrix}_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{11}(z) & Y_{12}(z) \end{pmatrix}_{-} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z^{-n} f_t(z) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

When we match the values of the row vector, we get:

1. $(Y_{11})_+(z) = (Y_{11})_-(z)$

2.
$$(Y_{12})_+(z) = (Y_{11})_-(z)z^{-n}f_t(z) + (Y_{12})_-(z)$$

We may observe from RH-Y3 (3.3.6) that $Y_{11}(z)=z^n+\mathcal{O}(z^{n-1})$ is a monic polynomial of
degree n. Let us denote $p_n(\boldsymbol{z}) = Y_{11}(\boldsymbol{z}).$ The second row is

$$(Y_{12})_+(z) = (Y_{12})_-(z) + p_n(z)z^{-n}f_t(z),$$

which is an additive Riemann-Hilbert problem. The answer, then, is as follows based on the Plemelj formula:

$$(Y_{12})(z) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{p_n(s)}{s-z} \frac{f_t(s)ds}{s^n 2\pi i}.$$

Expanding $\frac{1}{s-z}$ and applying the asymptotics at infinity $(Y_{12})(z) = \mathcal{O}(z^{-n-1})$ as $z \to \infty$, yields the following result:

$$\begin{aligned} (Y_{12})(z) &= -\frac{1}{z} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{p_n(s)s^{-n}f_t(s)}{1 - s/z} \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \\ &= -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} z^{-j-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} p_n(s)s^{-n+j}f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i} \\ &= -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} z^{-j-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} p_n(s)s^{-n+j+1}f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $Y_{12} = \mathcal{O}(z^{-n-1})$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} p_n(s) s^{-n+j+1} \frac{f_t(s) ds}{2\pi i s} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{If } j = 0, ..., n-1, \\ \\ \chi_n^{-1} & \text{If } j = n. \end{cases}$$

Notice that $0 \le j \le n-1$, implies that $-(n-1) \le -n+j+1 \le 0$, and therefore, $p_n(s)$ satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} p_n(s) s^{-k} \frac{f_t(s) ds}{2\pi i s} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{If} \quad k = 0, ..., n-1, \\ \\ \chi_n^{-1} & \text{If} \quad k = n. \end{cases}$$

Consequently, we have unique polynomials $p_n(z) = \chi_n^{-1} \phi_n(z)$.

For the second column, we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} Y_{21}(z) & Y_{22}(z) \end{pmatrix}_{+} = \begin{pmatrix} Y_{21}(z) & Y_{22}(z) \end{pmatrix}_{-} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z^{-n} f_t(z) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This yields the following

1.
$$(Y_{21})_+(z) = (Y_{21})_-(z)$$

2.
$$(Y_{22})_+(z) = (Y_{21})_-(z)z^{-n}f_t(z) + (Y_{22})_-(z)$$

Again we observe that $Y_{21}(z)$ is analytic in the complex plane from the first of the preceding identities. Additionally, we observe that it is a polynomial of degree n - 1, denoted by p_{n-1} , using the asymptotics condition (RH-Y3). From the second identity above and the Plemelj formula, we find that

$$Y_{22}(z) = \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{Y_{21}^{(n-1)}(s)}{s-z} \frac{f_t(s)ds}{2\pi i s^n}.$$

Also, we deduce that

$$Y_{22}(z) = z^{-n} + \mathcal{O}(z^{-(n+1)}) \quad \text{as} \quad z \to \infty$$

(see (RH-Y3)). As before, expanding $\frac{1}{s-z}$, we obtain

$$Y_{22}(z) = -\frac{1}{z} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{p_{n-1}(s)s^{-n}f_t(s)}{1-s/z} \frac{ds}{2\pi i}$$
$$= -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} z^{-j-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} p_{n-1}(s)s^{-n+j}f_t(s)\frac{ds}{2\pi i}$$
$$= -\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} z^{-j-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} p_{n-1}(s)s^{-n+j+1}f_t(s)\frac{ds}{2\pi i s}$$

Thus, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} p_{n-1}(s) s^{-n+j+1} f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s} \begin{cases} = -1 & \text{if } j = n-1 \\ = 0 & \text{if } 0 \le j \le n-2 \end{cases}$$

Note that $0 \le j \le n-2$ is equivalent to $-(n-1) \le -n+j+1 \le -1$. Let $p_{n-1}(s) = -\chi_{n-1}z^{n-1}\hat{p}_{n-1}(z^{-1})$. Then

$$-\chi_{n-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \hat{p}_{n-1}(s^{-1}) s^{n-1-n+j+1} f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s} = -\chi_{n-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \hat{p}_{n-1}(s^{-1}) s^j f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s} = 0$$

for $0 \leq j \leq n-2$. Therefore, for $0 \leq j \leq n-2$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} p_{n-1}(s) s^{-n+j+1} f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s} = 0.$$

Furthermore, in the case when j = n - 1, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}} p_{n-1}(s) s^{-n+n-1+1} f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s} = \int_{\mathbb{T}} p_{n-1}(s) f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s}$$
$$= -\chi_{n-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \hat{p}_{n-1}(s^{-1}) s^{n-1} f_t(s) \frac{ds}{2\pi i s} = -1.$$

Now, we will show that the solution given in (3.3.1) is unique. We first assume that

$$\det Y(z) = 1 \quad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}.$$

By utilising (3.3.2), we have

$$(\det Y)_+(z) = \det(Y_+(z)) = \det(Y_-(z)). \det \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z^{-n}f_t(z) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

= $(\det Y)_-(z).$

As a result, by applying (3.3.3), we get

$$\det Y(z) = 1 + \mathcal{O}(1/z) \quad \text{as} \quad z \to \infty.$$

Because of this, $\det Y(z)$ is bounded and entire, and since $\det Y(z) = 1$, by Liouville's theorem, it is constant. The matrix-valued function Y(z) is invertible since its determinant equals one. Next we will examine the matrix X(z) defined by

$$X(z) = \tilde{Y}(z)Y^{-1}(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}.$$

Observe that the function X(z) is well defined and analytic on $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$. Further, for $z \in \mathbb{T}$,

$$\begin{aligned} X_{+}(z) &= \tilde{Y}_{+}(z)Y_{+}^{-1}(z) \\ &= \tilde{Y}_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z^{-n}f_{t}(z) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z^{-n}f_{t}(z) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}^{-1}Y_{-}^{-1}(z) \\ &= X_{-}(z). \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, X(z) is an entire function. We obtain the following for $z \to \infty$:

$$\begin{aligned} X(z) &= \tilde{Y}(z)Y^{-1}(z) \\ &= (I + \mathcal{O}(1/z)) \begin{pmatrix} z^n & 0 \\ 0 & z^{-n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} z^n & 0 \\ 0 & z^{-n} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} (I + \mathcal{O}(1/z))^{-1} \\ &= (I + \mathcal{O}(1/z)). \end{aligned}$$

Once again, we apply Liouville's theorem to get X(z) = I, which implies $\tilde{Y}(z) = Y(z)$. Thus, the solution in (3.3.1) is unique.

3.4 The Nonlinear steepest descent method

In this section, we will analyze the solution of the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Y(z) in (3.3.1) for large n. The Riemann-Hilbert problem must endure a series of reversible transformations in order to evaluate the asymptotic behaviour of its solution. In the 1990s, Deift and Zhou introduced the method of nonlinear steepest descent (see [21]), which is one of the classical techniques that can provide an asymptotically complete expansion for OPs. It includes a sequence of transformations, each of which further simplifies the original Riemann-Hilbert problem and brings us closer to the solution of Y(z). The goal is to discover a solution to the Riemann-Hilbert problem R(z) that is close to the identity and whose jump matrix behaves as the identity matrix; this is known as the small norm Riemann-Hilbert problem. Then, we can reverse the transformations to obtain an answer to the original problem involving Y(z). We address the analysis in a manner analogous to [13], [16], [18], and [34].

The final transformation generates a Riemann-Hilbert problem with a small norm for the function R(z), which can be expressed in the following manner:

The Riemann-Hilbert problem for R

(RH-R1): It is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \Sigma_R \to \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$.

(RH-R2): It satisfies the following jump conditions,

$$R_{+}(z) = R_{-}(z)J_{R}(z) \quad z \in \Sigma_{R}.$$
 (3.4.1)

(RH-R3): As infinity, the function behaves as follows:

$$R(z) = I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1}) \quad \text{as} \quad z \to \infty.$$
(3.4.2)

According to the standard theory for small-norm Riemann-Hilbert problems [19] and [20], R(z) exists for n large and has a uniform behaviour for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Sigma_R$,

$$R(z) = I + O(n^{-1}).$$

3.4.1 First transformation T(z) (normalization)

To fix the behaviour of Y(z) and to normalize the Riemann-Hilbert problems at infinity, we define the first transformation T(z) as follows:

$$T(z) = Y(z) \begin{cases} z^{-n\sigma_3} & : |z| > 1\\ I & : |z| < 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.4.3)

where σ_3 is the Pauli matrix defined by

$$\sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.4.4}$$

The function T(z) in (3.4.3) solves the following Riemann-Hilbert problem:

RH-T1: It is analytic for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$.

RH-T2: It has the following jump condition at $z \in \mathbb{T}$,

$$T_{+}(z) = T_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} z^{n} & f_{t}(z) \\ 0 & z^{-n} \end{pmatrix} .done$$
(3.4.5)

RH-T3: At infinity, it behaves as follows:

$$T(z) = \left(I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})\right).$$

RH-T4 : The asymptotic behaviour as $z \rightarrow z_j$, j = 1, ..., m, remains the same as that of Y(z) in (3.3.4) and (3.3.5).

Observe that the Riemann-Hilbert problems for Y(z) and T(z) are equivalent, so if we can solve one, we can solve the other using straightforward algebraic manipulation. Consequently, the Riemann-Hilbert problem for T(z) has only one solution.

3.4.2 Second transformation S(z)

This step (known as the opening of the lenses) will deform the unit circle as shown in Figure 3.1. Since the jump matrix $V_T(z)$ in (RH-T2) has an absolute value of 1, oscillations happen quickly when n is large. So, we will come up with a new transformation that makes this behaviour on \mathbb{T} exponentially small. Now, let us set up a new function as follows:

$$S(z) = \begin{cases} T(z), & \text{for } z \text{ outside the lenses,} \\ T(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ f_t(z)^{-1}z^{-n} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, & \text{for } |z| > 1 \text{ and inside the lenses,} \\ T(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -f_t(z)^{-1}z^n & 1 \end{pmatrix}, & \text{for} |z| < 1 \text{ and inside the lenses} \end{cases}$$
(3.4.6)

where the jump matrix $V_T(z)$ is factorized,

$$V_T(z) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^{-n} f_t(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & f_t(z) \\ -f_t(z)^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^n f_t(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.7)
$$= V_1(z)V_N(z)V_2(z).$$

This factorization has specific characteristics. The matrix-valued function $f_t(z)$ has analytic continuation on the outside and inside of the unit disc. Observe that the off-diagonal terms of V_1 and V_2 decay as expected.

Then the following Riemann-Hilbert problem can be solved using the function S(z):

RH-S1:
$$S(z)$$
 is analytic for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Sigma$, where $\Sigma = \bigcup_{j=0}^{m} (\Sigma_j \cup \Sigma'_j \cup \Sigma''_j)$.

RH-S2: The boundary values are defined by the jump conditions

$$S_{+}(z) = S_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ f_{t}(z)^{-1}z^{\pm n} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \text{ for } z \in \bigcup_{j=0}^{m} (\Sigma_{j} \cup \Sigma_{j}''),$$

with the minus sign in the exponent on Σ_j , and plus sign on Σ_j'' ,

$$S_{+}(z) = S_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & f_{t}(z) \\ -f_{t}(z)^{-1} & 0, \end{pmatrix} \text{ for } z \in \bigcup_{j=0}^{m} \Sigma_{j}'.$$

 $\mathsf{RH}\text{-}\mathsf{S3:}\ S(z) = \left(I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})\right) \quad \text{ as } z \to \infty.$

RH-S4: As $z o z_j$ (j=1,...,m) and $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$ remains outside of the lenses,

$$S(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(\log|z - z_j|) \\ \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(\log|z - z_j|) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha_j = 0, \quad \beta_j \neq 0$$
(3.4.8)

and

$$S(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(1) + \mathcal{O}(|z - z_j|)^{2\alpha_j} \\ \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(1) + \mathcal{O}(|z - z_j|)^{2\alpha_j} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha_j \neq 0.$$
(3.4.9)

The asymptotic behaviour for S(z) as $z
ightarrow z_j$ in other sectors may be determined by ap-



Figure 3.1: S(z) RH problems

plying suitable jump conditions. The Riemann-Hilbert problem $(S(z), \Sigma)$ is referred to as a deformation of the problem $(T(z), \mathbb{T})$.

Finding good approximations to S(z) in various regions of the complex plane is the subsequent step of the steepest descent analysis. Let us begin by encircling each of the points z_j (j = 0, 1, ..., m) by the sufficiently small discs

$$U_{z_j} = \{ z : |z - z_j| < \epsilon \}.$$
(3.4.10)

By ignoring the jumps in $\bigcup_{j=0}^{m} (\Sigma_j \cup \Sigma''_j)$ that tend to the identity matrix and are away from $U_{z_j}, j = 0, ..., m$, we are left with the Riemann-Hilbert problem that is independent of n and whose solution is a good approximation of S(z) away from the singularities z_j .

3.4.3 Global parametrix N(z)

We consider the following problem with the parametrix N(z):

RH-N1: It is analytic for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$.

RH-N2:
$$N_+(z) = N_-(z) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & f_t(z) \\ -f_t(z)^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 for $z \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \bigcup_{j=0}^m z_j$.

RH-N3: As $z \to \infty$, the function has the following behaviour: $N(z) = (I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})).$

The function D(z) can be used to solve this Riemann-Hilbert problem by ignoring $\bigcup_{j=0}^{m} U_{z_j}$ and $\bigcup_{j=0}^{1} (\Sigma_j \cup \Sigma''_j)$. The following represents the function N(z)

$$N(z) = \begin{cases} D(z)^{\sigma_3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} & : |z| < 1 \\ D(z)^{\sigma_3} & & : |z| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.4.11)

where D(z) is the Szegő function associated with $f_t(z)$ defined by

$$D(z) = \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log f_t(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau\right\}.$$
(3.4.12)

Notice that D(z) is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$ and has the jumps

$$D_+(z) = D_-(z)f_t(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \bigcup_{j=0}^m z_j.$$

Similarly to [13], [16], and [34], we can explicitly solve this problem by utilizing the Szegő function D(z).

Lemma 3.4.1. By figuring out the integral with respect to our symbol $f_t(z)$ in (3.1.1), we obtain the following simple formula for the function D(z):

$$D(z) = \begin{cases} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\frac{z-z_j}{z_j e^{i\pi}})^{\alpha_j + \beta_j} (z-e^t)^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} \exp\{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_k z^k\}, & |z| < 1\\ \prod_{j=1}^{m} (\frac{z-z_j}{z})^{-\alpha_j + \beta_j} (z-e^{-t})^{-\alpha_0 + \beta_0} z^{\alpha_0 - \beta_0} \exp\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} z^{-k}\}, & |z| > 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4.13)$$

Proof. We will first calculate the $\log f_t(\tau)$, following the procedure described in [34]:

$$\log f_t(\tau) = V(\tau) + \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_j \log \tau - \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_j \log z_j + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\alpha_j \log |\tau - z_j| + \sum_{j=1}^m \log g_{z_j,\beta_j}(\tau) + (\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \log(\tau - e^t) + (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \log(\tau - e^{-t})$$
(3.4.14)
- $(\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \log \tau - i\pi(\alpha_0 + \beta_0).$

The first function, $V(\tau)$, is analytic. We can expand $\frac{1}{\tau-z} = \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{z}{\tau^2} + \frac{z^2}{\tau^3} + \dots$, for |z| < 1, and by applying the residual theorem, we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{V(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left\{ \dots + V_{-1} \tau^{-1} + V_0 + V_1 \tau + \dots \right\} \left\{ \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{z}{\tau^2} + \dots \right\} d\tau$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_k z^k.$$

Expanding $\frac{1}{\tau-z} = -\frac{1}{z} - \frac{\tau}{z^2} - \frac{\tau^2}{z^3} - \dots$ for |z| > 1 yields the following result,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{V(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left\{ \dots + V_{-1}\tau^{-1} + V_0 + V_1\tau + \dots \right\} \left\{ -\frac{1}{z} - \frac{\tau}{z^2} - \dots \right\} d\tau$$
$$= -\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} z^{-k}.$$

We apply integration by parts, the substitution $\tau=e^{i\theta}$, and the residue theorem to obtain the following:

$$\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log \tau}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log(e^{i\theta})ie^{i\theta}}{e^{i\theta} - z} d\theta$$
$$= \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \left[i\theta \log(e^{i\theta} - z) \right]_0^{2\pi} - \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \int_0^{2\pi} i \log(e^{i\theta} - z) d\theta$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \left(\log(1 - z) \right) - \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log(\tau - z)}{\tau} d\tau.$$
(3.4.15)

For |z| < 1, we have

$$\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log \tau}{\tau - z} d\tau = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \left(\log(1 - z) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left\{ \log \tau - \frac{z}{\tau} - \frac{z^2}{2\tau^2} - \ldots \right\} \left\{ \frac{1}{\tau} \right\} d\tau \right)$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \left(\log(1 - z) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_0^{2\pi} i \log(e^{i\theta}) d\theta - 0 \right)$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \left(\log(1 - z) - i\pi \right),$$
(3.4.16)

and for $\left|z\right|>1$

$$\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log \tau}{\tau - z} d\tau = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \left(i\pi + \log(z - 1) - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left\{ i\pi + \log z - \frac{\tau}{z} - \frac{\tau^2}{2z^2} - \dots \right\} \left\{ \frac{1}{\tau} \right\} d\tau \right)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \left(\log(z - 1) - \log z \right).$$
(3.4.17)

Combining the residue theorem with the above expansion, we get:

$$\frac{-\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log z_j}{\tau - z} d\tau = \begin{cases} -\sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_j \log z_j, & |z| < 1, \\ 0, & |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.18)

Now, we define h_{α_j} by setting

$$h_{\alpha_j}(z) = |z - z_j|^{\alpha_j} = (z - z_j)^{\alpha_j/2} (z^{-1} - z_j^{-1})^{\alpha_j/2} = \frac{(z - z_j)^{\alpha_j}}{(zz_j e^{il_j})^{\alpha_j/2}},$$
(3.4.19)

where

$$l_{j} = \begin{cases} 3\pi, & \text{for } 0 < \theta < \theta_{j} \\ \pi, & \text{for } \theta_{j} < \theta < 2\pi \end{cases}$$
(3.4.20)

and $z=e^{i\theta}, z_j=e^{i\theta_j}, \theta_j\neq 0, \ 0\leq \theta<2\pi.$ We then write

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_j \log |\tau - z_j|}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_j \log(\tau - z_j) - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \log(\tau z_j e^{il_j})}{\tau - z} d\tau$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_j \log(\tau - z_j)}{\tau - z} d\tau - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \log(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau$$
$$- \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \log(z_j)}{\tau - z} d\tau - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \log(e^{il_j})}{\tau - z} d\tau.$$
(3.4.21)

We can evaluate the first term in (3.4.21) and the expansion that follows by using the residue

theorem as follows:

$$\log(\tau - z_j) = \log(\exp(i\pi)) + \log(z_j) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{z_j^{-k} \tau^k}{k}.$$
 (3.4.22)

Recall that,

$$\log(1-z) = -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^n}{n!}, \quad \text{for} \quad |z| < 1.$$
 (3.4.23)

Consequently,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_j \log(\tau - z_j)}{\tau - z} d\tau = \begin{cases} \sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_j \log(z - z_j), & |z| < 1, \\ 0, & |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.24)

The second term was evaluated in (3.4.16) and (3.4.17), and the third one in (3.4.18). In order to determine the final term, we note that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_j \log(e^{il_j})}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\alpha_j \log(e^{2\pi i})}{\tau - z} d\tau + \frac{\alpha_j}{\beta_j} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log g_{z_j,\beta_j}(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau,$$
(3.4.25)

where

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log g_{z_j,\beta_j}(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_0^{\theta_j} \frac{i\pi\beta_j}{\tau - z} d\tau - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\theta_j}^{2\pi} \frac{i\pi\beta_j}{\tau - z} d\tau$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{i\pi\beta_j}{\tau - z} d\tau - 2\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\theta_j}^{2\pi} \frac{i\pi\beta_j}{\tau - z} d\tau$$

By (3.4.18), we get

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log g_{z_j,\beta_j}(\tau)}{\tau - z} ds = \begin{cases} i\pi\beta_j - 2\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\theta_j}^{2\pi} \frac{i\pi\beta_j}{\tau - z} d\tau, & \text{for}|z| < 1\\ -2\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\theta_j}^{2\pi} \frac{i\pi\beta_j}{\tau - z} d\tau, & \text{for}|z| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.4.26)

 and

$$2\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{\theta_j}^{2\pi}\frac{i\pi\beta_j}{\tau-z}d\tau = \beta_j \big(\log(1-z) - \log(z-z_j) - i\pi).$$

In this case, we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log g_{z_j,\beta_j}(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau = \begin{cases} \beta_j \log(z - z_j) - \beta_j \log(1 - z), & \text{for} \quad |z| < 1, \\ \beta_j \log(z - z_j) - \beta_j \log(z - 1), & \text{for} \quad |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.27)

Thus, by combining (3.4.18) and (3.4.27), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\alpha_j \log(e^{il_j})}{\tau - z} d\tau = \begin{cases} \alpha_j \big(\log(z - z_j) - \log(1 - z) \big), & \text{for } |z| < 1, \\ \alpha_j \big(\log(z - z_j) - \log(z - 1) \big), & \text{for } |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.28)

Therefore, we have for $\left|z\right|<1$,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_j \log |\tau - z_j|}{\tau - z} d\tau = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(2\alpha_j \log(z - z_j) - \alpha_j \log(1 - z) - i\pi\alpha_j - \alpha_j \log z_j - \alpha_j \log(z - z_j) + \alpha_j \log(1 - z) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left(\alpha_j \log(z - z_j) - \alpha_j \log z_j - i\pi\alpha_j \right),$$
(3.4.29)

and for |z| > 1,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_j \log |\tau - z_j|}{\tau - z} d\tau = \alpha_j \log z - \alpha_j \log(z - z_j).$$
(3.4.30)

Using the residue theorem, and the expansion of $\log(\tau - e^t) = \log(e^{i\pi}) + \log(e^t) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-t}\tau^k}{k}$,

we find that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{T} \frac{(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}) \log(\tau - e^{t})}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})}{2\pi i} \int_{T} \left\{ i\pi + t - e^{-t}\tau - \frac{e^{-2t}}{2}\tau^{2} - \dots \right\} \\
\times \left\{ \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{z}{\tau^{2}} + \frac{z^{2}}{\tau^{3}} + \dots \right\} d\tau \\
= (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}) \left(i\pi + t - e^{-t}z - \frac{e^{-2t}}{2}z^{2} - \dots \right) \qquad (3.4.31) \\
= (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}) \left(i\pi + t - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-tk}}{k} z^{k} \right) \\
= (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}) \log(z - e^{t}),$$

and for |z| > 1,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{T} \frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \log(\tau - e^t)}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2\pi i} \int_{T} \left\{ i\pi + t - e^{-t}\tau - \frac{e^{-2t}}{2}\tau^2 - \dots \right\}$$

$$\times \left\{ \frac{-1}{z} - \frac{\tau}{z^2} - \frac{\tau^2}{z^3} + \dots \right\} d\tau = 0.$$
(3.4.32)

Similar to the previous integral, but this time by using the expansion

$$\log(\tau - e^{-t}) = \log(\tau) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-tk}}{k} \tau^{-k},$$
(3.4.33)

we have, for $\left|z\right|<1$,

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \log(\tau - e^{-t})}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2\pi i} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau + \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left\{ -e^{-t} \tau^{-1} - \frac{e^{-2t}}{2} \tau^{-2} - \dots \right\} \left\{ \frac{1}{\tau} + \frac{z}{\tau^2} + \dots \right\} d\tau \right]$$

$$= (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \left(\log(1 - z) - i\pi \right).$$
(3.4.34)

Now, for |z| > 1, we continue in the same manner, but now using (3.4.17), we get

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \log(\tau - e^{-t})}{\tau - z} d\tau = \frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2\pi i} \left[\int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau + \int_{\mathbb{T}} \left\{ -e^{-t}\tau^{-1} - \frac{e^{-2t}}{2}\tau^{-2} - \ldots \right\} \left\{ -\frac{1}{z} - \frac{\tau}{z^2} - \ldots \right\} d\tau \right]
= (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \log(z - 1) - (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \log z
- (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \left(-e^{-t}z^{-1} - \frac{e^{-2t}}{2}z^{-2} - \ldots \right)
= (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \left(\log(z - 1) - \log(z - e^{-t}) \right).$$
(3.4.35)

Utilizing the previous results, for |z| < 1, we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{(-\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \log(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau = (-\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \bigg(\log(1 - z) - i\pi \bigg),$$
(3.4.36)

and for |z| > 1, we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{(-\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \log(\tau)}{\tau - z} d\tau = (-\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \left(\log(z - 1) - \log z \right)$$
(3.4.37)

and by using (3.4.20), we get

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{T} \frac{-i\pi(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{\tau - z} d\tau = \begin{cases} -i\pi(\alpha_0 + \beta_0) & \text{for} \quad |z| < 1, \\ 0 & \text{for} \quad |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.38)

By multiplying all of the above results together, the formula for the Szegő function (3.4.13) is produced.

Note that the jump matrices S(z) and N(z) are not uniformly close to one another near singularities z_j . Consequently, we must construct local parametrices at these points in the subsequent step. After that, we match them with N(z) on ∂U_{z_j} , and the desired asymptotics is obtained.

3.4.4 Construction of the local parametrices at fixed singularities

Now we will examine separately each intersection where we have opened the lens (Riemann-Hilbert problem for S(z)). In the neighbourhood U_{z_j} , we will construct the local parametrices P_{z_j} at $z_j, j = 1, ..., m$. We need a sectionally analytic matrix-valued function that satisfies the following Riemann-Hilbert problem for $P(z_j)$. The study is based on the work of Deift, Its, and Krasovsky [16], [18], and also on [34].

The Riemann-Hilbert problem for $P(z_j)$

 $\mathsf{RH-P1:} \ P_{z_j}(z) \text{ is analytic for } z \in U_{z_j} \setminus \Sigma = \cup_{j=0}^1 (\Sigma_j \cup \Sigma'_j \cup \Sigma''_j).$

RH-P2: The boundary values are related by the following jump conditions,

$$P_{z_{j},+}(z) = P_{z_{j},-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ f_{t}(z)^{-1}z^{\pm n} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad z \in U_{z_{j}} \cap (\cup_{j=0}^{1}(\Sigma_{j} \cup \Sigma_{j}'')),$$

with the minus sign in the exponent on Σ_j , and plus sign on Σ''_j ,

$$P_{z_j,+}(z) = P_{z_j,-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & f_t(z) \\ -f_t(z)^{-1} & 0, \end{pmatrix} z \in U_{z_j} \cap (\cup_{j=0}^1 \Sigma'_j).$$

RH-P3: For $z \in \partial U_{z_j} \setminus \Sigma$, the following uniform asymptotic holds as $n \to \infty$ (this is known as a matching condition):

$$P_{z_j}(z)N^{-1}(z) = I + o(1).$$
(3.4.39)

RH-P4: For $z \rightarrow z_j, j = 1, ..., m$, the jump conditions are identical to S(z).

First, we investigate RH-P1, RH-P2, and RH-P4 in order to construct $P_{z_j}(z)$, and then we turn to RH-P3. A series of procedures will be completed to accomplish this construction.

Step 1: Reduction to constant jumps



Figure 3.2: Ψ RH problem

First define the following transformation that maps the z-plane to the ξ -plane:

$$\xi(z) = n \log \frac{z}{z_j},\tag{3.4.40}$$

where $\log z > 0$ when z > 0 and the logarithm has a cut on the negative half of the real axis. The neighborhood U_{z_j} is transformed into a neighborhood of zero in the ξ -plane by this transformation. Now, we select the form of the intersection between the neighborhood U_{z_j} and the contour in the Riemann-Hilbert problem for S(z) such that their images are straight lines under this transformation. The function $\xi(z)$ is analytic and one-to-one which maps an arc of the unit circle to an interval along the imaginary axis. The values in sectors I, II, III, IV correspond to the interior of the unit circle, and ξ values in sectors V, VI, VII, VIII correspond to the exterior of the unit circle. In order to address the non-analyticity of $|z - z_j|^{\alpha_j}$, we added an additional jump contour to Σ in the neighborhood of z_j , which is the pre-image of the real lines Γ_3 and Γ_7 .

Then, we will present the following auxiliary function $F_j(z)$ defined in [16] by

$$F_{j}(z) = \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\log a(z;t)\right\} \prod_{k=1}^{m} (\frac{z}{z_{k}})^{\beta_{k}/2} \prod_{k \neq j} h_{\alpha_{k}}(z)g_{\beta_{k}}(z)^{1/2}$$

$$\times h_{\alpha_{j}}(z) \begin{cases} e^{-i\pi\alpha_{j}} & \xi \in I, II, V, VI \\ e^{i\pi\alpha_{j}} & \xi \in III, IV, VII, VIII. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4.41)$$

It is not difficult to show that $F_j(z), j = 1, ..., m$ is analytic in the intersection of each quarter

 $\xi-{\rm plane}$ with $\xi(U_{z_j})$ and includes the following jumps:

$$F_{j,+}(z) = F_{j,-}e^{-2\pi i\alpha_j} \quad \xi \in \Gamma_1.$$
(3.4.42)

We can show this by using the definition (3.4.41), which states that

$$F_{j,+} = \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\log a(z;t)\right\} \prod_{k=1}^{m} (\frac{z}{z_k})^{\beta_k/2} \prod_{k\neq j} h_{\alpha_k}(z) g_{\beta_k}(z)^{1/2} \\ \times h_{\alpha_j}(z) e^{-i\pi\alpha_j},$$

 and

$$F_{j,-} = \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\log a(z;t)\right\} \prod_{k=1}^{m} (\frac{z}{z_k})^{\beta_k/2} \prod_{k\neq j} h_{\alpha_k}(z) g_{\beta_k}(z)^{1/2} \\ \times h_{\alpha_j}(z) e^{i\pi\alpha_j}.$$

Thus, we derived the jump at $\xi \in \Gamma_1$ by comparing $F_{j,+}$ and $F_{j,-}$. Similarly, we can confirm the jumps in other sectors.

$$F_{j,+}(z) = F_{j,-}e^{2\pi i\alpha_j} \quad \xi \in \Gamma_5.$$
(3.4.43)

$$F_{j,+}(z) = F_{j,-}e^{\pi i \alpha_j} \quad \xi \in \Gamma_3 \cup \Gamma_7.$$
 (3.4.44)

Using the function (3.4.19) of $f_t(z)$ and the definition of the function $F_j(z)$ in (3.4.41), the following relations are obtained,

$$F_j(z)^2 = f_t(z)e^{-2i\pi\alpha_j}g_{\beta_j}^{-1}(z), \qquad \xi \in I, II, V, VI$$
(3.4.45)

$$F_{j}(z)^{2} = f_{t}(z)e^{2i\pi\alpha_{j}}g_{\beta_{j}}^{-1}(z), \qquad \xi \in III, IV, VII, VIII \qquad (3.4.46)$$

Then, we search for a function $P_{z_j}(z)$ of the following form:

$$P_{z_j}(z) = P^{(1)} \begin{pmatrix} F_j^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & F_j \end{pmatrix} z^{\pm n\sigma_3/2}.$$

The plus sign is used when |z| < 1 and minus sign when |z| > 1, which corresponds to $\xi \in I, II, III, IV$ and $\xi \in V, VI, VII, VIII$, respectively. In order to satisfy the conditions from (RH-P1),(RH-P2), and (RH-P4), $P^{(1)}(z)$ must be constant.

Step 2: Riemann-Hilbert problem for $\Psi_j(\xi)$ and the solution

Using the map in (3.4.40), this constant jump problem $P^{(1)}$ produces a model problem $\Psi_j(\xi)$ which is defined in ξ -plane. Set

$$P^{(1)}(z) = \Psi_j(\xi), \tag{3.4.47}$$

where $\Psi_j(\xi)$ satisfies the Riemann-Hilbert problem on the contour $\Gamma=\cup_{j=1}^8\Gamma_j$,

RH- Ψ_j 1: Ψ_j is analytic for $\xi \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Gamma$.

RH- $\Psi_j 2:~\Psi_j$ satisfies the following jump conditions:

$$\Psi_{j,+}(\xi) = \Psi_{j,-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{-i\pi\beta_j} \\ -e^{-i\pi\beta_j} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \xi \in \Gamma_1,$$
(3.4.48)

$$\Psi_{j,+}(\xi) = \Psi_{j,-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & e^{-i\pi\beta_j} \\ -e^{i\pi\beta_j} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \xi \in \Gamma_5, \qquad (3.4.49)$$

$$\Psi_{j,+}(\xi) = \Psi_{j,-}(\xi)e^{i\pi\alpha_j\sigma_3}, \qquad \xi \in \Gamma_3 \cup \Gamma_7, \qquad (3.4.50)$$

$$\Psi_{j,+}(\xi) = \Psi_{j,-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -e^{\pm i\pi(\beta_j - 2\alpha_j)} & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.4.51)

where the plus sign in the exponent for $\xi\in\Gamma_2,$ and the minus sign for $\xi\in\Gamma_4$

$$\Psi_{j,+}(\xi) = \Psi_{j,-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -e^{\pm i\pi(\beta_j + 2\alpha_j)} & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.4.52)

with plus sign for $\xi\in\Gamma_8,$ and the minus sign for $\xi\in\Gamma_6$.

 $\mathsf{RH}\text{-}\Psi_j3\text{:}\ \mathsf{As}\ \xi\to 0$ with $\xi\in\mathbb{C}\setminus\Gamma$ outside the lenses,

$$\Psi_j(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(\log|\xi|) \\ \mathcal{O}(1) & \mathcal{O}(\log|\xi|) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha_j = 0, \ \beta_j \neq 0, \tag{3.4.53}$$

and

$$\Psi_{j}(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(\xi^{\alpha_{j}}) & \mathcal{O}(\xi^{\alpha_{j}}) + \mathcal{O}(\xi^{-\alpha_{j}}) \\ \mathcal{O}(\xi^{\alpha_{j}}) & \mathcal{O}(\xi^{\alpha_{j}}) + \mathcal{O}(\xi^{-\alpha_{j}}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \alpha_{j} \neq 0.$$
(3.4.54)

The solution of this problem was explicitly solved in terms of confluent hypergeometric functions (see, [16]).

Proposition 3.4.2. ([16], Proposition 4.1) Let $\alpha_j \pm \beta_j \notin \mathbb{Z}_-$ for all j = 1, ..., m. Then a solution for the $\Psi_j(\xi)$ Riemann-Hilbert problem in sector I is given by:

$$\Psi_{j}(\xi) = \Psi_{j}^{(I)}(\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi_{j,11} & \Psi_{j,12} \\ \Psi_{j,21} & \Psi_{j,22} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.4.55)$$

where

$$\Psi_{j,11} = \xi^{\alpha_j} \psi(\alpha_j + \beta_j, 1 + 2\alpha_j, \xi) e^{i\pi(2\beta_j + \alpha_j)} e^{-\xi/2}$$

$$\Psi_{j,12} = -\xi^{\alpha_j}\psi(1+\alpha_j-\beta_j,1+2\alpha_j,e^{-i\pi}\xi)e^{i\pi(\beta_j+\alpha_j)}e^{\xi/2}\frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_j-\beta_j)}{\Gamma(\alpha_j+\beta_j)}$$

$$\Psi_{j,21} = -\xi^{-\alpha_j}\psi(1-\alpha_j+\beta_j,1-2\alpha_j,\xi)e^{i\pi(\beta_j-3\alpha_j)}e^{-\xi/2}\frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_j+\beta_j)}{\Gamma(\alpha_j-\beta_j)}$$

and

$$\Psi_{j,22} = \xi^{-\alpha_j} \psi(-\alpha_j - \beta_j, 1 - 2\alpha_j, e^{-i\pi\xi}) e^{-i\pi\alpha_j} e^{\xi/2}$$

47

The solutions for the other sectors are reconstructed by using (3.4.48)-(3.4.52). **Step 3: The matching condition**

We multiply $\Psi_j(\xi)$ by the analytic function E(z) from the left. Then we get

$$P^{(1)}(z) = E(z)\Psi_i(\xi).$$
(3.4.56)

The precise E(z) will be given later. Thus the parametrices that we have are

$$P_{z_j} = E(z)\Psi_j(\xi)F_j^{-\sigma_3/2}z^{\pm n\sigma_3/2}.$$
(3.4.57)

Then, on the boundary, we will match this solution with N(z) for large n. To accomplish this, E(z) must be close to the following

$$N(z) \begin{pmatrix} F_j(z) & 0\\ 0 & F_j^{-1}(z) \end{pmatrix} z^{\mp n\sigma_3/2} \Psi_j^{-1}(\xi).$$

The limit for $z \in \partial U_{z_j}$ and $n \to \infty$ is equivalent to $\xi \to \infty$. Consequently, we must determine the asymptotic expansion of $\Psi_j(\xi)$ using the classical results in [8] and [28] for the confluent hypergeometric function $\Psi_j(\xi)$. As $|x| \to \infty$ with $-\frac{3\pi}{2} < \arg x < \frac{3\pi}{2}$,

$$\psi(a,c,x) = x^{-a} [1 - a(1 + a - c)x^{-1} + \mathcal{O}(x^{-2})].$$
(3.4.58)

In addition, this result can be applied to $\psi(a, c, \xi)$ and $\psi(a, c, e^{-i\pi\xi})$ for $0 < \arg \xi < 2\pi$ when $\xi \in I$.

Applying this result to (3.4.55), we obtain the asymptotics as $\xi \to \infty$ in sector I, which remains unchanged in sector II because of the correct triangular structure of the jump matrices.

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{j}^{(I)} &= \Psi_{j}^{(II)}(\xi) \\ &= \left[I + \frac{1}{\xi} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2} & \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})} e^{i\pi(\beta_{j}+4\alpha_{j})} \\ -\frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\beta_{j}+4\alpha_{j})} & -(\alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2}) \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(\xi^{-2}) \right] \\ &\times \xi^{-\beta_{j}\sigma_{3}} e^{-\xi\sigma_{3}/2} \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\pi(2\beta_{j}+\alpha_{j})} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-i\pi(\beta_{j}+2\alpha_{j})} \end{pmatrix}, \\ &\xi \to \infty, \xi \in I, II, \alpha_{j} \pm \beta_{j} \neq -1, -2, \dots \end{split}$$
(3.4.59)

To achieve the asymptotic behaviuor in other sectors, we employ the relevant jump matrices that yield the following results:

$$\Psi_j^{(III)}(\xi) = \Psi_j^{(IV)}(\xi) = \Psi_j^{(I)}(\xi)e^{i\pi\alpha_j\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.60)

$$\Psi_{j}^{(V)}(\xi) = \Psi_{j}^{(VI)}(\xi) = \Psi_{j}^{(I)}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -e^{i\pi\beta_{j}} \\ e^{-i\pi\beta_{j}} & 0 \end{pmatrix} e^{-i\pi\alpha_{j}\sigma_{3}}.$$
 (3.4.61)

$$\Psi_{j}^{(VIII)}(\xi) = \Psi_{j}^{(VII)}(\xi) = \Psi_{j}^{(I)}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -e^{-i\pi\beta_{j}} \\ e^{i\pi\beta_{j}} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.4.62)

The following result is obtained by substituting this asymptotics into the condition on E(z) (see (3.4.39)):

$$P_{z_j}(z)N^{-1}(z) = E(z)\Psi_j(\xi)F_j(z)^{-\sigma_3}z^{\pm\frac{n\sigma}{2}}N^{-1} = I + o(1).$$
(3.4.63)

The function E(z) is then obtained in sectors I and II as follows:

$$E(z) = N(z)\xi^{\beta_j\sigma_3}F_j^{-\sigma_3}z_j^{-\frac{n\sigma_3}{2}} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-i\pi(2\beta_j + \alpha_j)} & 0\\ 0 & e^{i\pi(\beta_j + 2\alpha_j)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \xi \in I, II$$
(3.4.64)

For more information on how to find the asymptotics of the matrices E(z) for the remaining sectors using the asymptotics in (3.4.59), see [16] and in particular (4.42)-(4.50) therein.

Thus by applying (3.4.47), (3.4.57), (3.4.64), and Proposition 3.4.2, the construction of

the parametrices P_{z_j} has been completed for U_{z_j} .

Similarly to [16], we derive the unique expansions in $u = z - z_j$ as $u \to 0$. Recall (3.1.1), and the factorisation of V(z), and from (3.4.13), (3.4.19),(3.4.40), (3.4.41), we get

$$F_j(z) = \eta_j e^{-3i\pi\alpha/2} z_j^{-\alpha_j} u^{\alpha_j} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)), \quad u = z - z_j \qquad \xi \in I,$$
(3.4.65)

where

$$\eta_{j} = \exp\{\log a(z_{j};t)/2\} \exp\left\{-\frac{i\pi}{2}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j-1}\beta_{k}-\sum_{k=j+1}^{m}\beta_{k}\right)\right\} \prod_{k\neq j} \left(\frac{z_{j}}{z_{k}}\right)^{\beta_{k}/2} |z_{j}-z_{k}|^{\alpha_{k}},$$

$$(3.4.66)$$

$$D(z) = \prod_{j=1}^{m} u^{\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j}} z_{j}^{-(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})} (z-e^{t})^{\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0}} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})}$$

$$\exp\left\{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_{k} z_{j}^{k}\right\} (1+\mathcal{O}(u)),$$

$$(3.4.67)$$

and

$$\xi(z) = n \log \frac{z}{z_j} + \mathcal{O}(u^2) = n \frac{u}{z_j} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)).$$
(3.4.68)

By combining them, we obtain the following:

$$\left(\frac{D(z)}{\xi^{\beta_j}F_j(z)}\right)^2 = e^{V_0} \frac{\exp\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_k z_j^k}{\exp\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} z_j^{-k}} (1 - z_j e^{-t})^{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} (1 - e^{-t} z_j^{-1})^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} \times n^{-2\beta_j} e^{t(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} \times e^{i\pi(\alpha_j - 2\beta_j)} \times \prod_{k \neq j} \left(\frac{z_j}{z_k e^{i\pi}}\right)^{\alpha_k} |z_j - z_k|^{2\beta_k} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)).$$
(3.4.69)

According to (3.4.64), det $E(z) = e^{i\pi(\alpha_j - \beta_j)}$ holds in all ξ -plane sectors. It is also essential to remember that det $\psi_j(\xi) = e^{-i\pi(\alpha_j - \beta_j)}$. According to Liouville's theorem, det $\psi_j(\xi)$ contains no jumps. As a result, the singularities at zero are removable as $\Re \alpha_j > -\frac{1}{2}$, and the constant value of the function can be determined by applying (3.4.59). By combining these observations and noting that det $P_{z_j} = 1$, it is possible to conclude that P_{z_j} is unique and that its inverse exists, and so, $P_{z_j}(z)\hat{P}_{z_j}(z) = I$. It is also important to note that by constructing $P_{z_j}(z)$, which has the same jumps as S(z), it follows that $S(z)P_{z_j}(z)^{-1}$ has no jumps, so it is analytic near z_j . This means that the singularities are removable. The singularities at $z = z_j$ are at

most $\mathcal{O}(|z-z_j|^{2\alpha_j})$ or $\mathcal{O}(\log |z-z_j|)$, which can be seen by applying (3.4.8), (3.4.9), (3.4.53), and (3.4.54).

Observe that the error term in the equation (3.4.63) is

$$o(1) = n^{-\Re\beta_j\sigma_3} \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{n}) n^{\Re\beta_j\sigma_3} \quad \text{if} \quad \Re\beta_j \in (-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}).$$

Next, we will extend (3.4.63) to figure out the first correction term $\Delta_1(z)$ in the asymptotic series in inverse powers of n satisfying

$$P_{z_j}(z)N^{-1}(z) = I + \Delta_1(z) + n^{-\Re\beta_j\sigma_3}\mathcal{O}(n^{-2})n^{\Re\beta_j\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.70)

By considering further terms, we can then extend (3.4.59) to discover a complete asymptotic series. By multiplying out the matrices in (3.4.64), we obtain

$$E(z) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D(z)\xi^{-\beta_j}F_j^{-1}z_j^{n/2}e^{i\pi(\beta_j + 2\alpha_j)} \\ -E_{12}^{-1}e^{i\pi(\alpha_j - \beta_j)} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.4.71)

In addition,

$$P_{z_j}N^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} E_{12}\Psi_{1,22}F_jz^{-n/2}D(z)^{-1} & -E_{12}\Psi_{1,21}F_j^{-1}z^{n/2}D(z) \\ E_{21}\Psi_{1,12}F_jz^{-n/2}D(z)^{-1} & -E_{21}\Psi_{1,11}F_j^{-1}z^{n/2}D(z) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.4.72)

After that , by substituting in (3.4.71), and using (3.4.59) for $\psi_{j,im}$ yields the following result:

$$\Delta_{1}(z) = \frac{1}{\xi} \begin{pmatrix} -(\alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2}) & z_{j}^{n} \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})} \left(\frac{D(z)}{\xi^{\beta_{j}}F_{j}}\right)^{2} e^{i\pi(2\beta_{j}-\alpha_{j})} \\ -z_{j}^{n} \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})} \left(\frac{D(z)}{\xi^{\beta_{j}}F_{j}}\right)^{-2} e^{-i\pi(2\beta_{j}-\alpha_{j})} & (\alpha_{j}^{2} - \beta_{j}^{2}) \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(3.4.73)$$

Then, we will look for the 12 element of the correction that will be required in what

follows:

$$(\Delta_{1}(z))_{12} = \frac{1}{\xi} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left[z_{j}^{n} e^{V_{0}} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k} z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} z_{j}^{-k}\right\} (1 - z_{j} e^{-t})^{(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} \\ \times (1 - e^{-t} z_{j}^{-1})^{-(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} \times e^{t(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} \times \prod_{k \neq j} \left(\frac{z_{j}}{z_{k}}\right)^{\alpha_{k}} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2\beta_{k}} \\ \times \exp\left\{-i\pi\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \alpha_{k} - \sum_{k=j+1}^{m} \alpha_{k}\right)\right\} n^{-2\beta_{j}} \frac{\Gamma(1 + \alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} \right] (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)).$$

$$(3.4.74)$$

In addition, we observe,

$$\frac{1}{\xi} = \frac{z_j}{n(z - z_j)} + \mathcal{O}(z - z_j)^2 \quad z \to z_j$$
(3.4.75)

3.4.5 Local parametrix at emerging singularity

Before constructing the local parametrix at $z_0 = 1$, we will present the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Painlevé V equation, which plays an important role in describing the transition in [13] and [34]. For the reader's convenience, we recall the relevant theory.

Riemann Hilbert-Problem for Painlevé V

We consider the second order ordinary differential equation

$$\left(x\frac{d^2\sigma}{dx^2}\right)^2 = \left(\sigma - x\frac{d\sigma}{dx} + 2\left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx}\right)^2 + 2\alpha_0\frac{d\sigma}{dx}\right)^2 - 4\left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx}\right)^2 \left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx} + \alpha_0 + \beta_0\right) \left(\frac{d\sigma}{dx} + \alpha_0 - \beta_0\right),$$
(3.4.76)

which is the $\sigma\text{-form}$ of the painlevé V equation

$$u_{xx} = \left(\frac{1}{2u} + \frac{1}{u-1}\right)u_x^2 - \frac{1}{x}u_x + \frac{(u-1)^2}{x^2}\left(Au + \frac{b}{u}\right) + \frac{Cu}{x} + D\frac{u(u+1)}{u-1}$$
(3.4.77)

studied by Jimbo, Miwa, and Okamoto in [30] (see also [31]).

For the equation above, we have the following parameters,

$$A = \frac{1}{2}(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)^2, \quad B = -\frac{1}{2}(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)^2, \quad C = 1 + 2\beta_0, \quad D = -\frac{1}{2}.$$
 (3.4.78)

According to [13], the Painlevé V equation has a solution that can be written as follows:

$$\sigma(x) = \int_{x}^{+\infty} v(\xi) d\xi.$$
(2.4.79)

Furthermore, the function $\sigma(x)$ can be formed directly in terms of the Riemann-Hilbert problem given below. Consider the contour $\Gamma = \bigcup_{j=1}^{6} \Gamma_j$ in the complex plane \mathbb{C} with

$$\Gamma_{1} = \frac{1}{2} + e^{i\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^{+}, \quad \Gamma_{2} = \frac{1}{2} + e^{i3\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^{+}, \quad \Gamma_{3} = \frac{1}{2} + e^{i5\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^{+},$$

$$\Gamma_{4} = \frac{1}{2} + e^{i7\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^{+}, \quad \Gamma_{5} = (1, \infty), \quad \Gamma_{6} = (0, 1).$$
(3.4.80)

The Riemann-Hilbert problem for Ψ .

(RH- Ψ 1): Ψ is analytic for $\xi \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Gamma$.

(RH- Ψ 2): Ψ has a continuous boundary value on $\Gamma \setminus \{0, \frac{1}{2}, 1\}$ with the jump conditions given as follows:

$$\Psi_{+}(\xi) = \Psi_{-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e^{i\pi(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{j})} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \xi \in \Gamma_{1},$$
(3.4.81)

$$\Psi_{+}(\xi) = \Psi_{-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \xi \in \Gamma_{2},$$
(3.4.82)

$$\Psi_{+}(\xi) = \Psi_{-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ e^{i\pi(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \xi \in \Gamma_{3},$$
(3.4.83)

$$\Psi_{+}(\xi) = \Psi_{-}(\xi) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \xi \in \Gamma_{4}.$$
(3.4.84)

$$\Psi_{+}(\xi) = \Psi_{-}(\xi)e^{2\pi i\beta_{0}\sigma_{3}} \quad \xi \in \Gamma_{5},$$
(3.4.85)

$$\Psi_{+}(\xi) = \Psi_{-}(\xi)e^{-\pi i(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})\sigma_{3}} \quad \xi \in \Gamma_{6}.$$
(3.4.86)

(RH- Ψ 3): As $\xi \to \infty$, Ψ has the following asymptotic behaviour for certain matrices

$$C_1 = C_1(x, \alpha, \beta),$$

$$\Psi(\xi) = \left(I + \frac{C_1}{\xi} + \mathcal{O}(\xi^{-2})\right)\xi^{-\beta_0\sigma_3}e^{-(\frac{x}{2})\xi\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.87)

(RH- Ψ 4): Ψ has the following limiting behaviour

(a)

$$\Psi(\xi) = \mathcal{O} \begin{pmatrix} |\xi|^{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} & |\xi|^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} \\ |\xi|^{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} & |\xi|^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{as} \quad \xi \to 0.$$
(3.4.88)

(b)

$$\Psi(\xi) = \mathcal{O} \begin{pmatrix} |\xi - 1|^{-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)/2} & |\xi - 1|^{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)/2} \\ |\xi - 1|^{-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)/2} & |\xi - 1|^{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)/2} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{as} \quad \xi \to 1.$$
(3.4.89)

(c) Ψ is bounded in a neighborhood of 1/2.

Now, we will construct the parametrix at $z_0 = 1$. Similar to the parametrices at $z_j, j = 1, ..., m$, P_{z_0} will be constructed at $z_0 = 1$ which satisfies the same jump conditions as the Riemann-Hilbert problem for S(z) in the neighborhood of z_0 with a small fixed radius. Then, on the boundary of U_{z_0} , we will have a matching condition with the Riemann-Hilbert problem for N(z). This will be accomplished by following a series of steps similarly to [13] and [34]. **Step 1:** Assuming the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Ψ is solvable, define the following function,

$$\Phi(\lambda;x) = e^{\frac{x}{4}\sigma_3} x^{-\beta_0\sigma_3} \Psi\left(\frac{\lambda}{x} + \frac{1}{2};x\right) G(\lambda;x)^{\frac{1}{2}\sigma_3} e^{\pm\frac{\pi i}{2}(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)\sigma_3}$$
(3.4.90)

for $\pm\Im\lambda > 0$, respectively. The function $G(\lambda; x)$ is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus ((-\infty, -\frac{x}{2}] \cup [\frac{x}{2}, +\infty))$ and defined as follows:

$$G(\lambda; x) = (\lambda + \frac{x}{2})^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} (\lambda - \frac{x}{2})^{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} e^{\lambda} e^{-\pi i (\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}, \quad x > 0,$$
(3.4.91)

where $-\pi < \arg(\lambda + \frac{x}{2}) < \pi$, $0 < \arg(\lambda - \frac{x}{2}) < 2\pi.$

The matrix-valued function $\Phi(\lambda; x)$ in (3.4.90) solves the following Riemann-Hilbert problem for x > 0: (RH- Φ 1): $\Phi : \mathbb{C} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{4} e^{\pi i (2j-1)/4} \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ is analytic, with the rays $e^{\pi i (2j-1)/4} \mathbb{R}^+$ as shown in Figure 3.3.

(RH-($\Phi 2$): Φ has the following jump conditions on $\cup_{j=1}^{4} e^{\pi i (2j-1)/4} \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \{0\}$:

$$\Phi_{+}(\lambda) = \Phi_{-}(\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & G(\lambda; x)^{-1} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \in (e^{\pi i/4} \mathbb{R}^{+} \cup e^{7\pi i/4} \mathbb{R}^{+})$$
(3.4.92)

and

$$\Phi_{+}(\lambda) = \Phi_{-}(\lambda) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -G(\lambda; x) & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \in (e^{3\pi i/4} \mathbb{R}^{+} \cup e^{5\pi i/4} \mathbb{R}^{+}).$$
(3.4.93)

(RH- Φ 3): Φ has the following behaviour as $\lambda \to \infty$,

$$\Phi(\lambda) = I + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1}). \tag{3.4.94}$$

(RH- Φ 4): Φ is bounded near 0.

Proposition 3.4.3 (Proposition 3.1 of [13]). We have

- 1. If $\Re \alpha_0 > -1/2$, the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Φ has a unique solution for all possible finite numbers of positive x-values $\{x_1, ..., x_k\}$, where $x_j = x_j(\alpha, \beta)$ and $k = k(\alpha, \beta)$
- 2. If $\alpha_0 > -1/2$, (α_0 is real), and $\Re \beta_0 = 0$, then the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Φ has a unique solution for all x > 0.
- 3. If $\Re \alpha_0 > -1/2$, the asymptotics for Φ as $\lambda \to \infty$ is valid uniformly for $x \in (0, \infty)$, with the exception of the set $\{x_1, ..., x_k\}$.

The preceding proposition was proved in [13] by Clyaeys, Its, and Krasovsky.

Step 2: We will map the jump matrices for Φ into the jump matrices for S in the neighbourhood of $z_0 = 1$ by defining the conformal mapping that maps 1 to 0 and $e^{\pm t}$ to $\pm x/2$, respectively.

$$\lambda(z) = \frac{x}{2t} \log(z), \qquad (3.4.95)$$



Figure 3.3: Φ RH-problem

where $\log z > 0$ when z > 0 and the branch is cut along the negative axis. Consequently, we require that $e^{\lambda}(z) = z^n$, and so,

$$x = 2nt.$$
 (3.4.96)

Here $\lambda(z)$ translates Σ_1 and Σ_2 close to 1 onto the jump contour $\bigcup_{j=1}^4 e^{i\pi(2j-1)/4\mathbb{R}+}$ for Φ . **Step 3:** We search for the parametrix P_{z_0} with the form:

$$P_{z_0}(z) = E(z)\Phi(\lambda(z); 2nt)W(z),$$
(3.4.97)

where W(z) is given by,

$$W(z) = \begin{cases} -G(\lambda(z))^{-\sigma_3/2} z^{n\sigma_3/2} f_t(z)^{-\sigma_3/2} \sigma_3, & \text{for } |z| < 1\\ G(\lambda(z))^{-\sigma_3/2} z^{n\sigma_3/2} f_t(z)^{\sigma_3/2} \sigma_1, & \text{for } |z| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.4.98)

and

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Noting that the branch points of G cancel with those of f_t , so W(z) is analytic in $U_{z_0} \setminus \mathbb{T}$. To satisfy the conditions for the construction in which P_{z_0} has the same jump condition as S(z), we must assume that E(z) is analytic in the neighborhood of z_0 .

Step 4: We attempt to fix E(z) in a way that satisfies the matching condition $P_{z_0}N^{-1} = I + o(1)$ on the boundary of U_{z_0} . Consider the behaviour of the parametrix P_{z_0} on the

boundary of U_{z_0} . By utilising (3.4.95), we have

$$|\lambda(z)| > cn \quad z \in \partial U_{z_0}$$

Using Proposition 3.4.3, as $n \to \infty$ and 2nt remains bounded away from $\{x_1, x_2, ..., x_k\}$, we can use the asymptotic behaviour of $\Phi(z)$ in (3.4.94) to demonstrate that $\Phi(z)$ approaches identity as $z \to \infty$, and we have

$$P_{z_0}(z) = E(z)(I + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{n}))W(z), \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty$$
(3.4.99)

uniformly with respect to $0 < t < t_0$ and $z \in \partial U_{z_0}$. We assume that $e^{\pm t}$ lie inside U_{z_0} for small t_0 . As $n \to \infty$, by (3.4.91) and (3.4.98), we have

$$W(z) = n^{-\beta_0} \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(1) & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{O}(1) \end{pmatrix}, & |z| < 1 \\ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{O}(1) \\ \mathcal{O}(1) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, & |z| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.4.100)

uniformly in terms of $0 < t < t_0$ and $z \in \partial U_{z_0} \setminus \mathbb{T}$. Then we set

$$E(z) = N(z)W(z)^{-1}$$
. (3.4.101)

By utilizing the jump for N(z) and W(z), we can easily show that E(z) is analytic in the whole area \overline{U}_{z_0} of 1. Then, from (3.4.11) and (3.4.101), we get the following asymptotics:

$$E(z) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{O}(1) \\ \mathcal{O}(1) & 0 \end{pmatrix} n^{\beta_0 \sigma_3} \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty$$
(3.4.102)

uniformly for $0 < t < t_0$, and $z \in \partial U_{z_0}$. The asymptotics for the matching condition for

 $z\in\partial U_{z_0}$ can be obtained using this and (3.4.99):

$$P_{z_0}(z)N(z)^{-1} = E(z)(I + \mathcal{O}(1/n))E(z)^{-1}$$

= $I + n^{-\beta_0\sigma_3}\mathcal{O}(1/n)n^{\beta_0\sigma_3}$ as $n \to \infty$ (3.4.103)

for $0 < t < t_0$ uniformly. Thus, we conclude the construction of the local parametrix at z_0 holds if 2nt is away from the set $\{x_1, ..., x_k\}$.

The singularity at z_0 is removable because P_{z_0} has the same jump conditions as S(z), so $S(z)P_{z_0}(z)^{-1}$ is analytic in a neighborhood of $z_0 = 1$.

Now we will compute the first correction term $\Delta_1(z)$ in the asymptotic series in inverse powers of n:

$$P_{z_0}(z)N(z)^{-1} = I + \Delta_1(z) + n^{-\Re\beta_0\sigma_3}\mathcal{O}(1/n^2)n^{\Re\beta_0\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.104)

Then, utilising (3.4.98), (3.4.101) and (3.4.11), we obtain

$$P_{z_0}(z)N(z)^{-1} = \begin{cases} D(z)^{\sigma_3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} W(z)^{-1} \Phi(\lambda(z))W(z) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} D(z)^{-\sigma_3}, & |z| < 1 \\ D(z)^{\sigma_3}W(z)^{-1} \Phi(\lambda(z))W(z)D(z)^{-\sigma_3}, & |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4.105)$$

Denoting the elements of the matrix $\Phi(\lambda(z))$ by $= \Phi_{ij}$ for i, j = 1, 2, setting $G(\lambda(z), x) = G$, and applying (3.4.98), we get

$$P_{z_0}(z)N(z)^{-1} = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_{22} & D(z)^2 G^{-1} z^n f_t(z)^{-1} \phi_{21} \\ D(z)^{-2} G z^{-n} f_t(z) \Phi_{12} & \Phi_{11} \end{pmatrix} & \text{for} |z| < 1 \\ \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_{22} & D(z)^2 G^{-1} z^n f_t(z) \phi_{21} \\ D(z)^{-2} G z^{-n} f_t(z) \Phi_{12} & \Phi_{11} \end{pmatrix} & \text{for} |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4.106)$$

To figure out the asymptotic behaviour of these, the behaviour is evaluated as $z \to e^{\pm t}$. Choosing the convenient region $|z| \leq 1$ and taking $u = z - e^{\pm t} \to 0$, by the Szegő function defined in (3.4.13), we obtain,

$$D(z) = \begin{cases} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 - z_j^{-1} e^{-t})^{\alpha_j + \beta_j} (1 - e^{-2t})^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{t(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_k e^{-tk}\right\} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)) & \text{as } z \to e^{-t} \\ \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 - z_j e^{-t})^{-\alpha_j + \beta_j} (1 - e^{-2t})^{-\alpha_0 + \beta_0} \exp\left\{-\sum_{1}^{\infty} V_{-k} e^{-tk}\right\} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)) & \text{as } z \to e^t. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4.107)$$

By (3.4.91),

$$G(\lambda(z);x) = n^{2\beta_0} (\log \frac{z}{e^{-t}})^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} (\log \frac{z}{e^t})^{\alpha_0 - \beta_0} z^n e^{-i\pi(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}$$

$$= \begin{cases} n^{2\beta_0} u^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} e^{-t(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} (2t)^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{-tn} e^{2i\pi\beta_0} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)) & z \to e^{-t} \\ n^{2\beta_0} u^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{-t(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} (2t)^{-\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{tn} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)) & z \to e^t. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4.108)$$

Taking into account the symbols (3.1.1) and (3.4.19), we get

$$f(z;t) = \begin{cases} e^{V(e^{-t})} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1-z_{j}^{-1}e^{-t})^{2\alpha_{j}} e^{t(\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})} e^{i\pi(\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})} z_{j}^{(\alpha_{j}-\beta_{j})} \\ \times (1-e^{-2t})^{\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0}} u^{\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0}} e^{2t\alpha_{0}} (1+\mathcal{O}(u)), & z \to e^{-t} \\ e^{V(e^{t})} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1-z_{j}e^{-t})^{2\alpha_{j}} e^{t(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})} z_{j}^{-(\alpha_{j}+\beta_{j})} \\ \times (1-e^{-2t})^{-(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} u^{\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0}} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})} (1+\mathcal{O}(u)), & z \to e^{t}. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.109)

For what follows, we only need the Δ_{12} element of the Δ_1 matrix and by (3.4.106) we have

$$\Delta_{12} = D(z)^2 G^{-1} z^n f_t(z)^{-1} \Phi_{21}.$$

Putting all of this together with (3.4.97), we get the following as $z
ightarrow e^{-t}$,

$$(\Delta_{1}(z))_{12} = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 - z_{j}^{-1}e^{-t})^{2\beta_{j}} e^{-t(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} z_{j}^{-(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} e^{-2i\pi\beta_{0}}$$

$$\times (1 - e^{-2t})^{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_{k}e^{-tk}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{tk}\right\} \times n^{-2\beta_{0}} \quad (3.4.110)$$

$$\times (2t)^{-(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} e^{t(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} \Phi_{21}(\lambda(z))(1 + \mathcal{O}(u)),$$

and for $z \to e^t$, we have $\Delta_{12} = D(z)^2 G^{-1} z^n f_t(z) \Phi_{21}$ and

$$(\Delta_{1}(z))_{12} = \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 - z_{j}e^{-t})^{2\beta_{j}} e^{t(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} z_{j}^{-(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})}$$

$$\times (1 - e^{-2t})^{-(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{-tk}\right\} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_{k}e^{tk}\right\} \times n^{-2\beta_{0}}$$

$$\times (2t)^{(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} e^{-2i\beta_{0}} e^{t(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} \Phi_{21}(\lambda(z))(1 + \mathcal{O}(u)).$$
(3.4.111)

Next, we need to determine an appropriate asymptotics for $\Phi(\lambda, x)$ both when x is small and when x becomes large. For the limit $\hat{\lambda} \to \infty$, we obtain two asymptotic expansions:

$$\Phi(\hat{\lambda}) = I + \frac{\hat{C}_1}{\hat{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}(\hat{\lambda})^{-2}, \qquad (3.4.112)$$

of which one holds when x is small, say, $0 < x < \delta$, and the other holds when x > C, where C is positive, and $\hat{\lambda} = \lambda(z) \pm \frac{x}{2}$. We aim to find a \hat{C}_1 for the expansion in (3.4.112) that works for the two cases.

Asymptotics for Φ for large x

In [13] when x > C an expansion for the following function was obtained

$$\tilde{\Phi}(\xi) = \Phi(x\xi = \lambda; x). \tag{3.4.113}$$

The authors showed that

$$\tilde{C}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{x^{-2+2\alpha}e^{-x}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})\Gamma(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})} (1+\mathcal{O}(x^{-1})) & -x^{-1+\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0}}e^{-x/2}\frac{e^{-2i\pi\beta_{0}}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})} (1+\mathcal{O}(x^{-1})) \\ x^{-1+\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0}}e^{-x/2}\frac{e^{2i\pi\beta_{0}}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} (1+\mathcal{O}(x^{-1})) & \frac{-x^{-2+2\alpha}e^{-x}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})\Gamma(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})} (1+\mathcal{O}(x^{-1})) \end{pmatrix}$$

when when $\xi \to \infty$. Further, by applying the transformation $\xi \to \frac{\lambda}{x}$, we obtain the following expansion for Φ_{21} ,

$$\Phi_{21}(\lambda;x) = x^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{-x/2} \frac{e^{2\pi i \beta_0}}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} \lambda^{-1} (1 + \mathcal{O}(x^{-1})) + \mathcal{O}(x^2/\lambda^2), \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \to \infty \quad (3.4.114)$$

uniformly when x > C. Also, if we change $\lambda \to \lambda \pm \frac{x}{2}$, we get the following uniform

asymptotics for x > C:

$$\Phi_{21}(\hat{\lambda};x) = x^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{-x/2} \frac{e^{2\pi i \beta_0}}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} (\hat{\lambda})^{-1} (1 + \mathcal{O}(x^{-1})) + \mathcal{O}(x^2/\hat{\lambda}^2), \quad \text{as} \quad \hat{\lambda} \to \infty.$$
(3.4.115)

Asymptotics for Φ for small x

To obtain the asymptotics of the Ψ Riemann-Hilbert problem and the Φ Riemann-Hilbert problem as $x \to 0$, we will use the analysis in [13]. Returning to the Ψ Riemann-Hilbert problem, we will examine the following function:

$$\tilde{\Psi}(\tilde{\lambda}; x) = e^{x\sigma_3/2} x^{-\beta_0\sigma_3} \times \begin{cases} \Psi_I(\frac{\lambda}{x} + 1, x) & \text{for} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in I', \\ \Psi_{II}(\frac{\lambda}{x} + 1, x) & \text{for} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in III', \\ \Psi_{III}(\frac{\lambda}{x} + 1, x) & \text{for} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in III', \\ \Psi_{IV}(\frac{\lambda}{x} + 1, x) & \text{for} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in IV', \\ \Psi_V(\frac{\lambda}{x} + 1, x) & \text{for} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in V' \end{cases}$$
(3.4.116)

where $\tilde{\lambda}(z) = \lambda(z) - \frac{x}{2}$ and $\Psi_I, ..., \Psi_V$ are the analytic continuation of Ψ from I, ..., V to $\mathbb{C} \setminus [0, \infty)$.

Here, the contour is turned into a contour in the $\tilde{\lambda}$ -plane. In the ξ -plane, the contour is translated by half, and then by realising that $\xi(z) = \lambda(z)/x$. It is important to note that the point where the contour lines intersect is $\tilde{\lambda} = 0$ instead of $\xi = 1/2$.

Using the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Ψ , the following Riemann-Hilbert problem for $\tilde{\Psi}$ can be derived directly:

Riemann-Hilbert Problem for $\tilde{\Psi}$.

(RH- $\tilde{\Psi}1$): $\tilde{\Psi}$ is analytic for $\tilde{\lambda} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \tilde{\Gamma}$. Where $\tilde{\Gamma} = \cup_{j=1}^{6} \tilde{\Gamma}_{j}$ and

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_1 = e^{i\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^+, \tilde{\Gamma}_2 = e^{3i\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^+, \tilde{\Gamma}_3 = e^{5i\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^+$$

$$\tilde{\Gamma}_4 = e^{7i\pi/4} \mathbb{R}^+, \tilde{\Gamma}_5 = \mathbb{R}^+, \tilde{\Gamma}_6 = (-x, 0).$$

(RH- $\tilde{\Psi}2$): $\tilde{\Psi}$ has continuous boundary values on $\tilde{\Gamma} \setminus \{-x, 0\}$ with the following jump conditions:

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{+}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \tilde{\Psi}_{-}(\tilde{\lambda}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e^{i\pi(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Gamma}_{1},$$
(3.4.117)

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{+}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \tilde{\Psi}_{-}(\tilde{\lambda}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ -e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Gamma}_{2},$$
(3.4.118)

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{+}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \tilde{\Psi}_{-}(\tilde{\lambda}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ e^{i\pi(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Gamma}_{3},$$
(3.4.119)

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{+}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \tilde{\Psi}_{-}(\tilde{\lambda}) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Gamma}_{4},$$
(3.4.120)

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{+}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \tilde{\Psi}_{-}(\tilde{\lambda})e^{2\pi i\beta_{0}\sigma_{3}} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Gamma}_{5},$$
(3.4.121)

$$\tilde{\Psi}_{+}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \tilde{\Psi}_{-}(\tilde{\lambda})e^{-\pi i(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})\sigma_{3}} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Gamma}_{6}.$$
(3.4.122)

 $(\tilde{\Psi}3):$ As $\tilde{\lambda}\to\infty$, it exhibits the following asymptotic behaviour:

$$\tilde{\Psi}(\tilde{\lambda}) = (I + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\lambda}^{-1}))\tilde{\lambda}^{-\beta_0 \sigma_3} e^{-\tilde{\lambda} \sigma_3/2}.$$
(3.4.123)

 $(\tilde{\Psi}4):$ Near these points, it has the following behaviour:

$$\Psi(\tilde{\lambda}) = \mathcal{O}\begin{pmatrix} |\tilde{\lambda} + x|^{\frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2}} & |\tilde{\lambda} + x|^{-\frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2}} \\ |\tilde{\lambda} + x|^{\frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2}} & |\tilde{\lambda} + x|^{-\frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2}} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{as} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \to -x, \qquad (3.4.124)$$

$$\Psi(\tilde{\lambda}) = \mathcal{O} \begin{pmatrix} |\tilde{\lambda}|^{-\frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2}} & |\tilde{\lambda}|^{\frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2}} \\ |\tilde{\lambda}|^{-\frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2}} & |\tilde{\lambda}|^{\frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2}} \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{as} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \to 0, \tilde{\lambda} \in I', V'.$$
(3.4.125)

For the asymptotics in other sections, we can apply appropriate jump conditions in (3.4.125). In [13], the $\tilde{\Psi}$ Riemann-Hilbert problem was solved by using the steepest descent method. The authors constructed the global and local parametrix for small x, then matched them on the boundary U_{ϵ} of $\tilde{\lambda} = 0$ that also contains [-x, 0]. They obtained the following asymptotics for 21 element of $\Phi(\lambda; x)$:

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{21}(\tilde{\lambda}) &= e^{x/4} e^{2i\pi\beta_0} (\tilde{\lambda} + x)^{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} \tilde{\lambda}^{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)/2} e^{\tilde{\lambda}/2} e^{x/4} e^{-\tilde{\lambda}/2} \\ &\times \frac{\Gamma(1 + \alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} \tilde{\lambda}^{-\beta_0} \tilde{\lambda}^{-1} (1 + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\lambda}^{-1})) \\ &= e^{x/2} e^{2i\pi\beta_0} \frac{\Gamma(1 + \alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} \tilde{\lambda}^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} (1 + \frac{x}{\tilde{\lambda}})^{-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} \tilde{\lambda}^{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)/2} \tilde{\lambda}^{-1} \quad (3.4.126) \\ &\times (1 + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\lambda}^{-1})) \\ &= e^{x/2} e^{2i\pi\beta_0} \frac{\Gamma(1 + \alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} \tilde{\lambda}^{-1} (1 + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\lambda}^{-1})), \quad \text{as} \quad \tilde{\lambda} \to \infty \end{split}$$

uniformly for x sufficiently small. Also by translating $\tilde{\lambda}=\lambda'-x$ we obtain,

$$\Phi_{21}(\lambda') = e^{x/2} e^{2i\pi\beta_0} \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_0+\beta_0)}{\Gamma(\alpha_0-\beta_0)} \lambda'^{-1} \left(1+\mathcal{O}(\lambda'^{-1})\right) \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda' \to \infty,$$
(3.4.127)

uniformly for small x.

Now we introduce the following function as in [33]:

$$K(x) = e^{\frac{x}{2}} \int_{x}^{\infty} y^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} e^{-y} dy,$$
(3.4.128)

which has the following behaviour,

$$K(x) \sim \begin{cases} e^{-\frac{x}{2}} x^{\alpha_0 + \beta_0} & \text{as} \quad x \to \infty \\ e^{\frac{x}{2}} \Gamma(1 + \alpha_0 + \beta_0) & \text{as} \quad x \to 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.129)

As a result, we may express $\Phi_{21}(\hat{\lambda}; x)$ for a fixed x using K(x), which holds true asymptotically for both large and small values of x. From (3.4.115), (3.4.126), and (3.4.127) we obtain

$$\Phi_{21}(\hat{\lambda};x) = \frac{e^{2i\pi\beta_0}}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} K(x)(\hat{\lambda})^{-1} + \mathcal{O}\left((\hat{\lambda})^{-2}\right) \quad \text{as} \quad \hat{\lambda} \to \infty.$$
(3.4.130)
In addition, we observe that for t fixed, if $x=2nt, \quad \tilde{\lambda}=n\log\frac{z}{e^t}$ and $\lambda'=n\log\frac{z}{e^{-t}}$,

$$\frac{1}{\tilde{\lambda}} = \frac{e^t}{n(z - e^t)} + \mathcal{O}(z - e^t), \quad z \to e^t,$$
(3.4.131)

and

$$\frac{1}{\lambda'} = \frac{e^{-t}}{n(z - e^{-t})} + \mathcal{O}(z - e^{-t}), \quad z \to e^{-t}.$$
(3.4.132)

Then, we derive the expression for $(\Delta_1(z))_{12}$ by combining the results from (3.4.110), (3.4.111), and (3.4.126), (3.4.127) for $z \to e^{\pm t}$, respectively.

$$(\Delta_{1}(z))_{12} = \tilde{\lambda}^{-1} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 - z_{j}^{-1}e^{-t})^{2\beta_{j}} e^{t(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} z_{j}^{-(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} \times (1 - e^{-2t})^{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}} \exp\{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_{k}e^{-tk}\} \exp\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{tk}\}$$
(3.4.133)
$$\times (2t)^{\alpha_{0}\beta_{0}} e^{t(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} \frac{n^{-2\beta_{0}}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} K(2nt).$$
$$(\Delta_{1}(z))_{12} = \lambda'^{-1} \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1 - z_{j}^{-1}e^{-t})^{2\beta_{j}} e^{-t(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} z_{j}^{-(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} \times (1 - e^{-2t})^{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}} \exp\{\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_{k}e^{-tk}\} \exp\{-\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{tk}\}$$
(3.4.134)

$$\times (2t)^{-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} e^{t(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} \frac{n^{-2\beta_0}}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} K(2nt).$$

3.4.6 The small norm Riemann-Hilbert problem

Let us define the following matrix-valued function R(z) of the final transformation for the original problem

$$R(z) = \begin{cases} S(z)N^{-1}(z), & z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus U_{z_j} \cup U_{z_0} \cup \Gamma, \\ S(z)P_{z_j}^{-1}(z), & z \in U_{z_j}, \\ S(z)P_{z_0}^{-1}(z), & z \in U_{z_0}. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.135)



Figure 3.4: The Final RH problem

Remark 3.4.4. So far, we have shown that the determinants of $P_{z_j}(z)$, $P_{z_0}(z)$, and N(z) are all one, and so they are invertible. Also, we have verified that $S(z)P_{z_j}^{-1}(z)$, j = 0, ..., m are analytic in U_{z_j} and that the jumps matrices of S(z) agree with the function N(z) on $\mathbb{C} \setminus U_{z_j} \cup U_{z_0} \cup \Gamma$.

The following Riemann-Hilbert problem is solved by the function R(z) using the preceding remark:

(RH-R1): R(z) is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \Gamma \to \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$, where $\Gamma = \cup_{j=0}^{m} \partial U_{z_j} \cup_{j=0}^{m} \Sigma_j \cup_{j=0}^{m}$.

(RH-R2): R(z) satisfies the jump condition

$$R_{+}(z) = R_{-}(z)V_{R}(z), \quad z \in \Gamma$$
 (3.4.136)

with

$$V_{R}(z) = N(z)V_{k}(z)N(z)^{-1} \quad \text{with} \quad \begin{cases} z \in \bigcup_{j=0}^{m} \Sigma_{j} & \text{if} \quad k = 1 \\ z \in \bigcup_{j=0}^{m} \Sigma_{j}'' & \text{if} \quad k = 2, \end{cases}$$
(3.4.137)

where

$$V_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^{-k} f_t(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad V_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^k f_t(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the jump conditions on ∂U_{z_0} and ∂U_{z_j} are given by

$$V_R(z) = \begin{cases} P_{z_j}(z)N^{-1}(z), & z \in \partial U_{z_j}, \ j = 1, ..., m \\ P_{z_0}(z)N^{-1}(z), & z \in \partial U_{z_0}. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.138)

(RH-R3): The function behaves as follows as $z \to \infty$:

$$R(z) = I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1}). \tag{3.4.139}$$

Remark 3.4.5. The jump matrices on Σ and Σ'' in (3.4.137) behave in the way we require, that is, these matrices uniformly converge to the identity matrix at an exponential rate.

$$R_{+}(z) = R_{-}(z) \left(I + \mathcal{O}(e^{-\epsilon n}) \right) \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty,$$
(3.4.140)

for a positive constant ϵ , with $0 < t < t_0$ and $x \notin \{x_1, ..., x_k\}$.

Regarding the jump matrix on the contour ∂U_{z_j} , where j = 1, ..., m, it can be observed that these matrices exhibit a uniform expansion in the inverse power of n which is further conjugated by $n^{\beta_j \sigma_3} z_j^{-n \sigma_3/2}$,

$$V_R(z) = I + \Delta_1(z) + \Delta_2(z) + \dots + \Delta_k(z) + \Delta_{k+1}^{(r)}(z) \quad \text{for} \quad z \in \partial U_{z_j}$$
(3.4.141)

where $\Delta_k(z) = z_j^{n\sigma_3/2} n^{-\sigma_3\beta_j} \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}) n^{\sigma_3\beta_j} z_j^{-n\sigma_3/2} = \mathcal{O}(n^{2\max_j |\Re\beta_j|-k})$. Similarly, on the contour ∂U_{z_0} ,

$$P_{z_0}(z)N(z)^{-1} = I + \Delta_1(z) + \dots + \Delta_k(z) + \Delta_{k+1}^{(r)}(z) \quad \text{for} \quad z \in \partial U_{z_0}.$$
(3.4.142)

The condition $V_R = I + o(1)$ is required to get at the solution, which implies that $\Re \beta_j$ and $\Re \beta_0$ are inside the interval (-1/2, 1/2). Using (3.4.70) and (3.4.103), it can be observed that the jump matrices in (3.4.138) converge uniformly to the identity matrix I + o(1). Consequently, we conclude that

$$R_{+}(z) = R_{-}(z) \left(I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}) \right)$$
 as $n \to \infty$, (3.4.143)

uniformly on ∂U_{z_j} .

Therefore, by using the asymptotic behaviour of the jump matrices in (3.4.140), and (3.4.143), we have

$$R(z) = I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}) \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty, \tag{3.4.144}$$

uniformly on $\mathbb{C} \setminus \Gamma = \cup_{j=0}^m \partial U_{z_j} \cup_{j=0}^m \Sigma_j \cup_{j=0}^m \Sigma_j''.$

Thus, the problem is a small norm problem in the case of the Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics, and the Neumann series provides its solution (see, Theorem 7.8 of [19]):

$$R(z) = I + \sum_{p=1}^{k} R_p(z) + R_{k+1}^{(r)}.$$
(3.4.145)

However, in the case of the Basor-Tracy conjecture when $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$, the behaviour of R(z) in (3.4.145) does not meet the requirements because $\Re\beta_j \notin (-1/2, 1/2)$. In order to address these particular cases, we will consider the Riemann-Hilbert problem for R(z) as presented in [19]. Let

$$\hat{R}(z) = n^{\omega\sigma_3} R(z) n^{-\omega\sigma_3},$$
(3.4.146)

where

$$\omega = \frac{1}{2} (\min_{j} \Re \beta_j + \max_{j} \Re \beta_j).$$
(3.4.147)

By this transformation, all $\Re \beta_j$ are moved into the strip (-1/2, 1/2), which makes the asymptotics of the jump matrices above behave as I + o(1).

Let us examine how the change in (3.4.146) affects the jump conditions of the Riemann-

Hilbert problem for R(z):

$$\hat{R} = n^{\omega\sigma_3}R_+(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3} = n^{\omega\sigma_3}R_-(z)V_R(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3}$$

$$= n^{\omega\sigma_3}R_-(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3}n^{\omega\sigma_3}V_R(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3} \qquad (3.4.148)$$

$$= \hat{R}_-n^{\omega\sigma_3}V_R(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3}$$

By this transformation, the jump matrices on the contours Σ and Σ'' have the same asymptotic behaviour as in the jump matrix for R in (3.4.140) but with different ϵ , $V_R(z) = I + O(e^{-\epsilon n})$. The jump matrices on ∂U_{z_j} , j = 0, ..., m have the form

$$\hat{R}_{+} = \hat{R}_{-} \Big(I + n^{\omega\sigma_{3}} \Delta_{1}(z) n^{-\omega\sigma_{3}} + \dots + n^{\omega\sigma_{3}} \Delta_{k}(z) n^{-\omega\sigma_{3}} + n^{\omega\sigma_{3}} \Delta_{k+1}^{(r)}(z) n^{-\omega\sigma_{3}} \Big).$$
(3.4.149)

Each term is of order $\mathcal{O}(n^{2\max_j |\Re\beta_j - \omega| - k})$ and behaves asymptotically as I + o(1).

Therefore, the Riemann-Hilbert problem for \hat{R} is solvable for $\Re \beta_j \in (q - 1/2, q + 1/2)$, $j = 0, \ldots, m, q \in \mathbb{R}$, and the Neumann series

$$\hat{R}(z) = I + \sum_{p=1}^{k} \hat{R}_p(z) + \hat{R}_{k+1}^{(r)}(z)$$
(3.4.150)

provides the solution.

The function $\hat{R}_p(z)$ is repeatedly evaluated. The function $\hat{R}_p(z)$ is analytic outside of the boundary of $\bigcup_{j=0}^m \partial U_{z_j}$, $\hat{R}_p(z) \to 0$ at infinity for all p and satisfies

$$\hat{R}_{p,+}(z) = \hat{R}_{p,-}(z) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \hat{R}_{p-i,-}(z) n^{\omega\sigma_3} \Delta_i(z) n^{-\omega\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.151)

We set $\hat{R}_0(z) = I$. The Riemann-Hilbert problem for $\hat{R}_1(z)$ satisfies the following conditions:

(RH- $\hat{R_1}$ 1): $\hat{R_1}: \mathbb{C} \setminus \cup_{j=0}^m \partial U_{z_j} \to \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ is analytic

(RH- $\hat{R_1}$ 2): $\hat{R_1}(z)$ has the following jump conditions on the boundary of $\cup_{j=0}^m \partial U_{z_j}$,

$$\hat{R}_{1,+}(z) = \hat{R}_{1,-}(z) + n^{\omega\sigma_3}\Delta_1(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.152)

(RH- $\hat{R_1}3$): It has following behaviour as $z \to \infty$,

$$\hat{R}_1(z) \to 0.$$
 (3.4.153)

We recall the transformation (3.4.146) to solve the problem, which gives us

$$R_p(z) = n^{-\omega\sigma_3} \hat{R}_p(z) n^{\omega\sigma_3}, \quad R_p^{(r)}(z) = n^{-\omega\sigma_3} \hat{R}_p^{(r)}(z) n^{\omega\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.154)

Then, by applying the Plemelj formulas (see 2.6.2) and the residue theorem to this additive Riemann-Hilbert problem, we obtain:

$$R_{1}(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial U} \frac{\Delta_{1}(x)dx}{x-z}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \frac{A_{k}}{z-z_{k}} + \frac{A_{e^{t}}}{z-e^{t}} + \frac{A_{e^{-t}}}{z-e^{-t}} & z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \bigcup_{j=0}^{m} U_{z_{j}} \\ \sum_{k=1}^{m} \frac{A_{k}}{z-z_{k}} + \frac{A_{e^{t}}}{z-e^{t}} + \frac{A_{e^{-t}}}{z-e^{-t}} - \Delta_{1} & z \in U_{z_{j}}, \end{cases}$$
(3.4.155)

where A_k , $A_{e^{\pm t}}$ are the coefficients in the Laurent expansion of

$$\Delta_1(z) = \frac{A_k}{z - z_k} + B_k + \mathcal{O}(z - z_k), \quad z \to z_k \quad k = 1, ..., m,$$
(3.4.156)

and

$$\Delta_1(z) = \frac{A_{e^{\pm t}}}{z - e^{\pm t}} + B_{e^{\pm t}} + \mathcal{O}(z - e^{\pm t}) \quad \text{as } z \to e^{\pm t}.$$
 (3.4.157)

The coefficients A_k , and $A_{e^{\pm t}}$ are given below. The 12 entries of $\Delta_1(z)$ of each parametrix at z_j and $e^{\pm t}$ were computed by (3.4.74), (3.4.133), and (3.4.134), we compute the 12 elements of the matrices A_k , and $A_{e^{\pm t}}$ by using those in conjunction with (3.4.75), (3.4.131), and

(3.4.132), respectively. We have

$$A_{k} \equiv A_{k}^{(n)} = \frac{z_{j}}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} z_{j}^{n} e^{V_{0}} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k} z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} z_{j}^{-k}\right\} (1 - z_{j} e^{-t})^{(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} \\ \times (1 - e^{-t} z_{j}^{-1})^{-(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} \times e^{t(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} \times \prod_{k \neq j} \left(\frac{z_{j}}{z_{k}}\right)^{\alpha_{k}} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2\beta_{k}} \\ \times \exp\left\{-i\pi\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \alpha_{k} - \sum_{k=j+1}^{m} \alpha_{k}\right)\right\} n^{-2\beta_{j}} \frac{\Gamma(1 + \alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u)),$$

$$(3.4.158)$$

$$A_{e^{-t}} = \frac{e^{-t}}{n} \prod_{j=1}^{m} e^{V_0} (1 - z_j^{-1} e^{-t})^{2\beta_j} (1 - e^{-2t})^{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_k e^{-tk}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} e^{tk}\right\}$$
$$\times e^{t(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} e^{-t(\alpha_j - \beta_j)} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_j - \beta_j)} z_j^{-(\alpha_j - \beta_j)} (2t)^{-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} \frac{n^{-2\beta_0}}{\Gamma(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)} K(2nt)(1 + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})),$$
(3.4.159)

and

$$A_{e^{t}} = \frac{e^{t}}{n} \prod_{j=1}^{m} e^{V_{0}} (1 - z_{j} e^{-t})^{2\beta_{j}} (1 - e^{-2t})^{-(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k} e^{tk}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} e^{-tk}\right\}$$
$$\times e^{t(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})} e^{t(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} z_{j}^{-(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})} (2t)^{(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} \frac{n^{-2\beta_{0}}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})} K(2nt)(1 + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})).$$
(3.4.160)

We note that the coefficients B_k and $B_{e^{\pm t}}$ are easy to compute but are not needed in what follows.

Now we consider the Riemann-Hilbert problem for $\hat{R}_2(z)$:

(RH-
$$\hat{R}_2$$
1): $\hat{R}_2 : \mathbb{C} \setminus \cup_{j=0}^m \partial U_{z_j} \to \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ is analytic.

(RH- $\hat{R_2}$ 2): It has the following jump conditions on $z\in \cup_{j=0}^m\partial U_{z_j}$,

$$\hat{R}_{2,+}(z) = \hat{R}_{2,-}(z) + \hat{R}_{1,-}(z)\omega\sigma_3\Delta_1(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3} + \omega\sigma_3\Delta_2(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_3}.$$
(3.4.161)

(RH- \hat{R}_2 3): As $z \to \infty$,

$$\hat{R}_2(z) \to 0.$$
 (3.4.162)

By analysing the following integral and once again using the Plemelj formulas, we can show that

$$\hat{R}_{2}(z) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial U} (\hat{R}_{1,-}(z)\omega\sigma_{3}\Delta_{1}(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_{3}} + \omega\sigma_{3}\Delta_{2}(z)n^{-\omega\sigma_{3}}) \frac{dx}{x-z}$$
(3.4.163)

solves the preceding Riemann-Hilbert problem.

Further, by observing that each $\Delta_k(z) = \mathcal{O}(n^{2\max_j |\Re\beta_j|-k})$, similarly to [16], we get

$$\hat{R}_{k+1}^{(r)} = \mathcal{O}(|\hat{R}_{k+1}(z)|) + \mathcal{O}(|\hat{R}_{k+2}(z)|).$$
(3.4.164)

In particular,

$$R_{3}^{(r)}(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O}(\frac{\delta}{n}) + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{2}) & \mathcal{O}(\delta \max_{k} \frac{n^{-2\Re\beta_{k}}}{n}) \\ \mathcal{O}(\delta \max_{k} \frac{n^{2\Re\beta_{k}}}{n}) & \mathcal{O}(\frac{\delta}{n}) + \mathcal{O}(\delta^{2}), \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.4.165)

where

$$\delta = \max_{j,k} n^{2\Re(\beta_j - \beta_k - 1)}.$$
(3.4.166)

3.5 The case of the Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics

We now go back to the OPs and prove Theorem 3.2.1 by retracing the steps $Y \to T \to S \to R$, and using the solution of the Riemann-Hilbert problem for R(z). In the case of asymptotic behaviour for the Toeplitz determinant with respect to the symbol (3.1.1) if $|||\beta^{(t)}||| < 1$, we have the following uniform asymptotics for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Gamma$:

$$\hat{R}(z) = I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}) \quad \text{as} \quad n \to \infty.$$
(3.5.1)

We are only concerned with the solution near $z = e^t$ and $z = e^{-t}$ as required by the differential identity that we discuss next.

3.5.1 Differential identity

A differential identity will be used to connect Toeplitz determinants with the Riemann-Hilbert problem for orthogonal polynomials with respect to the symbol $f_t(z)$ as seen in the following result.

Lemma 3.5.1. Let t > 0, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and assume that the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Y(z; n, t) is solvable with respect to $f_t(z)$. Then $D_n(f_t) \neq 0$ and the following differential identity holds:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\log D_n(t) = -(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)e^t(Y^{-1}\frac{dY}{dz})_{22}(e^t) + (\alpha_0 - \beta_0)e^{-t}(Y^{-1}\frac{dY}{dz})_{22}(e^{-t}), \quad (3.5.2)$$

where $(Y^{-1}\frac{dY}{dz})_{22}(\xi)$ represents the 22 entry of the matrix obtained by multiplying the two matrices $Y^{-1}(z)$ and $\frac{dY}{dz}(z)$ (each entry Y is differentiated with respect to z) and evaluating the product at $z = \xi$.

In [34], the identity was proved by using orthogonal polynomials, whereas in [13] the identity has been proved by using Fredholm integral operators.

Using the reverse transformation, we have

$$Y(z) = n^{-w\sigma_3} (I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})) n^{w\sigma_3} P_{z_0}$$

$$= n^{-w\sigma_3} (I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})) n^{w\sigma_3} D(z)^{\sigma_3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} W(z)^{-1} \Phi(z) W(z),$$
(3.5.3)

as $z \to e^{-t} \text{, and}$

$$Y(z) = n^{-w\sigma_3} (I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})) n^{w\sigma_3} P_{z_0} z^{n\sigma_3}$$

$$= n^{-w\sigma_3} (I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1})) n^{w\sigma_3} D(z)^{\sigma_3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} W(z)^{-1} \Phi(z) W(z)$$
(3.5.4)

 $\text{ as } z \to e^t.$

Using the asymptotics for $\hat{R}(z)$ in (3.5.1), we observe that the the preceding two limits are uniform for $0 < t < t_0$ when x = 2nt remains away from the set $\{x_0, x_1, ..., x_k\}$.

Using (3.5.3) and (3.5.4), we get

$$Y^{-1}Y_{z}^{'} = \begin{cases} P^{-1}P_{z}^{'} + P^{-1}(z)n^{-w\sigma_{3}}(I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}))^{-1}\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})_{z}^{'}n^{w\sigma_{3}}P(z) & \text{if} \quad z \to e^{-t} \\ n^{-w\sigma_{3}}P^{-1}(z)n^{-w\sigma_{3}}(I + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}))^{-1}\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})_{z}^{'}n^{w\sigma_{3}}P(z)z^{n\sigma_{3}} \\ + \frac{n\sigma_{3}}{z} + z^{-n\sigma_{3}}P^{-1}P_{z}^{'}z^{n\sigma_{3}} & \text{if} \quad z \to e^{t} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.5.5)$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$P^{-1}P_{z}^{'} = \begin{cases} \sigma_{3}\frac{A^{'}}{A} + W^{-1}\Phi^{-1}\Phi_{z}^{'}W - W^{-1}\Phi^{-1}\sigma_{3}\Phi W(\frac{A^{'}_{z}}{A} + \frac{D^{'}_{z}}{D}), & \text{near } e^{-t} \\ -\sigma_{3}\frac{A^{'}}{A} + W^{-1}\Phi^{-1}\Phi_{z}^{'}W - W^{-1}\Phi^{-1}\sigma_{3}\Phi W(\frac{A^{'}_{z}}{A} + \frac{D^{'}_{z}}{D}), & \text{near } e^{t}. \end{cases}$$
(3.5.6)

Define

$$A(z) = \begin{cases} -G(\lambda(z))^{-\frac{1}{2}} z^{\frac{n}{2}} f(z)^{-\frac{1}{2}}, & \text{ for } |z| < 1\\ G(\lambda(z))^{-\frac{1}{2}} z^{\frac{n}{2}} f(z)^{\frac{1}{2}}, & \text{ for } |z| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(3.5.7)

and note that W(z), which was defined in (3.4.98), can be rewritten as

$$W(z) = \begin{cases} A(z)^{\sigma_3} \sigma_3, & \text{ for } |z| < 1\\ A(z)^{\sigma_3} \sigma_1, & \text{ for } |z| > 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.5.8)

The derivative of ${\cal A}(z)$ can be expressed as follows:

$$A'(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}(\frac{n}{z}) \bigg[-(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)(n\log z + nt)^{-1} + (\alpha_0 + \beta_0)(n\log z - nt)^{-1} \bigg] A(z) \\ -\frac{1}{2}f^{-1}(z)f'(z)A(z) & \text{near} \quad e^{-t} \\ \frac{1}{2}(\frac{n}{z}) \bigg[(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)(n\log z + nt)^{-1} - (\alpha_0 + \beta_0)(n\log z - nt)^{-1} \bigg] A(z) \\ +\frac{1}{2}f^{-1}(z)f'(z)A(z) & \text{near} \quad e^t, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.5.9)$$

where

$$G^{-\frac{1}{2}}(\lambda(z))' = \left[(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)(n\log z + nt)^{-1} - (\alpha_0 + \beta_0)(n\log z - nt)^{-1} - 1 \right] \times \frac{1}{2} (\frac{n}{z}) G(\lambda(z))^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$
(3.5.10)

 and

$$f'_{z} = V'(z)f(z) - \sum_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})z^{-1}f(z) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\alpha_{j}(z - z_{j})^{-1}f(z) + (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})(z - e^{t})^{-1}f(z) + (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})(z - e^{-t})^{-1}f(z) - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})z^{-1}f(z).$$
(3.5.11)

Next we compute the derivative of $|z-z_j|^{2\alpha_j}$ using the function $h_{\alpha_j}(z)$ in (3.4.19) as follows:

$$(h_{\alpha_j})'(z) = \alpha_j (z - z_j)^{-1} h_{\alpha_j}(z) - \frac{\alpha_j}{2} z^{-1} h_{\alpha_j}(z).$$
 (3.5.12)

Consequently, by applying (3.5.7) and (3.5.9), we obtain

$$\frac{A'}{A}(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{4} e^{-t} + \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{4} e^{-t} \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \frac{1}{2} V'_z(e^t) - \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\alpha_j - \beta_j}{2} e^{-t} + \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j (e^t - z_j)^{-1} & \text{near} & e^t \\ \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{4} e^t + \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{4} e^t \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) - \frac{1}{2} V'_z(e^{-t}) + \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\alpha_j - \beta_j}{2} e^t - \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j (e^{-t} - z_j)^{-1} & \text{near} & e^{-t} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.5.13)$$

and

$$\frac{D'}{D}(z) = \begin{cases} \sum_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_j + \beta_j) \left(\frac{1}{e^{-t} - z_j}\right) - (\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \frac{1}{2\sinh t} + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} kV_k e^{-t(k-1)} & \text{for } z = e^{-t} \\ \sum_{j=1}^{m} (-\alpha_j + \beta_j) \left(\frac{z_j e^{-t}}{e^t - z_j}\right) - (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \frac{e^{-2t}}{2\sinh t} - \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} kV_k e^{t(k-1)} & \text{for } z = e^t \end{cases}$$
(3.5.14)

Then by using (3.5.6), we will get the 22 entry on $(P^{-1}P^{\prime})$ as follows:

$$(P^{-1}P')_{22}(e^{-t}) = -\frac{A'}{A}(e^{-t}) + (\Phi^{-1}\Phi'_z)_{22}(e^{-t}) - (\Phi^{-1}\sigma_3\Phi)_{22}(e^{-t}) \left[\frac{A'}{A}(e^{-t}) + \frac{D'}{D}(e^{-t})\right]$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$(P^{-1}P')_{22}(e^t) = \frac{A'}{A}(e^t) + (\Phi^{-1}\Phi'_z)_{11}(e^t) - (\Phi^{-1}\sigma_3\Phi)_{11}(e^t) \left[\frac{A'}{A}(e^t) + \frac{D'}{D}(e^t)\right]$$

Utilising the previous results and combining them with (3.5.6), we obtain

$$(e^{-t})(P^{-1}P')_{22}(e^{-t}) = -\frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{4} - \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{4} \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \frac{1}{2}e^{-t}V'_z(e^{-t}) - \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\alpha_j - \beta_j}{2} + \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \frac{e^{-t}}{(e^{-t} - z_j)} + e^{-t}(\Phi^{-1}\Phi'_z)_{22}(e^{-t}) - (\Phi^{-1}\sigma_3\Phi)_{22}(e^{-t}) \left[\frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{4} - \frac{1}{2}e^{-t}V'_z(e^{-t}) + \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{4}\left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\alpha_j - \beta_j}{2} + \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_j \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_j} + \sum_{k=1}^\infty kV_k e^{-tk} \right].$$
(3.5.15)

For $z = e^t$ we obtain,

$$(e^{t})(P^{-1}P')_{22}(e^{t}) = \frac{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}}{4} - \frac{\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0}}{4} \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \frac{1}{2}e^{t}V_{z}'(e^{t}) - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}}{2} \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_{j} \frac{e^{t}}{(e^{t} - z_{j})} + e^{t}(\Phi^{-1}\Phi_{z}')_{11}(e^{t}) - (\Phi^{-1}\sigma_{3}\Phi)_{11}(e^{t}) \left[\frac{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}}{4} + \frac{\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0}}{4} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \frac{1}{2}e^{t}V_{z}'(e^{t}) - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}}{2} \left(\frac{e^{t} + z_{j}}{2(e^{t} - z_{j})}\right) \\ + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_{j} \frac{e^{t}}{e^{t} - z_{j}} - \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} kV_{k}e^{tk} \right].$$

$$(3.5.16)$$

From (3.5.5) we obtain,

$$e^{-t}(Y^{-1}Y')_{22}(e^{-t}) = e^{-t}(P^{-1}P')_{22}(e^{-t}) + \left(\hat{\Phi^{-1}}(t)\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})\hat{\Phi}(t)\right)_{22},$$

where $n^{\beta\sigma_3}P(e^t) = \hat{\Phi}(t)n^{\beta\sigma_3}$ and $\hat{\Phi}(t)$ is bounded in n as long as $\Phi(\frac{x}{2})$ is bounded. Then

we find

$$e^{-t}(Y^{-1}Y')_{22}(e^{-t}) = -\frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{4} - \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{4} \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \frac{1}{2}e^{-t}V'_z(e^{-t}) - \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\alpha_j - \beta_j}{2} + \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \frac{e^{-t}}{(e^{-t} - z_j)} + e^{-t}(\Phi^{-1}\Phi'_z)_{22}(e^{-t}) - (\Phi^{-1}\sigma_3\Phi)_{22}(e^{-t}) \left[\frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{4} - \frac{1}{2}e^{-t}V'_z(e^{-t}) + \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{\alpha_j - \beta_j}{2} + \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{4} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_j \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_j} + \sum_{k=1}^\infty kV_k e^{-tk} \right] + \left(\hat{\Phi}^{-1}(t)\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})\hat{\Phi}(t)\right)_{22},$$
(3.5.17)

and near $z = e^t$, we have

$$e^{t}(Y^{-1}Y')_{22}(e^{t}) = -n + \frac{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}}{4} + \frac{\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0}}{4} \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \frac{1}{2}e^{t}V_{z}'(e^{t}) - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}}{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_{j} \frac{e^{t}}{e^{t} - z_{j}} + e^{t}(\Phi^{-1}\Phi_{z}')_{11}(e^{t}) - (\Phi^{-1}\sigma_{3}\Phi)_{11}(e^{t}) \left[\frac{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}}{4} + \frac{\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0}}{4} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \frac{1}{2}e^{t}V_{z}'(e^{t}) - \sum_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j}) \left(\frac{e^{t} + z_{j}}{2(e^{t} - z_{j})}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \alpha_{j} \frac{e^{t}}{e^{t} - z_{j}} - \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} kV_{k}e^{tk} \right] + \left(\Phi^{-1}(t)\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})\Phi(t)\right)_{22}.$$

$$(3.5.18)$$

Using the differential identity (3.5.2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt} \log D_n(t) &= -(\alpha_0 + \beta_0) e^t (Y^{-1} \frac{dY}{dz})_{22}(e^t) + (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) e^{-t} (Y^{-1} \frac{dY}{dz})_{22}(e^{-t}) \\ &= n(\alpha_0 + \beta_0) - \frac{\alpha_0^2 + \beta_0^2}{2} - \frac{\alpha_0^2 - \beta_0^2}{2} \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \beta_0 \sum_{j=1}^m (\alpha_j - \beta_j) \\ &- \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} e^t V_z'(e^t) + \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} e^{-t} V_z'(e^{-t}) + \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \left[-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \frac{e^t}{e^t - z_j} \right] \\ &+ (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_j} \right] + 2wn + \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} (\Phi^{-1} \sigma_3 \Phi)_{11}(e^t) \left[\frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t} \right) + e^t V_z'(e^t) - \sum_{j=1}^m (\alpha_j - \beta_j) \left(\frac{e^t + z_j}{(e^t - z_j)} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^m 2\alpha_j \frac{e^t}{e^t - z_j} - 2 \sum_{k=-\infty}^{-1} kV_k e^{tk} \right] - \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} (\Phi^{-1} \sigma_3 \Phi)_{22} \left[\frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t} \right) - e^{-t} V_z'(e^{-t}) + \sum_{j=1}^m (\alpha_j - \beta_j) + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\alpha_j \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_j} \\ &+ 2 \sum_{k=1}^\infty kV_k e^{-tk} \right] + (\Phi^{-1}(t)\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})\Phi(t))_{22}, \end{split}$$

where

$$w(x) = -\frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2} (\Phi^{-1} \Phi'_{\lambda})_{11}(\frac{x}{2}) + \frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2} (\Phi^{-1} \Phi'_{\lambda})_{22}(\frac{x}{2}).$$
(3.5.19)

We now recall some results on Painlevé V obtained in [13] that will be needed in what follows.

Proposition 3.5.2 (Proposition 4.4 of [13])). Set

$$a(\xi;x) = (\Psi(\xi;x)\sigma_3\Psi^{-1}(\xi;x))_{11} = -(\Psi(\xi;x)\sigma_3\Psi^{-1}(\xi;x))_{22}.$$
(3.5.20)

Then we have the following identities,

$$\frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2}a(0; x) = A_{0,11} = -v(x) + \frac{(\alpha_0 - \beta_0)}{2},$$
(2.5.21)

$$\frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2}a(1;x) = -A_{1,11} = -v(x) + \frac{(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)}{2}.$$
(3.5.22)

Proposition 3.5.3 (Proposition 4.5, [13]). Let w(x) be defined as in (3.5.18). Then

$$v(x) = -(xw(x))'$$
 (3.5.23)

$$\sigma(x) = xw(x) \tag{3.5.24}$$

$$\sigma(x) = \int_{x}^{\infty} v(\xi) d\xi.$$
(3.5.25)

Now, applying the previous two propositions, we arrive at the following:

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dt} \log D_n(t) &= n(\alpha_0 + \beta_0) - \frac{\alpha_0^2 + \beta_0^2}{2} - \frac{\alpha_0^2 - \beta_0^2}{2} \left(\frac{1}{t} + \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + \beta_0 \sum_{j=1}^m (\alpha_j - \beta_j) \\ &- \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} e^t V_z'(e^t) + \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} e^{-t} V_z'(e^{-t}) + \sum_{j=1}^m \alpha_j \left[-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0) \frac{e^t}{e^t - z_j} \right] \\ &+ (\alpha_0 - \beta_0) \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_j} \right] + \frac{1}{t} \sigma(x) + \left(-v(x) + \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} \right) \left\{ \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} \right. \\ &+ \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t} \right) - \sum_{j=1}^m (\alpha_j - \beta_j) \frac{e^t + z_j}{e^t - z_j} + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\alpha_j \frac{e^t}{e^t - z_j} \right. \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^\infty k(V_k e^{tk} + V_{-k} e^{-tk}) \left\} + \left(-v(x) + \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} \right) \left\{ \frac{\alpha_0 - \beta_0}{2} \right. \\ &+ \frac{\alpha_0 + \beta_0}{2} \left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t} \right) - \sum_{j=1}^m (\alpha_j - \beta_j) + \sum_{j=1}^m 2\beta_j \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_j} \sum_{k=1}^\infty k(V_k e^{-tk} + V_{-k} e^{tk}) \right\}. \end{split}$$

The preceding expression can be simplified as follows:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\log D_{n}(t) = n(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}) - (\alpha_{0}^{2} - \beta_{0}^{2})\left(\frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}\right) + (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k(V_{-k}e^{tk}) + (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k(V_{k}e^{-tk}) \\
+ \frac{1}{t}\sigma(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})(\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\left(\frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_{j}}\right) - \sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\left(\frac{e^{t}}{e^{t} - z_{j}}\right) \\
- \sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0}) - v(x)\left[\alpha_{0} + \alpha_{0}(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t}) + 2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k\cosh kt(V_{k} + V_{-k})\right] \\
+ \sum_{j=1}^{m}2\beta_{j}(\frac{e^{t}}{e^{t} - z_{j}} + \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_{j}})\right] + \hat{\Phi}^{-1}(t)\mathcal{O}(n^{-1})\hat{\Phi}(t).$$
(3.5.26)

Using $\int_{\epsilon}^{t} \frac{d}{dt} \log D_n(\tau) d\tau = \log D_n(t) - \log D_n(\epsilon)$, where $0 < \epsilon < t < t_0$, and the following integrals

$$\int_{\epsilon}^{t} \frac{e^{\tau}}{e^{\tau} - z_{j}} d\tau = \log(1 - z_{j}e^{-t}) - \log(1 - z_{j}e^{-\epsilon}) + t - \epsilon.$$
(3.5.27)

$$\int_{\epsilon}^{t} \frac{e^{-\tau}}{e^{-\tau} - z_j} d\tau = -\log(\frac{z_j}{e^{i\pi}}) - \log(1 - z_j^{-1}e^{-t}) + \log(e^{-\epsilon} - z_j),$$
(3.5.28)

we obtain

$$\log D_{n}(t) = \log D_{n}(\epsilon) + n(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})(t - \epsilon) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k[V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}][V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}]$$

$$- \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} kV_{k}V_{-k} + (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{-\epsilon k} + (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{-\epsilon k} + \left((\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\right)$$

$$- (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\int_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})(t - \epsilon) - (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})\log(\frac{z_{j}}{e^{i\pi}})$$

$$+ (\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (\frac{z_{j}^{k}e^{-tk}}{k}) + (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (\frac{z_{j}^{-k}e^{-tk}}{k})$$

$$(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0})\sum_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_{j} - \beta_{j})\log(1 - z_{j}e^{-\epsilon}) + (\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0})\sum_{j=1}^{m} (\alpha_{j} + \beta_{j})\log(e^{-\epsilon} - z_{j})$$

$$+ \left[\int_{2n\epsilon}^{2nt} \frac{\sigma(x) - (\alpha_{0}^{2} - \beta_{0}^{2})}{x}dx + (\alpha_{0}^{2} - \beta_{0}^{2})\log(2nt) + (\alpha_{0}^{2} - \beta_{0}^{2})\log\left(\frac{n(1 - e^{-2\epsilon})}{2n\epsilon}\right)\right]$$

$$- (\alpha_{0}^{2} - \beta_{0}^{2})\log n + R_{n}(t) + \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}),$$

$$(3.5.29)$$

where

$$R_n(t) = -\int_{\epsilon}^{t} v(2nt) \bigg\{ \alpha_0 + \alpha_0 \bigg(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{e^{-t}}{\sinh t} \bigg) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} 2\beta_j \bigg(\frac{e^t}{e^t - z_j} + \frac{e^{-t}}{e^{-t} - z_j} \bigg) \bigg\}.$$
 (3.5.30)

In addition, as in [13], we have

$$|R_n(t)| < C \int_0^t |v(2nu)| du = \mathcal{O}(n^{-1}), \text{ as } n \to \infty, \quad 0 < t < t_0.$$
 (3.5.31)

Finally, after taking the limit $\epsilon \to 0$, using L'Hospital's rule for $\log\left(\frac{n(1-e^{-2\epsilon})}{2n\epsilon}\right)$ and performing some cancellations (recall that we take the branch of $\log z$ to be the negative real line), we obtain Theorem 3.2.1.

3.5.2 Emerging singularity at any point on the unit circle

Define $g_t(z):\mathbb{T}\to\mathbb{C}$ by

$$g_t(z) = e^{V(z)} (z - e^{t + i\vartheta})^{\alpha + \beta} (z - e^{-t + i\vartheta})^{\alpha - \beta} z^{-\alpha + \beta} e^{-i\pi(\alpha + \beta)}.$$
(3.5.32)

Now we will consider the asymptotic behaviour of Toeplitz determinants $D_n(g_t(z))$. Note that for t > 0, this symbol is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus ([0, e^{-t+i\vartheta_j}] \cup [e^{t+i\vartheta_j}, \infty])$. However, as $t \to 0$, the emerging singularity will appear at any point on the unit circle.

The Fourier coefficients of $\log g_t(z)$ can be easily computed and are given as follows:

$$(\log g_t)_0 = V_0 + (\alpha + \beta)(t + i\vartheta), \tag{3.5.33}$$

$$(\log g_t)_k = V_k - (\alpha + \beta) \frac{e^{-(t+i\vartheta)k}}{k},$$
 (3.5.34)

$$(\log g_t)_{-k} = V_{-k} - (\alpha - \beta) \frac{e^{-(t-i\vartheta)k}}{k}.$$
 (3.5.35)

The asymptotic study of $D_n(g_t(z))$ can be split into two cases:

1. For t > 0, by Theorem 2.3.3, as $n \to \infty$,

$$\log D_n(g_t(z)) = nV_0 + n(\alpha + \beta)(t + i\vartheta)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \Big[V_{-k} - (\alpha - \beta) \frac{e^{-tk - i\vartheta k}}{k} \Big] \Big[V_k - (\alpha + \beta) \frac{e^{-tk + i\vartheta k}}{k} \Big] + o(1).$$
(3.5.36)

2. For t = 0, by Theorem 2.4.2,

$$\log D_n(g_t(z)) = nV_0 + n(\alpha + \beta)(i\vartheta) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} kV_kV_{-k} - (\alpha + \beta)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{i\vartheta k}$$
$$- (\alpha - \beta)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_k e^{-i\vartheta k} + (\alpha^2 - \beta^2)\log n + \log G_{\alpha+\beta,\alpha-\beta} + o(1).$$
(3.5.37)

Note that (3.5.37) cannot be obtained from (3.5.36). To determine the asymptotics for Toeplitz determinants with respect to $g_t(z)$ that holds uniformly for $t \ge 0$, we apply the uniform asymptotic expansion for Toeplitz determinants in (2.7.2), using the Fourier coefficients for $g_t(z)$:

$$\log D_n(g_t(z)) = nV_0 + n(\alpha + \beta)(t + i\vartheta) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k \left[V_{-k} - (\alpha - \beta) \frac{e^{-tk - i\vartheta k}}{k} \right] \left[V_k - (\alpha + \beta) \frac{e^{-tk + i\vartheta k}}{k} + \log G_{\alpha + \beta, \alpha - \beta} + \Omega(2nt) + o(1),$$
(3.5.38)

where G(z) is the Barnes G-function (2.4.12), and $\Omega(2nt)$ is defined by

$$\tilde{\Omega}(2nt) = \exp\Omega(2nt) = \exp\left\{\int_0^{2nt} \frac{\sigma(x) - \alpha_0^2 + \beta_0^2}{x} dx + (\alpha^2 - \beta_0^2)\log 2nt\right\}.$$
 (3.5.39)

Recall that the function $\sigma(x)$, defined in (2.7.4), is related to Painlevé V transcendent.

Reconstructing Szegő and Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics

We can find the asymptotics in (3.5.36) and (3.5.37) from the formula in (3.5.38). To get Fisher-Hartwig asymptotics, we let $t \to 0$ and n be fixed. Next, we look at the function $\Omega(2nt)$ in (2.7.4), which yields the following asymptotics:

$$\Omega(2nt) = (\alpha^2 - \beta^2) \log (2nt) + o(1), \qquad (3.5.40)$$

in addition by applying the formula $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-2kt}}{k} = -\log(1 - e^{-2t})$, then (3.5.37) provides the asymptotics.

The expansion (3.5.38) should also match the Szegő asymptotics for fixed t. We can easily observe that for a fixed t, the $\mathcal{O}(n)$ -term produces the same term in the Szegő asymptotics. The similarity of the $\mathcal{O}(1)$ -terms, on the other hand, leads to an interesting identity involving the Painlevé function $\sigma(x)$ via (3.5.40),

$$\Omega(+\infty) = -\log G_{\alpha+\beta,\alpha-\beta} = -\log \frac{G(1+\alpha+\beta)G(1+\alpha-\beta)}{G(1+2\alpha)}.$$
(3.5.41)

3.6 The case of Basor-Tracy conjecture

Consider the asymptotic behaviour of the Toeplitz determinant $D_n(f_t(z))$ when the seminorm $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = \max_{1 \le j,k \le m} |\Re\beta_j - \Re\beta_k| = 1$. This means that $\Re\beta_0 = q - 1/2$ and $\Re\beta_j = q + 1/2$ can be expressed for some $q \in \mathbb{R}$, and $j \in \mathbb{N}$. To determine this asymptotics of $D_n(f_t(z))$ as $n \to \infty$ and $t \to 0$, we will investigate two possible cases:

- $1. \ \ \text{If} \ |||\beta_1,...,\beta_m||| < 1 \ \text{for} \ t > 0 \ \text{and} \ \text{at emerging singularity} \ |||\beta_0,...,\beta_m||| = 1$
- 2. If $|||\beta_1, ..., \beta_m||| = 1$ for t > 0 and at the emerging singularity $|||\beta_0, ..., \beta_m||| = 1$.

Remark 3.6.1. Note that if there are no jumps or less than two jump singularities, the Tracy-Basor conjecture will not be needed. Thus, we need to consider the case when $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$ because our symbol in (3.1.1) possesses m Fisher-Hartwig singularities when t > 0 and m + 1Fisher-Hartwig singularities when t = 0. For $|||\beta^{(t)}||| \ge 1$ when $0 < t < t_0$, this could be addressed in the same way as in [16].

3.6.1 The first case

Using Lemma 3.6.3 and some methods described in [16], we can deal with the case when the semi-norm equals one. Without loss of generality, and by relabeling β_j according to the increasing real component, we assume that

$$\Re\beta_0 < \Re\beta_1 \le \dots \le \Re\beta_{m-1} < \Re\beta_m. \tag{3.6.1}$$

Next, we introduce the symbol $f_t(z)$ as defined in (3.1.1), but replace the β_j parameters by $\tilde{\beta}_j$, j = 0, ..., m as follows:

- 1. $\tilde{\beta}_0 = \beta_0$,
- 2. $\tilde{\beta}_j = \beta_j$ for j = 1, ..., m 1,
- 3. $\tilde{\beta}_m = \beta_m 1.$

The symbol $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ satisfies $|||\tilde{\beta}_0, \tilde{\beta}_1, ..., \tilde{\beta_m}||| < 1$ and the asymptotic behaviour of Toeplitz determinants was computed in the previous section with β_j replaced by $\tilde{\beta}_j$. Subsequently,

our goal is to establish a link between the two symbols, namely the original symbol with $|||\beta^{(t)}||| = 1$ and $\tilde{f}(z,t)$, by utilizing the known asymptotics properties of $\tilde{f}(z,t)$.

Remark 3.6.2. If (3.6.1) holds, we can define a non-trivial Fisher-Hartwig representation by shifting β_0 by +1. Then, we can connect the symbol $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ by the symbol $\hat{f}_t(z)$ by the following relation:

$$\hat{f}_t(z) = (-1)\frac{z(z-e^t)}{(z-e^{-t})}\tilde{f}_t(z)$$
(3.6.2)

where $\hat{f}_t(z)$ satisfies the following

$$f_{t}(z) = e^{V(z)}(z - e^{t})^{\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0} + 1 - 1}(z - e^{-t})^{\alpha_{0} - \beta_{0} + 1 - 1}z^{-\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0} + 1 - 1}e^{-i\pi(\alpha_{0} + \beta_{0} + 1 - 1)}$$

$$\times z^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1}\beta_{j}}z^{\beta_{m} - 1 + 1} \times \prod_{1 < j < k < m-1} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2\alpha_{j}}g_{z_{j},\beta_{j}}z_{j}^{-\beta_{j}} \times |z_{m} - z_{k}|^{2\alpha_{m}}$$

$$\times g_{z_{m},\beta_{m} - 1 + 1}(z)z_{m}^{-\beta_{m} + 1 - 1}$$

$$= \frac{(z - e^{-t})}{(z - e^{t})}z_{m}^{-1}\hat{f}(z, t)$$
(3.6.3)

with parameters $\hat{\beta_0} = \beta_0 + 1$, $\hat{\beta_j} = \beta_j$, j = 1, ..., m - 1, and $\hat{\beta_m} = \beta_m - 1$.

Additionally, we can change $\tilde{\beta}_j$ in $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ back by +1; this is referred to as a trivial Fisher-Hartwig representation. Then we can use the following relation:

$$f(z,t) = (-1)zz_m^{-1}\tilde{f}(z,t)$$
(3.6.4)

Lemma 3.6.3 (Lemma 2.4 of [16]). Let $D_n(f)$ with respect to the symbol f(z) be nonzero for all $n \ge N_0$ with fixed $N_0 \ge 0$. Let $\Phi_k = \frac{\phi_k(z)}{\chi_k}$, $\hat{\Phi}_k = \frac{\hat{\phi}_k(z)}{\chi_k}$, with $k = N_0, N_0 + 1, \ldots$, be the system of monic polynomials orthogonal on the unit circle with the weight f(z). Fix l > 0. Thus if

$$F_{n} = \begin{vmatrix} \Phi_{k}(0) & \Phi_{k+1}(0) & \dots & \Phi_{k+l-1}(0) \\ \frac{d}{dz}\Phi_{k}(0) & \frac{d}{dz}\Phi_{k+1} & \dots & \frac{d}{dz}\Phi_{k+l-1}(0) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ \frac{d^{l-1}}{dz^{l-1}}\Phi_{k}(0) & \frac{d^{l-1}}{dz^{l-1}}\Phi_{k+1}(0) & \dots & \frac{d^{l-1}}{dz^{l-1}}\Phi_{k+l-1}(0) \end{vmatrix} \neq 0$$
(3.6.5)

we have

$$D_n(z^l f(z)) = \frac{(-1)^{ln} F_n}{\prod_{j=1}^{l-1} j!} D_n(f(z)), \quad n \ge N_0.$$
(3.6.6)

In particular, if l = 1, $\phi_k(0) \neq 0, k = N_0, N_0 + 1, ..., n - 1$, we have

$$D_n(zf(z)) = (-1)^n \frac{\phi_n(0)}{\chi_n} D_n(f(z)), \quad n \ge N_0.$$
(3.6.7)

Thus, using (3.6.7) and the relation in (3.6.4), we have

$$D_n\left((-1)zz_m^{-1}\tilde{f}(z,t)\right) = z_m^{-n}D_n(z\tilde{f}_t(z))$$

= $z_m^{-n}\frac{\phi_n(0)}{\chi_n}D_n(\tilde{f}_t(z))$ (3.6.8)

If Y is the solution of Riemann-Hilbert problem with respect to the symbol $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ in (3.3.1), then

$$Y_{11}(0) = \chi_n^{-1} \phi_n(0). \tag{3.6.9}$$

Using the final solution of Riemann-Hilbert problem R(z) and transformations $R(z) \mapsto S(z) \mapsto T(z) \mapsto Y(z)$, we get for |z| < 1

$$Y(z) = \left[I + R_1(z) + R_2(z) + R_3^{(r)}(z)\right] D(z)^{\sigma_3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.6.10)

which subsequently gives $R_{12}(0)$,

$$\frac{\phi_n(0)}{\chi_n} = Y_{11}(0) = -D(0)^{-1} \Big[R_{1,12}(0) + R_{2,12}(0) + \mathcal{O}\Big(\delta \max_k \frac{n^{-2\Re\beta_k}}{n}\Big) \Big].$$
(3.6.11)

Moreover, by (3.4.13), we have

$$D(0) = e^{V_0} e^{t(\alpha_0 + \hat{\beta}_0)}$$
(3.6.12)

and so

$$\frac{\phi_n(0)}{\chi_n} = D(0)^{-1} \bigg(\sum_{j=1}^m \frac{A_{j,12}^n}{z_j} + \frac{A_{e^t,12}}{e^t} + \frac{A_{e^{-t},12}}{e^{-t}} + \mathcal{O}\big(\delta \max_k \frac{n^{-2\Re\beta_k}}{n}\big) \bigg).$$
(3.6.13)

Using (3.4.13), (3.4.158), (3.4.159), and (3.4.160), we obtain the asymptotics of OPs with respect to $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ as follows:

$$\frac{\phi_{n}(0)}{\chi_{n}} = \left[\sum_{j=1}^{m} z_{j}^{n} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[V_{k} - (\alpha_{0} + \tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right] z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[V_{-k} - (\alpha_{0} - \tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right] z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\
\times n^{-2\tilde{\beta}_{j}-1} \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})} \times \nu_{j} + \mathcal{O}\left(\left[\delta+\frac{1}{n}\right]n^{-2\Re\tilde{\beta}_{j}-1}\right) + \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1-z_{j}e^{-t})^{2\tilde{\beta}_{j}} \\
\times (1-e^{-2t})^{-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})} \times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k}e^{tk}\right\} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{-tk}\right\} \times \left(e^{-i\pi}e^{t}z_{j}^{-1}\right)^{(\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j})} \\
\times (2t)^{\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}} \frac{n^{-2\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})} K(2nt) + \prod_{j=1}^{m} (1-z_{j}^{-1}e^{-t})^{2\tilde{\beta}_{j}} \times (1-e^{-2t})^{(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})} \times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k}e^{-tk}\right\} \\
\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}e^{tk}\right\} \left(e^{-i\pi}e^{-t}z_{j}^{-1}\right)^{(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})} \times (2t)^{-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})} \frac{n^{-2\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})} K(2nt)\right] (1+o(1)),$$
(3.6.14)

where $\nu_j = \prod_{k \neq j} \left(\frac{z_j}{z_k e^{i\pi}}\right)^{\alpha_k} |z_j - z_k|^{2\tilde{\beta_k}}$. Using Lemma 3.6.3, we have

$$D_n(f_t(z)) = z_m^{-n} \times \left\{ D(0)^{-1} \left(\frac{A_{m,12}^n}{z_m} + \frac{A_{e^t,12}}{e^t} + \frac{A_{e^{-t},12}}{e^{-t}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\delta \max_k \frac{n^{-2\Re\beta_k}}{n}\right) \right) \right\} D_n(\tilde{f}_t(z))$$
(3.6.15)

After a simple computation, and by using the following expression

$$\exp\left\{\log(1-z)^{\alpha\pm\beta}\right\} = \exp\left\{-\left(\alpha\pm\beta\right)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\frac{z^k}{k}\right\}, \quad \text{for} \quad |z|<1.$$

In addition, based on the properties and definition of the Barnes G-function, the following equation was used:

$$G_{\alpha_j+\beta_j+1,\alpha_j-\beta_j-1} = \frac{\Gamma(1+\alpha_j+\beta_j)}{\Gamma(\alpha_j-\beta_j)}G_{\alpha_j+\beta_j,\alpha_j-\beta_j}.$$
(3.6.16)

we conclude that,

$$\begin{split} D_{n}(f_{t}(z)) &= D_{n}\left(f(z;\alpha_{0},\alpha_{j},\alpha_{m},\tilde{\beta}_{0},\tilde{\beta}_{j},\tilde{\beta}_{m}+1)\right) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt)(1+o(1)) \\ &+ z_{m}^{-n}\left[\exp\left\{nV_{0}+nt(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\right\}\exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0}+1)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right] \\ &\times \left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right\} \times n^{\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}^{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j}^{j})} \times n^{-2\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m-1}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0}+1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{m}^{k}\right\} \\ &- (\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \times \exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{m}-\tilde{\beta}_{m}\right)\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0}+1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{m}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times (1-e^{t}z_{m}^{-1})^{\alpha_{m}+\tilde{\beta}_{m}} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \prod_{1\leq j\leq k< m}\left|z_{j}-z_{k}\right|^{2\left(\beta_{k}\tilde{\beta}_{j}-\alpha_{j}\alpha_{k}\right)}\left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}e^{i\pi}}\right)^{\left(\alpha_{j}\beta_{k}-\alpha_{k}\tilde{\beta}_{j}\right)} \times k(2nt) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt) \\ &+ \exp\left\{nV_{0}+nt(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\right\} \times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\}\exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1\right)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right\}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\}\exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1\right)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right\}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\}\exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1\right)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right\}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\}\exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1\right)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right\}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{m}V_{-k}e^{tk}\right\}\times\prod_{j=1}^{m}G_{\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j},\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j}}\times\frac{G_{\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0}+1,\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})}\times n^{\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}^{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j}^{j})}n^{-2\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1} \\ &\times (2t)^{-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})}\times(1-e^{t}z_{m})^{-(\alpha_{m}-\tilde{\beta}_{m})}\times k(2nt)\times\prod_{1\leq j\leq k$$

Recalling the relation between $\beta_j,\, \tilde{\beta_j},\, {\rm and}\,\, \hat{\beta_j}$ for j=0,...,m , we get

$$\begin{split} D_{n}(f_{t}(z)) &= D_{n}\left(f(z;\alpha_{0},\alpha_{j},\alpha_{m},\beta_{0},\beta_{j},\beta_{m})\right) \times \bar{\Omega}(2nt)(1+o(1)) \\ &+ z_{m}^{-n}\left[\exp\left\{nV_{0}+nt(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\right\}\exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\hat{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right] \\ &\times \left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right\} \times n\Sigma_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}^{2}-\hat{\beta}_{j}^{2}) \times n^{-2\beta_{0}-1} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m-1}(\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{m}^{k}\right\} \\ &- (\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}z_{m}^{k}\right\} \times \exp\left\{-(\alpha_{m}-\hat{\beta}_{m})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\hat{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{m}^{k}\right\} \\ &(1-e^{t}z_{m}^{-1})^{\alpha_{m}+\hat{\beta}_{m}} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}+\hat{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \prod_{j=1}^{m}G_{\alpha_{j}+\hat{\beta}_{j},\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j}} \times \frac{G_{\alpha_{0}+\hat{\beta}_{0},\alpha_{0}-\hat{\beta}_{0}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})} \times (2t)^{\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0}} \times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}V_{k}e^{tk}\right\} \\ &\times \prod_{1\leq j\leq k< m}|z_{j}-z_{k}|^{2\left(\beta_{k}\hat{\beta}_{j}-\alpha_{j}\alpha_{k}\right)}\left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}e^{i\pi}}\right)^{\left(\alpha_{j}\beta_{k}-\alpha_{k}\beta_{j}\right)} \times k(2nt) \times \bar{\Omega}(2nt) \\ &+ \exp\left\{nV_{0}+nt(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\right\} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}k\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\hat{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{0}-\hat{\beta}_{0}\right)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right\}z_{m}^{m}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{0}-\hat{\beta}_{0}\right)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right\right]z_{m}^{m}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\left(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0}\right)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right\}z_{m}^{m}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[Q_{\alpha_{j}+\hat{\beta}_{j},\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j}} \times \frac{G_{\alpha_{j}+\hat{\beta}_{0},\alpha_{j}-\hat{\beta}_{j}}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})} \times n\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}^{2}-\beta_{j}^{2})n^{-2\beta_{0}-1}} \\ &\times (2t)^{-(\alpha_{0}+\beta_{0})} \times (1-e^{t}z_{m})^{-(\alpha_{m}-\hat{\beta}_{m})} \times k(2nt) \times \prod_{1\leq j\leq k$$

By Simplifying the expression (3.6.17), we obtain

$$D_n(f_t(z)) = R\left(f(z;\beta_0,\beta_j,\beta_m)\right) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt)(1+o(1))$$

$$+ \left(z_m^{-n}\right)^n \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt) \times \frac{K(2nt)}{e^{nt}} \times \frac{n^{-2\beta_0-1}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha_0+\beta_0)}$$

$$\times (1-e^{-2t})^{-2\beta_0-1} \Sigma'(t) \times R\left(f(z;\hat{\beta}_0,\hat{\beta}_j,\hat{\beta}_m)\right) \left(1+o(1)\right)$$
(3.6.19)

where $R\left(f(z;\hat{\beta}_0,\hat{\beta}_j,\hat{\beta}_m)\right)$ corresponds to the RHS of (3.2.1) for symbol f with $\hat{\beta}$'s parameters and without the error term nor $\tilde{\Omega}(2nt)$, and

$$\Sigma'(t) = \left[\left(\frac{z_m - e^t}{z_m - e^{-t}} \right)^{\alpha_m + \hat{\beta}_m} \exp\left\{ 2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_k(\sinh(tk)) \right\} \left(\frac{2t}{1 - e^{-2t}} \right)^{\alpha_0 - \beta_0} \\ \times (1 - e^{-t} z_j)^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} (\alpha_j - \hat{\beta}_j)} \times (1 - e^{-t} z_j^{-1})^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} - (\alpha_j + \hat{\beta}_j)} \\ + \left(\frac{z_m - e^t}{z_m - e^{-t}} \right)^{\alpha_m - \hat{\beta}_m} \exp\left\{ -2\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k}(\sinh(tk)) \right\} \times \left(\frac{2t}{1 - e^{-2t}} \right)^{-(\alpha_0 + \beta_0)} \\ \times (1 - e^{-t} z_j)^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} (\alpha_j - \hat{\beta}_j)} \times (1 - e^{-t} z_j^{-1})^{\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} (\alpha_j + \hat{\beta}_j)} \right].$$
(3.6.20)

Now, we will assume that we have more than one maximum of $\Re \beta_j$ and that l = 2. Then, by rewriting the real parts of β_j in an increasing order, we have

$$\Re\beta_0 < \Re\beta_1 \le \dots \le \Re\beta_{m-2} < \Re\beta_{m-1} = \Re\beta_m \tag{3.6.21}$$

Define the function $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ by the following changes:

$$\Re ilde{eta}_j = \Reeta_j$$
 for $j=0,...,m-2$, $\Re ilde{eta}_j = \Reeta_j - 1$ for $j=m-1,m$,

and

$$f(z,t) = z^2 \prod_{j=m-1}^{m} z_j^{-1} \tilde{f}_t(z), \qquad (3.6.22)$$

which can be dealt with using Lemma 3.6.3. Then we must evalute the determinants $F_n, n > 1$

 N_0 for a sufficiently large $N_0>0.$ By using (3.4.155) and (3.6.11), we have

$$\frac{\phi_{n+r}(0)}{\chi_{n+r}} = D(0)^{-1} \rho_{n+r}(0), \qquad (3.6.23)$$

$$\rho_{n+r}(z) = -\sum_{k=1}^{m} \frac{A_{k,12}^{n+r}}{z-z_k} - \frac{A_{e^t,12}}{z-e^t} - \frac{A_{e^{-t},12}}{z-e^{-t}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\delta \max_k \frac{n^{-2\Re\beta_k}}{n}\right).$$

This expansion is uniform and differentiable at z = 0 and

$$F_n = D(0)^{-2} \begin{vmatrix} \rho_n(0) & \rho_{n+1}(0) \\ \frac{d}{dz}\rho_n(0) & \frac{d}{dz}\rho_{n+1}(0) \end{vmatrix}.$$
 (3.6.24)

Then we obtain the derivative of $\rho(z)$ in (3.6.24) as $|||\Re\tilde{\beta}_j - \Re\tilde{\beta}_k||| < 1$ and $\alpha_j \pm \tilde{\beta}_k \notin \mathbb{Z}_-$,

$$\rho_{n+r}(0) = \sum_{j=m-1}^{m} d_j z_j^{n+r} + \frac{A_{e^t,12}}{e^t} + \frac{A_{e^{-t},12}}{e^{-t}} + \mathcal{O}\left(\delta \max_k \frac{n^{-2\Re\beta_k}}{n}\right)$$
(3.6.25)

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\frac{d^s}{dz^s}\rho_{n+r}(0) = s! \sum_{j=m-1}^m d_j z_j^{n+r-s} + \mathcal{O}([\delta + \frac{1}{n}]n^{-2\Re\tilde{\beta}_j - 1})$$
(3.6.26)

where

$$d_{j} = (1 - z_{j}e^{-t})^{(\alpha_{0} + \tilde{\beta}_{0})} \times (1 - e^{-t}z_{j}^{-1})^{-(\alpha_{0} - \tilde{\beta}_{0})} \times e^{t(\alpha_{0} + \tilde{\beta}_{0})}n^{-2\tilde{\beta}_{j} - 1} \times \mu_{j} \frac{\Gamma(1 + \alpha_{j} + \tilde{\beta}_{j})}{\Gamma(\alpha_{j} - \tilde{\beta}_{j})} (1 + \mathcal{O}(u))$$
(3.6.27)

and

$$\mu_{j} = e^{V_{0}} \frac{\exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{k} z_{j}^{k}\right\}}{\exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} V_{-k} z_{j}^{-k}\right\}} \exp\left\{-i\pi\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j-1} \alpha_{k} - \sum_{k=j+1}^{m} \alpha_{k}\right)\right\} \prod_{k \neq j} \left(\frac{z_{j}}{z_{k}}\right)^{\alpha_{k}} |z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2\beta_{k}}.$$
(3.6.28)

When these expressions are substituted into the determinant F_n and we use (3.4.159),

(3.4.160), we obtain

$$F_{n} = D(0)^{-2} \bigg[d_{m-1} d_{m} z_{m-1}^{n} z_{m-1}^{n} |z_{m-1} - z_{m}|^{2} + \bigg(\sum_{j=m-1}^{m} d_{j} z_{j}^{n} - \sum_{j=m-1}^{m} d_{j} z_{j}^{n-1} \bigg) \times \bigg(\frac{A_{e^{t},12}}{e^{t}} + \frac{A_{e^{-t},12}}{e^{-t}} \bigg) \bigg] (1 + o(1)).$$
(3.6.29)

Consequently, we have

$$D_n(z^2 \tilde{f}_t(z)) = \prod_{j=m-1}^m z_j^{-n} D(0)^{-2} \bigg[d_{m-1} d_m z_{m-1}^n z_m^n |z_{m-1} - z_m|^2$$

$$+ \bigg(\sum_{j=m-1}^m d_j z_j^n - \sum_{j=m-1}^m d_j z_j^{n-1} \bigg) \times \bigg(\frac{A_{e^t,12}}{e^t} + \frac{A_{e^{-t},12}}{e^{-t}} \bigg) \bigg] D_n(\tilde{f}_t(z))(1+o(1))$$
(3.6.30)

Then, using the previous results Theorem 3.2.1 with seminorm less than one for $(D_n(f_t(z)))$

relative to \tilde{eta} -parameters and substituting them in (3.6.30), we get

$$\begin{split} D_{n}(f_{l}(z)) &= D_{n}\left(f(z;\alpha_{0},\alpha_{j},\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_{m},\tilde{\beta}_{0},\tilde{\beta}_{j},\tilde{\beta}_{m-1}+1,\tilde{\beta}_{m}+1)\right) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt)(1+o(1)) \\ &+ \left(\prod_{j=m-1}^{m} z_{j}^{-n}\right) \left[\exp\left\{nV_{0}+nt(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\right\} \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0}+1)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right] \\ &\times \left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]\right\} \times n\Sigma_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}^{2}-\tilde{\beta}_{j}^{3}) \times n^{-2\beta_{0}-1} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m-2}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0}+1)\frac{e^{-kt}}{k}\right]z_{k}^{k}\right\} \\ &\times \left[\prod_{j=m-1}^{m}(1-e^{t}z_{j}^{-1})^{\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j}} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=m-1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \prod_{j=m-1}^{m}(1-e^{t}z_{j}^{-1})^{\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j}} \times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \prod_{1\leq j\leq k< m}\left|z_{j}-z_{k}\right|^{2} \binom{\beta_{k}\tilde{\beta}_{j}-\alpha_{j}\alpha_{k}}{\Gamma(1+\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})} \left(\frac{z_{k}}{z_{j}e^{i\pi}}\right)^{\left(\alpha_{j}\beta_{k}-\alpha_{k}\tilde{\beta}_{j}\right)} \times k(2nt) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt) \\ &+ \exp\left\{nV_{0}+nt(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\right\} \times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{k}-(\alpha_{0}+\tilde{\beta}_{0})\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{j=1}^{m}(\alpha_{j}-\tilde{\beta}_{j})\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j}\right]\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{-k}e^{tk}\right\}\right\} \prod_{j=1}^{m}\left[\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j}\right]\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{-k}e^{tk}\right\}\right\} \prod_{j=1}^{m}\left[\alpha_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j}\right]\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{-k}-(\alpha_{0}-\tilde{\beta}_{0}-1)\frac{e^{-tk}}{k}\right]z_{j}^{k}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{-k}e^{tk}\right\}\right\} \prod_{j=1}^{m}\left[\Omega_{j}+\tilde{\beta}_{j}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\} \\ &\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^{m}\left[V_{-k}e^{tk}\right]z_{j}^{-k}\right\}$$

where,

$$v_{j} = \exp\left\{-i\pi\left(\sum_{k=1}^{j-1}\alpha_{k} - \sum_{k=j+1}^{m}\alpha_{k}\right)\right\}\prod_{k\neq j}\left(\frac{z_{j}}{z_{k}}\right)^{\alpha_{k}}|z_{j} - z_{k}|^{2\tilde{\beta}_{k}}.$$
(3.6.32)

Then by simplifying the last equation, we have

$$D_{n}(f_{t}(z)) = D_{n}\left(f(z;\alpha_{0},\alpha_{j},\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_{m},\tilde{\beta}_{0},\tilde{\beta}_{j},\tilde{\beta}_{m-1}+1,\tilde{\beta}_{m}+1)\right) \times \tilde{\Omega}(2nt)(1+o(1)) + D_{n}\left(f(z;\alpha_{0},\alpha_{j},\alpha_{m-1},\alpha_{m},\tilde{\beta}_{0},\tilde{\beta}_{j},\tilde{\beta}_{m-1}+1,\tilde{\beta}_{m}+1)\right) \times n^{-2\beta_{0}-1}K(2nt)\tilde{\Omega}(2nt) \times \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha_{0}-\beta_{0})} \prod_{j=m-1}^{m} \left(z_{j}^{-n}\right)^{n} \sum_{j=m-1}^{m} (z_{j}^{n}-z_{j}^{n-1})\Sigma(t)(1+o(1))$$

$$(3.6.33)$$

where

$$\Sigma(t) = \left(\frac{2t}{1-e^{-2t}}\right)^{\alpha_0-\beta_0} \prod_{j=m-1}^m (1-e^t z_j^{-1})^{\alpha_j+\tilde{\beta}_j} (1-e^{-t} z_j)^{-(\alpha_j-\tilde{\beta}_j)} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{-tk} V_{-k}\right\}$$

$$\times \exp\left\{\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{-tk} V_k\right\} + \left(\frac{1-e^{-2t}}{2t}\right)^{\alpha_0+\beta_0} \prod_{j=m-1}^m (1-e^t z_j)^{-(\alpha_j-\tilde{\beta}_j)} (1-e^{-t} z_j^{-1})^{\alpha_j+\tilde{\beta}_j}$$

$$\times \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{-tk} V_k\right\} \exp\left\{-\sum_{k=1}^\infty e^{tk} V_{-k}\right\}.$$
(3.6.34)

3.6.2 The second case

Suppose that $|||\beta_1, ..., \beta_m||| = 1$ for t > 0 and at the emerging singularity $|||\beta_0, ..., \beta_m||| = 1$. This will be divided to two possible subcases. Case 1: $\Re \beta_0 = \min{\{\Re \beta_j : 1 \le j \le m\}}$ or $\Re \beta_0 = \max{\{\Re \beta_j : 1 \le j \le m\}}$, and Case 2: $\min{\Re \beta_j} < \Re \beta_0 < \max{\Re \beta_j}$.

Let us assume without loss of generality , and by relabeling β_j according to the increasing real part, we get

$$\Re\beta_0 = \Re\beta_1 = \ldots = \Re\beta_p < \Re\beta_{p+1} = \ldots = \Re\beta_{m-l} < \Re\beta_{m-l+1} = \ldots = \Re\beta_m$$

Then, using the same procedure as in the first case where $|||\beta_1, ..., \beta_m||| < 1$ for t > 0 and at the emerging singularity $|||\beta_0, ..., \beta_m||| = 1$, we will define $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ with $|||\tilde{\beta}^{(t)}||| < 1$, and we

will compute the asymptotics for the original $f_t(z)$ using the asymptotic behaviour of Toeplitz determinants with respect to $\tilde{f}_t(z)$ and

$$f_t(z) = (-1)^l \prod_{j=1}^l z_j^{-1} z^l \tilde{f}_t(z).$$
(3.6.35)

Then, by using (3.6.35) and Lemma 3.6.3, we get

$$D_n(f_t(z)) = (-1)^{n(l+1)} \prod_{j=1}^l z_j^{-n} \frac{F_n}{\prod_{j=1}^{l-1} j!} D_n(\tilde{f}_t(z)).$$
(3.6.36)

For example, if we assume that l = 2 this gives us the same result as in (3.6.33).

For the case when $\min \Re \beta_j < \Re \beta_0 < \max \Re \beta_j$, the above gives us the result proved in Theorem 1.13 of [16].

3.7 Open problems

- In [5], the authors computed the asymptotic expansion for Toeplitz determinants with matrix-valued symbols that possess jump singularities β_j when |||β||| < 1. However, it is still an open problem to describe the asymptotics for Toeplitz determinants in the block case when |||β||| = 1. In addition, in the block case, there is no description of the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants D_n(f) when the symbol possesses root type singularities α_j ≠ 0.
- 2. It would also be interesting to compute the double-scaling limits of Toeplitz determinants with scalar symbols using operator theoretic methods, where the main difficulty is related to the connection with the Painlevé V equations (see [16] for how the connection can be obtained using the Riemann-Hilbert approach).
- Finally, notice that so far there is no description of double-scaling limits of Toeplitz determinants with matrix-valued symbols using operator theoretic or Riemann-Hilbert methods.

Chapter 4

Ising correlations above the critical temperature

The characterization of the diagonal and horizontal two-point correlation functions in the 2D Ising model using the Toeplitz determinant and other means is considered to be one of the most remarkable and groundbreaking results in statistical mechanics. In the physics and mathematics literature, it is proven that at $T = T_c$ the correlation functions decay like $n^{-1/4}$ and the double scaling limit as $n \to \infty$ and $T \nearrow T_c$ is described by a special Painlevé V transcendent. In the high-temperature regime, it is known that the correlations decay exponentially fast in physics and it has been described briefly in [17]. In this chapter, we will extend the description of this behaviour by using the Riemann-Hilbert approach for the diagonal directions.

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, our analysis is based on the Riemann-Hilbert problem. We will connect Toeplitz determinants to orthogonal polynomials $\phi_n(z)$ and $\hat{\phi}_n(z^{-1})$ which satisfy the conditions in (2.5.1) with respect to the symbol $\eta(z)$ on the unit circle, and is given by

$$\eta(z;t) = e^{i\pi/2}(z-k)^{-1/2}(z-k^{-1})^{1/2}z^{1/2}$$
(4.1.1)

Then we find the asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants by analyzing the corresponding Riemann-Hilbert problem.

4.1.1 Riemann-Hilbert problem for OPUC with Szegő typesymbols

Recalling the matrix-valued function (3.3.1), as in Chapter 3, Y(z) is the unique solution to the following Riemann-Hilbert problem with respect to the Szegő-type symbol.

RH-Y1: $Y : \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ is analytic,

RH-Y2: Let $z \in \mathbb{T} \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} z_j$, where $j = 1, \dots, m$, Y(z) has continuous boundary values $Y_+(z)$ and $Y_-(z)$, related by the jump condition

$$Y_{+}(z) = Y_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & z^{-n} \eta(z) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad z \in \mathbb{T},$$
(4.1.2)

RH-Y3: It has the following asymptotic behaviour as $z \to \infty$:

$$Y(z) = (I + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{z})) \begin{pmatrix} z^n & 0\\ 0 & z^{-n} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.1.3)

4.1.2 Solution for Riemann-Hilbert problem Y(z)

Here, again we solve the Riemann-Hilbert problem for Y(z) using the steepest descent technique [21]. The standard steepest descent has been introduced in the Appendices of [4]. To begin, we define T(z) to normalize the function at $z \to \infty$ as follows:

$$T(z) = Y(z) \begin{cases} z^{-n\sigma_3} & : |z| > 1 \\ I & . \\ I & . |z| < 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.1.4)

This solves the following Riemann-Hilbert problem:

RH-T1: It is analytic for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$,

•



Figure 4.1: R-H problem for S(z)

RH-T2: The jump condition on $z \in \mathbb{T}$ is

$$T_{+}(z) = T_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} z^{n} & \eta(z) \\ 0 & z^{-n} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.1.5)

RH-T3: As $z \to \infty$, the function has the following behaviour:

$$T(z) = \left(I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})\right).$$

The next step will deform the unit circle to solve the oscillations in the jump matrix (4.1.5) when $n \to \infty$. Let

$$S(z) = \begin{cases} T(z), & \text{for } z \in \Omega_0 \cup \Omega_\infty, \\ T(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \eta(z)^{-1}z^{-n} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, & \text{for } z \in \Omega_2, \\ T(z) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -\eta(z)^{-1}z^n & 1 \end{pmatrix}, & \text{for } z \in \Omega_1 \end{cases}$$
(4.1.6)

where we factorize the jump matrix as follows:

$$\begin{pmatrix} z^n & \eta(z) \\ 0 & z^{-n} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^{-n}\eta(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \eta(z) \\ -\eta(z)^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^n\eta(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.1.7)
$$= J_1(z,n)J^{(\infty)}J_2(z,n).$$

Observe that the matrices J_1 and J_2 tend to the identity matrix uniformly on their respective contours, and exponentially quickly as $n \to \infty$. The function S(z) can be used to solve the following Riemann-Hilbert problem:

 $\mathsf{RH-S1:}\ S(z) \text{ is analytic for } z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Gamma_s \text{, where } \Gamma_s = \Gamma_0 \cup \mathbb{T} \cup \Gamma_1 \text{,}$

RH-S2: The boundary values are defined by the following jump conditions:

$$S_+(z) = S_-(z)J_s(z,n), \quad z \in \Gamma_s,$$

where

$$J_{s}(z,n) = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^{-n}\eta(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, & z \in \Gamma_{0} \\ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \eta(z) \\ -\eta(z)^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, & z \in \mathbb{T} \\ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ z^{n}\eta(z)^{-1} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, & z \in \Gamma_{1} \end{cases}$$
(4.1.8)

RH-S3: It has the following asymptotic behaviour as $z \to \infty$:

$$S(z) = \left(I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})\right).$$

4.1.3 Global parametrix N(z)

We assume the following Riemann-Hilbert problem for N(z).

RH-N1: It is analytic for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$,

RH-N2: The boundary values are determined by the following jump conditions:

$$N_{+}(z) = N_{-}(z) \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \eta(z) \\ -\eta^{-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ for } z \in \mathbb{T},$$
(4.1.9)

RH-N3: As $z \to \infty$, the function has the following behaviour:

$$N(z) = (I + \mathcal{O}(z^{-1})).$$
(4.1.10)

The above Riemann-Hilbert problem for N(z) has the following unique solution:

$$N(z) = \begin{cases} D(z)^{\sigma_3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, & \text{ for } |z| < 1 \\ D(z)^{\sigma_3}, & \text{ for } |z| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.1.11)

where D(z) is the unique function related to $\eta(z)$, it is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{T}$ with the following jump condition:

$$D_{+}(z)D_{-}^{-1}(z) = \eta(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{T}.$$
 (4.1.12)

By the Plemelj-Sokhotski formulas, we have

$$D(z) = \exp\left[\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{\log(\eta(s))ds}{s-z}\right].$$
(4.1.13)

The function D(z) (Szegő function) has the following behaviour as $z \to \infty$:

$$D(z) = 1 + \mathcal{O}(1/z).$$

4.1.4 Small Riemann-Hilbert problem

Let us introduce the function

$$R(z,n) = S(z,n)N^{-1}(z,n).$$
(4.1.14)

The Riemann-Hilbert problem for R(z) is given as follows:

RH-R1
$$R(z)$$
 is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus (\Gamma_1 \cup \Gamma_0)$,
RH-R2 $R_+(z,n) = R_-(z,n)J_R(z,n), \quad z \in \Gamma_0 \cup \Gamma_1 = \Sigma_R$,
RH-R3 $R(z,n) = I + \mathcal{O}(1/z)$ as $z \to \infty$.

For large n, this Riemann-Hilbert problem is solvable and it can be written as follows:

$$R(z,n) = I + R_1(z,n) + R_2(z,n) + \cdots,$$
(4.1.15)

where for $k\geq 1$

$$R_{k}(z,n) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \frac{[R_{k-1}(\tau;n)] - (J_{R}(\tau;n) - I)}{\tau - z} d\tau, \quad z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Sigma_{R}.$$
(4.1.16)

In order to calculate $R_1(z,n)$, we have

$$J_R - I = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & z^n \eta^{-1}(z)\beta^2(z) \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, & z \in \Gamma_0, \\ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ z^{-n} \eta^{-1}(z)\beta^{-2}(z) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, & z \in \Gamma_1. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.17)

Thus, we obtain

$$R_1(z,n) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{-1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_0} \frac{\tau^n \eta^{-1}(\tau)\beta^2(\tau)}{\tau-z} d\tau \\ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\Gamma_1} \frac{\tau^{-n} \eta^{-1}(\tau)\beta^{-2}(\tau)}{\tau-z} d\tau & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.1.18)
The Riemann-Hilbert problems for Y(z) can be solved by going back to the steps $R \to S \to T \to Y.$ Indeed,

$$Y(z,n) = R(z,n) \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} D(z) & 0 \\ 0 & D^{-1}(z) \end{pmatrix} z^{n\sigma_3}, & z \in \Omega_{\infty} \\ \begin{pmatrix} D(z) & 0 \\ -z^{-n}D^{-1}(z)\eta^{-1}(z) & D^{-1}(z) \end{pmatrix} z^{n\sigma_3}, & z \in \Omega_2 \\ -z^{-n}D^{-1}(z)\eta^{-1}(z) & D^{-1}(z) \end{pmatrix} , & z \in \Omega_1 \\ \begin{pmatrix} z^n D(z)\eta^{-1}(z) & 0 \\ -D^{-1}(z) & 0 \end{pmatrix} z^{n\sigma_3}, & z \in \Omega_0 \\ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & D(z) \\ -D^{-1}(z) & 0 \end{pmatrix} z^{n\sigma_3}, & z \in \Omega_0 \end{cases}$$

where for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \Sigma_R$, we have

$$R(z,n) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\rho^{-2n}}{1+|z|}) & R_{1,12}(z,n) + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\rho^{-3n}}{1+|z|}) \\ R_{1,21} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\rho^{-3n}}{1+|z|}) & 1 + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\rho^{-2n}}{1+|z|}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$
(4.1.20)

4.2 Ising models and Toeplitz determinants

One of the most important models in statistical mechanics is the 2D Ising model (See [17]), which was solved by Onsager in [41]. It is a $2M \times 2N$ rectangular lattice of \mathbb{Z}^2 that involves the interactions of random spins σ_i and σ_j taking values 1 and -1 at each site (i, j), where $-M \leq i \leq M - 1$, and $-N \leq j \leq N - 1$. The number of possible spin configurations of the lattice related to values of σ_{ij} is 2^{MN} . The nearest neighbour spins interactions are the most interesting, and the total interaction energy is given by

$$E(\sigma) = -\sum_{j=-M}^{M-1} \sum_{i=-N}^{N-1} \left(J_h \sigma_{ji} \sigma_{ji+1} + J_v \sigma_{ji} \sigma_{j+1i} \right), \quad J_h, J_v > 0,$$
(4.2.1)

where J_h, J_v are the horizontal and vertical interaction as the nearest constants What do you mean by this sentence?. The system is called ferromagnetic, i.e., parallel spins, if J_h and J_v are positive. It has lower energy than the anti-parallel spins, where J_h and J_v are negative. The associated normalized Gibbs measure is given by

$$Pr(\sigma) = \frac{1}{Z(T)}e^{-E\sigma/K_BT},$$

where K_BT is the Boltzmann's constant and T is the temperature. Note that the partition function is given by

$$Z(T) = \sum_{\sigma} e^{-E(\sigma)/k_B T},$$
(4.2.2)

where the sum is being taken over all possible configurations. The existence of a thermodynamic phase transition is the most significant aspect of the 2D Ising model as the size of the lattice becomes infinitely large at a certain critical temperature T_c which is dependent on J_h and J_v .

The two-spin correlation function is defined by the following expression:

$$<\sigma_{0,0}\sigma_{N,M}> = \lim_{M,N\to\infty} \frac{1}{Z(T)} \sum_{\sigma} \sigma_{0,0}\sigma_{N,M} e^{-E(\sigma)/T}.$$
 (4.2.3)

Using this function, we can evaluate the magnetization by measuring the long-range order in the lattice at temperature T. As an example, a bar magnet has a critical temperature T_c , also known as the Curie point. Below $T < T_c$, it spontaneously exhibits magnetization, and above $T > T_c$, it does not (in the absence of an external field). The one-dimentional Ising model fails to go through a phase transition at any temperature as demonstrated by Ising [27]. However, in two or three dimensions, it does indeed exhibit spontaneous magnetization, as shown by Peierls in [45] whose work included an incorrect step which was corrected by Griffiths [26] many years later. Kramers and Wannier obtained the first exact quantitative result for the 2D Ising model in 1941 [35], when they formulated the following formula for T_c . In the situation where $J_h = J_v = J$,

$$\sinh\left(\frac{2J}{T_c}\right) = 1. \tag{4.2.4}$$

For the square lattice of size $N \times N$, Onsager formulated the partition function [44]. The analysis done by Onsager makes possible a variety of interaction constants $J_h \neq J_v$ what does it mean?

$$\sinh \frac{2J_h}{K_B T_c} \sinh \frac{2J_v}{K_B T_c} = k = e^t = 1.$$
(4.2.5)

4.2.1 The horizontal correlation functions $< \sigma_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1+n} >$

In 1949, Onsager and Kaufman presented their result for the spontaneous magnetization M of the two-dimensional Ising model [32] as follows:

$$M = (1 - k_{ons}^2)^{1/8}, \quad k_{ons} = \left(\sinh\frac{2J_h}{K_B T_c}\sinh\frac{2J_v}{K_B T_c}\right)^{-1}, \tag{4.2.6}$$

where $0 < k_{ons} < 1 \iff T < T_c$, and $T > T_c, \iff k_{ons} > 1$? and in this case M = 0what case?. By some physical arguments, the spontaneous magnetization M was shown to be given by

$$M = \sqrt{\lim_{n \to \infty} <\sigma_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1+n} >}.$$
 (4.2.7)

In [32], the expression $\langle \sigma_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1+n} \rangle$ was given by Kaufman and Onsager as a sum of two Toeplitz determinants. Therefore, the challenge that Kaufman and Onsager faced to compute M through the formula (4.2.7), was to compute the asymptotics of $n \times n$ Toeplitz determinants as n approaches infinity. Nevertheless, at that time, the only result that was known to exist was szegő's result with an unknown error term o(n). However, in order to compute the magnetization M, it is essential to describe the error terms. Three years passed between Onsager's 1948 and 1949 announcements of formula (4.2.6) for M without proof, and Yang's successful discovery of the formula's derivation in 1952 [50]. Yang's methodology is based on the findings of Kaufman and Onsager, and it does not employ Toeplitz determinants directly. He proved the result in the case $J_h = J_v$, with $T < T_c$, which was then proved in the general case where $J_h \neq J_v$ by Chang [12].

In 1955, Potts and Ward [PotWar], demonstrated that the correlation function $< \sigma_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1+n} >$ along a row for the two-dimensional Ising model could be represented using a single Toeplitz determinant, as opposed to the summation of two Toeplitz determinants, as follows:

$$<\sigma_{1,1}\sigma_{1,1+n}>=D_n(\phi_{ons}).$$
 (4.2.8)

The function ϕ_{ons} is the Onsager function

$$\phi_{ons}(e^{i\theta}) = \left[\left(\frac{1 - \gamma_1 e^{i\theta}}{1 - \gamma_1 e^{-i\theta}} \right) \left(\frac{1 - \gamma_2 e^{-i\theta}}{1 - \gamma_1 e^{i\theta}} \right) \right]^{1/2}, \tag{4.2.9}$$

where $\gamma_1 = z_1 z_2^*$, $\gamma_2 = z_2^* / z_1$, $z_1 = \tanh \frac{J_h}{K_B T}$, $z_2 = \tanh \frac{J_v}{K_B T}$, and $z_2^* = \frac{1 - z_2}{1 + z_2}$. Notice that

$$\gamma_2 \leq 1 \Longleftrightarrow k_{ons} \leq 1. \tag{4.2.10}$$

To see the equivalence, see [17]. This implies that $T \leq T_c$ corresponds to $z_2^* \leq z_1$, respectively, and $T = T_c$ is equivalent to $z_2^* = z_1$.

1. In [43], it was observed that when $T < T_c$, certain smoothness conditions are satisfied, $0 < \gamma_1$, and $\gamma_2 < 1$ by (4.2.10), and ϕ_{ons} does not possess winding on the unit circle. To determine the asymptotic behaviour of the correlation function, Theorem 2.3.3 is applied. Then in [49], Wu derived the higher-order terms as $n \to \infty$:

$$<\sigma_{1,1},\sigma_{1,1+n}> = (1-k_{ons}^2)^{1/4} \left(1+(2\pi n^2)^{-1}\gamma_2^{2n}(\gamma_2^{-1}-\gamma_2)^{-2}[1+\frac{c_1}{n}+\frac{c_2}{n^2}+\cdots]\right).$$
(4.2.11)

where c_1 , c_2 are given in terms of γ_1 and γ_2 . If $\gamma_2 < 1$, $< \sigma_{1,1}, \sigma_{1,1+n} > \rightarrow M = (1 - k_{ons}^2)^{1/4}$ exponentially fast.

2. For $T > T_c$, it is observed that $0 < \gamma_1 < 1 < \gamma_2$. Consequently, the winding number of ϕ_{ons} is determined to be -1. The asymptotic behaviour of ϕ_{ons} has been described in the study conducted by Wu in [49], as follows:

$$<\sigma_{1,1},\sigma_{1,1+n}>=(\pi n)^{-1/2}\gamma_2^{-n}(1-\gamma_1^2)^{1/4}(1-\gamma_2^{-2})^{-1/4}(1-\gamma_1\gamma_2)^{-1/2} \quad (4.2.12)$$
$$\times (1+\frac{A_1}{n}+\frac{A_2}{n^2}+\cdots),$$

with explicit expressions for A_1,A_2 in terms of γ_1 and γ_2 .

3. Wu further demonstrated that for $T = T_c$, the function ϕ_{ons} has a jump discontinuity at $\theta = 0$ and is asymptotically represented by

$$<\sigma_{1,1},\sigma_{1,1+n}> = e^{1/4}2^{1/12}A^{-3}n^{-1/4}(1+\gamma_1)^{1/4}(1-\gamma_1)^{-1/4}$$
(4.2.13)

$$\times (1+B_1n^{-2}+\mathcal{O}(n^{-3})),$$

where A is Glaisher's constant

$$A = e^{1/12} e^{-\xi'(-1)}.$$

Here ξ is the Riemann's zeta function and B_1 is expressed explicitly in terms of γ_1 .

4.2.2 The diagonal correlation function $< \sigma_{0,0}\sigma_{n,n} >$

It is a remarkable fact that the two-spin correlation function is a Toeplitz determinant

$$<\sigma_{0,0}\sigma_{n,n}>=e^{nt/2}D_n(f(z,t)),$$
(4.2.14)

where

$$f(z,t) = e^{V(z)} z^{\sum_{j=0}^{m} \beta_j} \prod_{j=0}^{m} |z - z_j|^{2\alpha_j} g_{z_j,\beta_j}(z) z_j^{-\beta_j}, \quad \theta \in [0, 2\pi).$$
(4.2.15)

This symbol has the following properties depending on whether temperature T is below, equal to, or above the critical temperature T_c :

1. For $T < T_c \iff t > 0$, using the symbol (4.2.15), there is no Fisher-Hartwig singularity at z = 1. In this case, the determinant can be given by the strong Szegő theorem, because the function is analytic in a neighbourhood of the unit circle. In [42], the diagonal long-range order in low-temperature regime has been given by:

$$M = \sqrt{\lim_{n \to \infty} \langle \sigma_{00} \sigma_{nn} \rangle} = (1 - k^{-2})^{1/8}.$$
(4.2.16)

2. For $T = T_c \iff t = 0$, there is a Fisher-Hartwig singularity at z = 1 with parameter $\alpha = 0$, and $\beta = -\frac{1}{2}$. Using [41] and [40], we obtain the following asymptotics

$$D_n(0) = \frac{(\pi)^{1/2} G(1/2)^2}{n^{1/4}} (1 + o(1)).$$
(4.2.17)

3. For the high-temperature regime $T > T_c \iff t < 0$, the symbol f(z,t) has a Fisher-Hartwig singularity at z = 1 with $\alpha = 0$ and $\beta = -1$.

$$f(z,t) = z^{-1}\hat{\eta}(z), \qquad (4.2.18)$$

where $\hat{\eta}(z)$ is the function associated to 2D Ising model and is given by

$$\hat{\eta}(z;t) = k^{1/2} \eta(z) = e^{i\pi/2} k^{1/2} (z-k)^{-1/2} (z-k^{-1})^{1/2} z^{1/2}.$$
(4.2.19)

This expression can be rewritten as follows:

$$\hat{\eta} = \sqrt{\frac{1 - kz}{1 - kz^{-1}}}.$$
(4.2.20)

To determine whether f(z;t) is a Fisher-Hartwig symbol, we will show that $\arg f(1+0i,t) = \pi = -\arg f(1-0i,t)$. Indeed,

$$f(z;t) = \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\log|z| + \frac{1}{2}\log|z - k^{-1}| - \frac{1}{2}\log|z - k|\right\}$$
(4.2.21)

$$\times \exp\left\{\frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{1}{2}(0) + \frac{\pi}{2} - \frac{1}{2}(0)\right\}$$
$$= \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\log|z| + \frac{1}{2}\log|z - k^{-1}| - \frac{1}{2}\log|z - k|\right\}e^{i\pi},$$

which gives us,

$$\arg f(1+0i,t) = \pi$$
, and $\arg f(1-0i,t) = -\pi$. (4.2.22)

For the high-temperature regime t < 0, $\hat{\eta}(z)$ is analytic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus ([0, e^t] \cup [e^{-t}, \infty])$ and the winding number is equal to zero. Therefore, $\hat{\eta}(z)$ is the Szegő symbol. To show this, it is

sufficient to show that $\arg \hat{\eta}(1-0i,t) = \arg \hat{\eta}(1+0i,t)$. Note that

$$\hat{\eta}(z) = \exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\log|z| - \frac{1}{2}\log|z-k| + \frac{1}{2}\log|z-k^{-1}|\right\} \exp\left\{\frac{\pi}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\arg z + \frac{1}{2}\arg(z-e^{t}) + \frac{1}{2}\arg(z-e^{-t})\right\}.$$

$$(4.2.23)$$

Then

$$\arg \hat{\eta}(1+0i,t) = \left\{\frac{\pi}{2} + \frac{1}{2}(0) - \frac{1}{2}(0) + \frac{1}{2}(\pi)\right\} = \pi,$$
(4.2.24)

and

$$\arg \hat{\eta}(1-0i,t) = \left\{\frac{\pi}{2} + \frac{1}{2}(2\pi) - \frac{1}{2}(2\pi) + \frac{1}{2}\pi\right\} = \pi.$$
 (4.2.25)

For the symbol f(z;t) in (4.2.18), the result in (2.4.11) does not hold because the Barnes G function will vanish if $\alpha \pm \beta \in \mathbb{Z}_{-}$.

In the high-temperature regime with k < 1, the asymptotic behaviour of the Toeplitz determinant was described in [17] as $n \to \infty$. Here will give more details:

To find the determinant, we will apply Lemma 3.6.3 to the function f(z) in (4.2.18), which will give us the following:

$$D_n(f) = D_n(z^{-1}\hat{\eta}(z)) = (-1)^n \frac{\hat{\phi}(0)}{\chi_n} D_n(\hat{\eta}(z)).$$
(4.2.26)

We can find a piecewise analytic function D(z), which solves the following scalar multiplicative Riemann-Hilbert problem:

$$D_{+}(z)D_{-}^{-1}(z) = \hat{\eta}(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{T}.$$
 (4.2.27)

Thus, by using the Plemelj-Sokhotski formula we get

$$D(z) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{1 - kz} & : |z| < 1\\ \sqrt{1 - kz^{-1}} & : |z| > 1 \end{cases}$$
(4.2.28)

After that, to determine the asymptotics of the Toeplitz determinant, we need to compute the Fourier coefficients for the function $\hat{\eta}(z)$.

Firstly , we will compute $(\log \hat{\eta})_0$:

$$(\log \hat{\eta})_{0} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int \log \left((z - e^{t})^{-1/2} (z - e^{-t})^{1/2} z^{1/2} e^{i\pi/2} e^{t/2} \right) \frac{dz}{z}$$

$$= \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{t}) \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{-t}) \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z) \frac{dz}{z} \qquad (4.2.29)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{i\pi}) \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{t}) \frac{dz}{z}.$$

Each term is calculated independently. Using the following expansion, $\log(z - e^t) = \log(z) - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{tj}z^{-j}}{j}$, and we have:

$$\frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^t) \frac{dz}{z} = -\frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z) \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(1 - z^{-1}e^t) \frac{dz}{z}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z) \frac{dz}{z}.$$
(4.2.30)

Similarly, $\frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{-t}) \frac{dz}{z}$ can be calculated by using the expansion $\log(z - e^{-t}) = \log(-e^{-t}) - \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{tj}z^j}{j}$:

$$\frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{-t}) \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{i\pi}) \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{t}) \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(1 - ze^{t}) \frac{dz}{z}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{i\pi}) \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{t}) \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{tj} z^{j}}{j} \frac{dz}{z}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{i\pi}) \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{t}) \frac{dz}{z}.$$
(4.2.31)

Using (4.2.30) and (4.2.31), we obtain the following:

$$(\log \hat{\eta})_0 = i\pi.$$
 (4.2.32)

In order to figure out $E(\hat{\eta})$, we will first find $(\log(\hat{\eta}))_k$ and $(\log(\hat{\eta}))_{-k}$, respectively.

$$(\log \hat{\eta})_{k} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int \log \left(z^{1/2} (z - e^{t})^{-1/2} (z - e^{-t})^{1/2} e^{i\pi/2} e^{t/2} \right) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{t}) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{-t}) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{i\pi} z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{t} z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}.$$

(4.2.33)

After that, we determine the integration for each term.

$$\frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^t) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} d = \frac{-1}{4\pi} \int \log\left(z(1 - e^t z^{-1})\right) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log\left(1 - e^t z^{-1}\right) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{tj} z^{-j}}{j} z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z},$$
(4.2.34)

and we have

$$\frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{-t}) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log\left(-e^{-t}(1 - e^{t}z)\right) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{i\pi} z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{t}) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}
+ \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log\left(1 - e^{t}z\right) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{i\pi} z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(e^{t}) z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z}
- \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{tj} z^{j}}{j} z^{-k} \frac{dz}{z} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{e^{tk}}{k}.$$
(4.2.35)

Therefore, applying (4.2.34) and (4.2.35), we get the following:

$$(\log \hat{\eta})_k = \frac{-1}{2} \frac{e^{tk}}{k}.$$
(4.2.36)

In a similar manner, for $(\log \hat{\eta})_{-k}$ we get:

$$(\log \hat{\eta})_{-k} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int \log \left(z^{1/2} (z - e^t)^{-1/2} (z - e^{-t})^{1/2} e^{i\pi/2} e^{t/2} \right) z^k \frac{dz}{z}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^k \frac{d}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log (z - e^t)^{-1/2} z^k \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log (z - e^{-t}) z^k \frac{dz}{z}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{i\pi/2} z^k \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{t/2} z^k \frac{dz}{z}.$$

(4.2.37)

Subsequently, we derive the integration for each term:

$$\frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^t) z^k \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int \log\left(z(1 - e^t z^{-1})\right) z^k \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^k \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log\left(1 - e^t z^{-1}\right) z^k \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^k \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{tj} z^{-j}}{j} z^k \frac{dz}{z}
= \frac{-1}{4i\pi} \int (\log z) z^k \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{2k} e^{tk},$$
(4.2.38)

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log(z - e^{-t}) z^k \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log\left(-e^{-t}(1 - e^t z)\right) z^k \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{i\pi} z^k \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^t z^k \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log\left(1 - e^t z\right) z^k \frac{dz}{z} = \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^{i\pi} z^k \frac{dz}{z} - \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \log e^t z^k \frac{dz}{z} + \frac{1}{4i\pi} \int \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{tj} z^j}{j} z^k \frac{dz}{z} = 0$$
(4.2.39)

above eq, overfull! Hence, combining (4.2.38) and (4.2.39), we get:

$$(\log \hat{\eta})_{-k} = \frac{1}{2k} e^{tk}.$$
 (4.2.40)

This leads us to

$$E(\hat{\eta}) = \exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 1} k(\log\hat{\eta})_k(\log\hat{\eta})_{-k}\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(\sum_{k\geq 1} k(\frac{1}{2k}e^{tk} \times \frac{-1}{2k}e^{tk})\right)$$
$$= (1 - e^{2t})^{1/4}.$$
(4.2.41)

Consequently, the Toeplitz determinant for $\hat{\eta}(z)$ is given by:

$$D_n(\hat{\eta}(z)) = G(\hat{\eta})^n E(\hat{\eta})$$

$$= e^{in\pi} (1 - k^2)^{1/4} (1 + o(1)).$$
(4.2.42)

Then we will find $\frac{\hat{\phi}(0)}{\chi_n}$. By using the solution to the Riemann-Hilbert problem (3.3.1), we have:

$$\chi_{n-1}^2 = -Y_{21}(0),$$

and by using the steepest descent method as presented in the previous section, we have:

$$\chi_{n-1}^{2} = -D(0)^{-1} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\rho^{-2n}}{1+|z|}\right) \right)$$

$$= -e^{-i\pi} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\rho^{-2n}}{1+|z|}\right) \right)$$

$$= 1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\rho^{-2n}}{1+|z|}\right),$$
(4.2.43)

where $D(0) = G(\hat{\eta}) = e^{i\pi}$. Also, by the solution to the Riemann-Hilbert problem (3.3.1), we obtain:

$$Y_{21}(z) = -\chi_{n-1} z^{n-1} \hat{\phi}_{n-1}(z), \qquad (4.2.44)$$

which gives us:

$$\frac{\hat{\phi}_{n-1}(0)}{\chi_{n-1}} = \frac{\lim_{z \to \infty} (Y_{21}(z;n)/z^{n-1})}{Y_{21}(0,n)},\tag{4.2.45}$$

where

$$Y_{21}(0,n) = -\chi_{n-1}^2(I+o(1)).$$
(4.2.46)

Then, from (4.1.19) and (4.1.20), we obtain:

$$\frac{\hat{\phi}_{n-1}(0)}{\chi_{n-1}} = -\frac{1}{\chi_{n-1}^2} \lim_{z \to \infty} \frac{D(z) z^n \left[R_{1,21}(z,n) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\rho^{-3n}}{1+|z|}\right) \right]}{z^{n-1}} = -\frac{1}{\chi_{n-1}^2} \left(\lim_{z \to \infty} z R_{1,21}(z,n) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\rho^{-3n}}{1+|z|}\right) \right),$$
(4.2.47)

and by (4.1.18), we have:

$$-\lim_{z \to \infty} z R_{1,21}(z,n) = -\lim_{z \to \infty} \frac{z}{2i\pi} \int_{\Gamma_1} \frac{\tau^{-n} \hat{\eta}^{-1}(\tau) D^{-2}(\tau) d\tau}{\tau - z}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\Gamma_1} \tau^{-n} \hat{\eta}^{-1}(\tau) D^{-2}(\tau) d\tau.$$
(4.2.48)

Then, using (4.2.20) and (4.2.28), and putting $\lambda = \tau^{-1}$ and $d\tau = -\frac{d\lambda}{\lambda^2}$, we obtain the following:

$$\frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\Gamma_1} \tau^{-n} \hat{\eta}^{-1}(\tau) D^{-2}(\tau) d\tau = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \int_{\Gamma_0} \lambda^{n-\frac{3}{2}} \eta^{-1}(\lambda^{-1}) D^{-2}(\lambda^{-1}) d\lambda
= \frac{-1}{2\pi\sqrt{k}} \int_{\Gamma_0} \lambda^{n-3/2} (\lambda-k)^{-1/2} (\lambda-k^{-1})^{-1/2} d\lambda,$$
(4.2.49)

where $(\lambda - k^{-1})^{-1/2}$ is a holomorphic function at $\lambda = k$. Thus, we can write it as Taylor series

$$f(\lambda) = (\lambda - k^{-1})^{-1/2} = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} d_l (\lambda - k)^l,$$
(4.2.50)

where

$$d_0 = \frac{-i\sqrt{k}}{\sqrt{1-k^2}}.$$
(4.2.51)

Now, we rewrite the right-hand side of (4.2.49) as follows:

$$\frac{-1}{2\pi\sqrt{k}}\int_{\Gamma_0}\lambda^{n-3/2}(\lambda-k)^{-1/2}(\lambda-k^{-1})^{-1/2}d\lambda = \frac{-1}{2\pi\sqrt{k}}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}d_l\int_{\Gamma_0}\lambda^{n-3/2}(\lambda-k)^{l-1/2}d\lambda.$$
(4.2.52)

After that, we will shrink the contour Γ_0 to [0,k], and we obtain:

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_0} \lambda^{n-3/2} (\lambda-k)^{l-1/2} d\lambda &= \frac{2}{i} \int_0^k x^{n-2} (x-k)^l \left(x^{1/2} (x-k)^{-1/2} \right)_+ dx \\ &= \frac{2}{i} (-1)^l \int_0^k x^{n-3/2} (k-x)^{l-1/2} dx \\ &= \frac{2}{i} (-1)^l \int_0^1 (ky)^{n-3/2} (k-ky)^{l-1/2} k dy \\ &= \frac{2}{i} (-1)^l k^{n-3/2+l-1/2+1} \int_0^1 (y)^{n-3/2} (1-y)^{l-1/2} dy \\ &= \frac{2}{i} (-1)^l k^{n+l-1} \int_0^1 (y)^{n-3/2} (1-y)^{l-1/2} dy \\ &= \frac{2}{i} (-1)^l k^{n+l-1} \int_0^1 (y)^{n-3/2} (1-y)^{l-1/2} dy \\ &= \frac{2}{i} (-1)^l k^{n+l-1} B(n-1/2,l+1/2), \end{split}$$

where B is the beta function, which has the following asymptotics for large x, when y is fixed:

$$B(x,y) \sim \Gamma(y) x^{-y}.$$

Substituting (4.2.51) in (4.2.53), as $n \to \infty$ we obtain:

$$\frac{-1}{2\pi\sqrt{k}}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}d_l\int_{\Gamma_0}\lambda^{n-3/2}(\lambda-k)^{l-1/2}d\lambda = \frac{-1}{2\pi\sqrt{k}}\frac{2}{i}k^{n-1}\frac{-i\sqrt{k}}{\sqrt{1-k^2}}\times\Gamma(1/2)(n-1/2)^{-1/2}$$
$$=k^{n-1}(n\pi)^{-1/2}(1-k^2)^{-1/2}+o(1).$$
(4.2.54)

Therefore, we get:

$$\frac{\hat{\phi}_{n-1}(0)}{\chi_{n-1}} = k^{n-1} (n\pi)^{-1/2} (1-k^2)^{-1/2}.$$
(4.2.55)

Finally, by using (4.2.42) and (4.2.55), we get the asymptotic behaviour of the Toeplitz

determinant as the following:

$$D_n(f(z;t)) = k^n (n\pi)^{-1/2} (1-k^2)^{-1/4} + o(1),$$
(4.2.56)

where f(z;t) is the Fisher-Hartwig symbol (4.2.15) at z = 1, with $\alpha = 0$, $\beta = -1$, and

$$o(1) = \left(\frac{\pi}{n}\right)^{3/2} \frac{k^{n-1}}{4} (1-k^2)^{-3/2}$$

4.3 Open problem

- Studying the double-scaling limit for Toeplitz determinants in the low-temperature regime t > 0 has considered different types of symbols, as it has addressed in [13], [34], and in our work in Chapter 3. However, the high-temperature regime has not been considered yet for diagonal correlation functions.
- 2. Asymptotic of bordered Toeplitz determinants and next-to-diagonal Ising model denoted by $D_n^B[f, \psi]$, and is defined as follows:

$$D_n^B[f,\psi] = \det \begin{pmatrix} f_0 & f_1 & f_2 & \cdots & f_{(n-2)} & \psi_{(n-1)} \\ f_{-1} & f_0 & f_1 & \cdots & f_{(n-3)} & \psi_{n-2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & & \\ f_{1-n} & f_{2-n} & f_{3-n} & \cdots & f_{-1} & \psi_0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad n > 1$$
(4.3.1)

where f_n and ψ_n denote the Fourier coefficients of f and ψ , respectively. In [4], the authors studied the asymptotics of bordered Toeplitz determinants in the lowtemperature regime t > 0, that is, $T < T_c$, by using both the operator theoretic and the Riemann-Hilbert approaches. They considered functions $f(z) = z^{-1}\eta(z)$ that possess Fisher-Hartwig singularities and

$$\psi = \frac{C_v \eta(z)}{S_v(z-c)}, \quad \text{with} \quad c = \frac{-S_h}{S_v}$$
(4.3.2)

It is of importance to study the asymptotics of bordered Toeplitz determinants also

in the high-temperature regime. However, in that case, the symbol f(z) has a Fisher Hartwig singularity at z = 1 with $\alpha = 0, \beta = -1$, and the study involves the treatment of a Riemann Hilbert problem in the degenerate case $\alpha \pm \beta \in \mathbb{Z}_{-}$.

Bibliography

- M. J. ABLOWITZ, A. S. FOKAS, AND A. S. FOKAS, Complex variables: Introduction and applications, Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [2] J. BAIK, P. DEIFT, AND K. JOHANSSON, On the distribution of the length of the longest increasing subsequence of random permutations, Journal of the American Mathematical Society, 12 (1999), pp. 1119–1178.
- [3] R. G. BARTLE, The elements of integration and Lebesgue measure, John Wiley & Sons, 2014.
- [4] E. BASOR, T. EHRHARDT, R. GHARAKHLOO, A. ITS, AND Y. LI, Asymptotics of bordered Toeplitz determinants and next-to-diagonal Ising correlations, Journal of Statistical Physics, 187 (2022), p. 8.
- [5] E. BASOR, T. EHRHARDT, AND J. VIRTANEN, *Asymptotics of block Toeplitz determinants with piecewise continuous symbols*, arXiv preprint arXiv:2307.00825, (2023).
- [6] E. BASOR AND J. W. HELTON, A new proof of the Szegö limit theorem and new results for Toeplitz operators with discontinuous symbol, Journal of Operator Theory, (1980), pp. 23–39.
- [7] E. L. BASOR AND C. A. TRACY, *The Fisher-Hartwig conjecture and generalizations*, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications, 177 (1991), pp. 167–173.
- [8] H. BATEMAN, *Higher transcendental functions*, vol. 1, McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York-Toronto-London, 1953.

- [9] A. BÖTTCHER AND B. SILBERMANN, *Toeplitz matrices and determinants with Fisher-Hartwig symbols*, Journal of functional analysis, 63 (1985), pp. 178–214.
- [10] —, Introduction to large truncated Toeplitz matrices, Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [11] —, Analysis of Toeplitz operators, Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [12] C. CHANG, The spontaneous magnetization of a two-dimensional rectangular Ising model, Physical Review, 88 (1952), p. 1422.
- [13] T. CLAEYS, A. ITS, AND I. KRASOVSKY, Emergence of a singularity for Toeplitz determinants and Painlevé V, (2011), pp. 207–262.
- [14] T. CLAEYS AND I. KRASOVSKY, Toeplitz determinants with merging singularities, (2015), pp. 2897–2987.
- [15] P. DEIFT, Some open problems in random matrix theory and the theory of integrable systems, Contemporary Mathematics, 458 (2008), p. 419.
- [16] P. DEIFT, A. ITS, AND I. KRASOVSKY, Asymptotics of Toeplitz, Hankel, and Toeplitz+ Hankel determinants with Fisher-Hartwig singularities, Annals of mathematics, (2011), pp. 1243–1299.
- [17] —, Toeplitz matrices and Toeplitz determinants under the impetus of the Ising model. some history and some recent results, arXiv preprint arXiv:1207.4990, (2012), p. 1360–1438.
- [18] —, On the asymptotics of a Toeplitz determinant with singularities, Random matrix theory, interacting particle systems, and integrable systems, 65 (2014), pp. 93–146.
- [19] P. DEIFT, T. KRIECHERBAUER, K. T.-R. MCLAUGHLIN, S. VENAKIDES, AND X. ZHOU, Strong asymptotics of orthogonal polynomials with respect to exponential weights, Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics: A Journal Issued by the Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, 52 (1999), pp. 1491–1552.

- [20] —, Uniform asymptotics for polynomials orthogonal with respect to varying exponential weights and applications to universality questions in random matrix theory, Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics: A Journal Issued by the Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences, 52 (1999), pp. 1335–1425.
- [21] P. DEIFT AND X. ZHOU, A steepest descent method for oscillatory Riemann-Hilbert problems, Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society, 26 (1992), pp. 119–123.
- [22] T. EHRHARDT, A status report on the asymptotic behavior of Toeplitz determinants with Fisher-Hartwig singularities, in Recent Advances in Operator Theory: The Israel Gohberg Anniversary Volume International Workshop in Groningen, June 1998, Springer, 2001, pp. 217–241.
- [23] M. E. FISHER AND R. E. HARTWIG, *Toeplitz determinants: some applications, theorems, and conjectures*, Advances in Chemical Physics: Stochastic processes in chemical physics, (1969), pp. 333–353.
- [24] A. S. FOKAS, A. ITS, AND A. KITAEV, The isomonodromy approach to matric models in 2d quantum gravity, Communications in Mathematical Physics, 147 (1992), pp. 395– 430.
- [25] B. GOLINSKIĬ AND I. A. IBRAGIMOV, On Szego's limit theorem, Mathematics of the USSR-lzvestiya, 5 (1971), p. 421.
- [26] R. B. GRIFFITHS, Peierls proof of spontaneous magnetization in a two-dimensional Ising ferromagnet, Physical Review, 136 (1964), p. A437.
- [27] E. ISING, Beitrag zur theorie des ferromagnetismus, Zeitschrift für Physik, 31 (1925), pp. 253–258.
- [28] A. ITS, I. KRASOVSKY, ET AL., Hankel determinant and orthogonal polynomials for the Gaussian weight with a jump, Contemporary Mathematics, 458 (2008), pp. 215–248.
- [29] A. R. ITS, Large n asymptotics in random matrices: the Riemann-Hilbert approach, in Random matrices, random processes and integrable systems, Springer, 2011, pp. 351– 413.

- [30] M. JIMBO, Monodromy problem and the boundary condition for some Painlevé equations, Publications of the Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences, 18 (1982), pp. 1137–1161.
- [31] B.-Q. JIN AND V. E. KOREPIN, Quantum spin chain, Toeplitz determinants and the Fisher-Hartwig conjecture, Journal of statistical physics, 116 (2004), pp. 79–95.
- [32] B. KAUFMAN AND L. ONSAGER, Crystal statistics. iii. short-range order in a binary Ising lattice, Physical Review, 76 (1949), pp. 1244–1252.
- [33] K. KOZLOWSKA, Riemann-Hilbert problem and their applications in mathematical physics, University of Reading, 2017.
- [34] K. KOZLOWSKA AND J. A. VIRTANEN, Transition asymptotics of Toeplitz determinants and emergence of Fisher-Hartwig representations, Nonlinearity, 32 (2019), pp. 3593–3645.
- [35] H. A. KRAMERS AND G. H. WANNIER, Statistics of the two-dimensional ferromagnet. Part I, Physical Review, 60 (1941), p. 252.
- [36] E. KREYSZIG, Introductory functional analysis with applications, vol. 17, John Wiley & Sons, 1991.
- [37] A. LENARD, Momentum distribution in the ground state of the one-dimensional system of impenetrable bosons, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 5 (1964), pp. 930–943.
- [38] —, Some remarks on large Toeplitz determinants, Pacific Journal of Mathematics, 42 (1972), pp. 137–145.
- [39] R. A. MARTÍNEZ-AVENDAÑO AND P. ROSENTHAL, An introduction to operators on the Hardy-Hilbert space, 237 (2007), pp. xii+220.
- [40] B. M. MCCOY, C. A. TRACY, AND T. T. WU, Painlevé functions of the third kind, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 18 (1977), pp. 1058–1092.
- [41] B. M. MCCOY AND T. WU, The two-dimensional Ising model, Harvard University Press, 1973.

- [42] B. M. MCCOY AND T. T. WU, The two-dimensional Ising model, Courier Corporation, 2014.
- [43] E. W. MONTROLL, R. B. POTTS, AND J. C. WARD, Correlations and spontaneous magnetization of the two-dimensional Ising model, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 4 (1963), pp. 308–322.
- [44] L. ONSAGER, Crystal statistics. I. A two-dimensional model with an order-disorder transition, Physical Review, 65 (1944), p. 117.
- [45] R. PEIERLS, On Ising's model of ferromagnetism, in Mathematical Proceedings of the Cambridge Philosophical Society, vol. 32, Cambridge University Press, 1936, pp. 477– 481.
- [46] B. SIMON, Orthogonal polynomials on the unit circle, American Mathematical Soc., 2005.
- [47] G. SZEGÖ, Ein grenzwertsatz über die Toeplitzschen determinanten einer reellen positiven funktion, Mathematische Annalen, 76 (1915), pp. 490–503.
- [48] H. WIDOM, Toeplitz determinants with singular generating functions, American Journal of Mathematics, 95 (1973), pp. 333–383.
- [49] T. T. WU, Theory of Toeplitz determinants and the spin correlations of the twodimensional Ising model. I, Physical Review, 149 (1966), p. 380.
- [50] C. N. YANG, The spontaneous magnetization of a two-dimensional Ising model, Physical Review, 85 (1952), p. 808.